
Cumbria County Council

S U M M O N S   A N D   A G E N D A

f o r   t h e   M e e t i n g   o f   t h e

C o u n t y   C o u n c i l

o n   Thursday, 15 November 2018

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats.

Serving the People of Cumbria



2

CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE COUNTY COUNCIL

To: ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY COUNCIL 

You are hereby summoned to attend the meeting of Cumbria County Council to be 
held at the Council Chamber, County Offices, Kendal, on Thursday 15 November 
2018 at 10.00 am

Yours sincerely

Chief Executive

Cumbria House
Carlisle
CA1 1RD

Wednesday, 7 November 2018

GROUP MEETINGS

GROUP DATE AND TIME ROOM

Labour 12 November 2018
10.00am

Conference Room 
Cumbria House, 

Carlisle

Conservative 12 November 2018
10.00am

Council Chamber
County Offices, Kendal

Liberal Democrat 12 November 2018
10.00am

Cabinet Meeting Room
Cumbria House,

Carlisle



3

A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE 
OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1  ROLL CALL OF MEMBERS  

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To disclose any disclosable pecuniary interests relating to any item on the agenda.

Members are asked to refer to the Monitoring Officer for advice in relation to the 
declaration of interests at meetings of the full Council.  A complete list of declarations 
notified to the Monitoring Officer by 5.00 pm on Monday 12 November 2018 will be 
circulated at the meeting. If any member wishes to correct or add to the circulated list, 
guidance on what constitutes a disclosable pecuniary interest is set out below.

NB The following is a summary of what constitutes a disclosable pecuniary 
interest. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer.

Members must disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item on the 
agenda which comprises

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority 

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b)  Which has not been fully discharged. 

4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.  

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.  



4

6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest.

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).   

3  MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 5 
September 2018 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 9 - 20)

4  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether there are any items on the agenda in respect of which the press 
and public should be excluded during consideration of the item.  

5  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

5.1 Mr Paul Carr -  Chairman of Fluoride Free Cumbria 

Will make a statement under the Public Participation Scheme about the fluoridation of 
West Cumbria.



5

  
6  ANNOUNCEMENTS AND COMMUNICATIONS

To receive any announcements from the Chair, Leader, Members of the Cabinet or the 
Chief Executive.  

7  MINUTES OF THE CABINET

The minutes of the meetings of the Cabinet held on 27 September and 18 October 2018 
are enclosed (copies attached).

The Leader will ask members if they have any questions on the minutes taking each 
page in turn. Members should state clearly the minute number of the item concerned.  

(Pages 21 - 38)

8  SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD

To consider a report by the Chair of the Scrutiny Management Board (copy enclosed)

(Pages 39 - 44)

9  TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR STRATEGY REVIEW 2018/19

To consider a report from the Leader of the Council (copy enclosed)

(Pages 45 - 62)

10 CONSTITUTION REVIEW GROUP - UPDATE OF THE CONSTITUTION

To consider a report by the Chair of the Constitution Review Group (copy enclosed)
  
(Pages 63 - 126)

11 LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION

To consider a report from the Leader of the Council (copy enclosed)
  
(Pages 127 - 138)

12 QUESTIONS

To consider questions from Members, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule No 
11.2 to 11.5 to the Leader, a Member of the Executive or the Chair of any Committee.  



6

13 MINUTES OF COMMITTEES

To receive reports from Committees of the Council and receive questions and answers 
in accordance with Council Procedure Rules 11.1 to 11.5.  

a  Audit and Assurance Committee 

To receive the minutes of a meeting of the Audit and Assurance Committee held 
on 17 September 2018 (copy enclosed)
  
(Pages 139 - 148)

b  Cumbria Pensions Committee 

To receive the minutes of a meeting of the Cumbria Pensions Committee held on 
11 September 2018 (copy enclosed)
  
(Pages 149 - 156)

c  Workington Harbour Board 

To receive the minutes of a meeting of the Workington Harbour Board held on 24 
October 2018 (copy enclosed)
  
(Pages 157 - 162)

14 CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD

To consider a report from the Chair of the Corporate Parenting Board (copy enclosed)
 
(Pages 163 - 168)

15 NOTICE OF MOTIONS

To consider notice of motions for up to a specified period of one hour.

Mr C Whiteside will move: 

“Cumbria County Council resolves to follow the example of the UK Government, the 
Crown Prosecution Service, over 130 local authorities and over 30 other countries, by 
adopting in full, and without qualification or reservation, the International Holocaust 
Remembrance Association definition of antisemitism, as follows, including the eleven 
examples. 

“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as hatred 
toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of antisemitism are directed 
toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, toward Jewish 
community institutions and religious facilities.
 



7

Contemporary examples of antisemitism in public life, the media, schools, the 
workplace, and in the religious sphere could, taking into account the overall context, 
include, but are not limited to:

• Calling for, aiding, or justifying the killing or harming of Jews in the name of a 
radical ideology or an extremist view of religion.

• Making mendacious, dehumanising, demonising, or stereotypical allegations 
about Jews as such or the power of Jews as collective — such as, especially 
but not exclusively, the myth about a world Jewish conspiracy or of Jews 
controlling the media, economy, government or other societal institutions.

• Accusing Jews as a people of being responsible for real or imagined 
wrongdoing committed by a single Jewish person or group, or even for acts 
committed by non-Jews.

• Denying the fact, scope, mechanisms (e.g. gas chambers) or intentionality of 
the genocide of the Jewish people at the hands of National Socialist Germany 
and its supporters and accomplices during World War II (the Holocaust).

• Accusing the Jews as a people, or Israel as a state, of inventing or 
exaggerating the Holocaust.

• Accusing Jewish citizens of being more loyal to Israel, or to the alleged 
priorities of Jews worldwide, than to the interests of their own nations.

• Denying the Jewish people their right to self-determination, e.g., by claiming 
that the existence of a State of Israel is a racist endeavour.

• Applying double standards by requiring of it a behaviour not expected or 
demanded of any other democratic nation.

• Using the symbols and images associated with classic antisemitism (e.g., 
claims of Jews killing Jesus or blood libel) to characterise Israel or Israelis.

• Drawing comparisons of contemporary Israeli policy to that of the Nazis.
• Holding Jews collectively responsible for actions of the state of Israel.”

  

16 SPEECHES

To hear speeches (not exceeding five minutes each) for up to a specified period of 30 
minutes, from individual members, of which at least 24 hours’ notice has been given to 
the Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community.  



This page is intentionally left blank



1

COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the County Council held on Wednesday, 5 September 2018 
at 10.00 am at Council Chamber, County Offices, Kendal

PRESENT:

Councillor Mrs EA Mallinson (Chairman)

Mr J Airey
Mr T Allison
Mr AL Barry
Mr J Bell
Mrs PA Bell
Mr B Berry
Mr RW Betton
Mr RK Bingham
Mr J Bland
Mrs C Bowditch (Vice-Chair)
Mrs A Burns
Mrs HF Carrick
Mr F Cassidy
Mr SB Collins
Mr A Connell
Mr GD Cook
Mr N Cotton
Mr P Dew
Ms C Driver
Ms D Earl
Mr GM Ellis
Mr D English
Mrs S Evans
Miss HJ Fearon
Mr LN Fisher

Mr W Graham
Mr KR Hamilton
Mrs RC Hanson
Dr S Haraldsen
Mr M Hawkins
Mr K Hitchen
Mr C Hogg
Mr JS Holliday
Mr N Hughes
Mr A Kennon
Lord R Liddle
Mr KA Little
Mr T Lywood
Mr J Mallinson
Mr AJ Markley
Mr NH Marriner
Ms C McCarron-Holmes
Mr W McEwan
Mr A McGuckin
Mr FI Morgan
Mrs M Rae
Mr GRPM Roberts
Mrs S Sanderson
Mr B Shirley
Mr DE Southward

Mr I Stewart
Mr S Stoddart
Mrs V Tarbitt
Mr P Thornton
Mrs C Tibble
Mr CP Turner
Mr T Wentworth Waites
Mrs H Wall
Mr R Watson
Mr WJ Wearing
Mr C Weber
Mr D Whipp
Mr CJ Whiteside
Mr S Wielkopolski
Mrs EL Williamson
Mrs J Willis
Mr D Wilson
Mr M Wilson
Mr AW Wonnacott
Mr R Worthington
Mr MH Worth
Mr SF Young

There were 73 members present at the start of the meeting. 

18 ROLL CALL OF MEMBERS

Apologies for absence had been received from Mr MS Barbour, Mr A Bowness, Mr 
M Brereton, Mr W Clark, Mr DS Fairbairn, Mr D Gawne, Mr HGG Graham, Mrs BC 
Gray, Mr AWC Lamb and Mr J Lister.

19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no Declarations of Interest made.

9

Agenda Item 3



2

The Leader of the Conservative Group stated that a number of members had not 
received their hard copy of the Agenda for the meeting. The Monitoring Officer had 
advised him that there had been an administrative error that would be rectified. He 
stated this had been the second occasion when reports had not been available for 
the meeting albeit for different reasons. 

The Leader concurred with the Leader of the Conservative Group and offered his 
apology adding that members would receive their papers for future meetings.

20 MINUTES

Amendments to the minutes were raised as follows:

Page 14, Minute 13. Questions: second paragraph ‘Brightside’ should have read 
‘Bright Tribe’

Dr Haraldsen asked that for consistency, members be identified by name throughout 
the minutes.

Page 9, Minute 6. Announcements and Communications: Mr Connell asked for the 
order of wording to say ‘of Northern Rail’.

Page 9, Minute 7, Minutes of the Cabinet: Mr Dew sought to clarify that the issue he 
had raised was that despite the emphasis in the Council Plan on working together 
the Council is too risk averse and he was seeking an assurance that, as well as the 
work to be done by contractors, local volunteers would be allowed to clean gullies, 
clear snow and grit roads and not just trim hedges and pick up litter.’

Following an adjournment of ten minutes to consider a written correction proposed 
by Mr Dew, members approved the following correction to Minute 13 which should 
have read ‘Mr Dew asked the Cabinet Member for Finance whether in his opinion, 
elected members should be allowed to express the legitimate concerns of their 
residents without being vilified by a fellow councillor who seemed more intent on 
stifling debate than encouraging it’.

The response from the Deputy Leader/Cabinet Member for Finance ‘All members 
need to be careful and cognisant of their comments in all situations’ as circulated 
was agreed for inclusion in the minutes.

Agenda Items 4, 5,and 6 were discharged and the Chairman continued the Minutes 
discussion. The Monitoring Officer provided advice that all members were entitled to 
vote on the correction to the minutes, even if not present at the previous meeting.

RESOLVED that, the Minutes, as amended, be agreed.

21 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

There were no items on the agenda for discussion for which the press and public 
were excluded.

10



3

22 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There were no items of public participation considered at the meeting.

23 ANNOUNCEMENTS AND COMMUNICATIONS

The Chairman announced that details of hers and the Vice Chair’s engagements 
had been circulated to all members.

One minute’s silence was held in the Council Chamber as a mark of respect for 
Councillor Mr Hugh McDevitt who had passed away in July. The Chairman and the 
Leaders of the political Groups expressed their condolences to Mr McDevitt’s family 
and spoke about his character, contribution to the County Council and the residents 
of his division and of their sadness at his death.

Members were advised of the plant sale being held in the foyer by Horticare, a 
service run by Cumbria Care and were encouraged to support the sale. The 
Council’s Waste Team were also in attendance to launch a new campaign entitled 
‘Plastic Clever Cumbria’.

The Chairman advised on a number of upcoming events, including the Tour of 
Britain and congratulated the Chief Executive on her recent marriage. Members 
were reminded about the importance of General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR) and encouraged members who had not yet completed the GDPR Member 
training to attend the additional training session to be held on the rising of the 
Council meeting.

The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services congratulated the county’s Children 
Looked After on their exam results and commented on their achievements. The 
Corporate Parenting Board would receive a report from the Virtual Head on the 
results. The Executive Director – People (Deputy Chief Executive) had sent a 
congratulations card to the children and young people on behalf of the Council.

The Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning shared provisional performance data 
for children from all schools and academies. This included Early Years and all Key 
Stages. The Chairman considered the information important and asked that data be 
circulated to all members in future.

The Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services provided an update on Extra 
Care Housing, commenting on locations around the county where extra care units 
may be sited. Members would receive a further update in early 2019. He also 
advised members of the locations of the Horticare service and encouraged 
members to visit.

The Cabinet Member for Environment provided an update on the working group she 
has led to investigate the council’s waste minimisation activity. She outlined the 
group’s activity on a number of initiatives and improvements. Members were 
encouraged to make a personal pledge to be plastic clever with the Waste Team 
who were in attendance outside the Council Chamber.

11



4

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport announced that the Tour of 
Britain would be in the County on 6 September and that it would provide an  
economic boost for Cumbria. He thanked all officers involved in the Tour. An update 
on the Windermere Ferry was also provided, including the arrangements for 
appointing new staff and when the service would likely be back in operation. An 
update was given on traffic control in the Newlands area.

The Chief Executive reported that Simon Higgins had been appointed as the new 
Assistant Director - Customer and Community Services and would commence 
employment with the Council on 10 September 2018.

24 MINUTES OF THE EXECUTIVE

The Leader presented the Minutes of the Executive meeting held on 26 July 2018.

The Leader advised that the bridge referred to in Minute 22, Statements by the 
Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members should read ‘Brougham Bridge’.

Minute 24 Referral from Local Committees: Mr Dew referred to the Cabinet 
discussion, referencing the Leader’s comments which he felt had trivialised and 
politicised the funding matters raised by the Chairman of Eden Local Committee. He 
asked for an explanation why Cabinet had dismissed the matter in such a way. The 
Leader stated that Cabinet had not trivialised or politicised the matter and assured 
Mr Dew that due consideration had been given to the matter and then commented 
on the local government funding situation and the impact on Cumbria County 
Council. 

It was noted that the population of Appleby was 3,048, as recorded in the 2011 
census.

Minute 25, Carlisle Southern Link Road: Mr Mallinson asked the Leader to clarify 
that the Council’s £5million financial contribution would be recoverable through 
developer funding. The Leader confirmed this was the case, there would be no 
departure from the Medium Term Financial Plan and any risk would be shared with 
Carlisle City Council.

Minute 27, Draft Lake District National Park Local Plan Review: Mr Berry asked if 
the Cabinet Member for Environment was aware of the gratitude for the Council’s 
response regarding the Royalty Cinema site. The Cabinet Member for Environment 
thanked Mr Berry stating that the inclusion was in response to the input of local 
members.

25 SCRUTINY UPDATE REPORT

A report was considered from the Chair of the Scrutiny Management Board which 
updated members on the work of Scrutiny and issues and developments that had 
occurred since the last meeting of full Council.

12



5

In moving the recommendations, the Chairman reported on the Strategic Planning 
session held on 25 July 2018 where ideas had been shared. He thanked members 
and officers for their contribution, in particular the Policy and Scrutiny Team. Notes 
of the meeting had been shared which he hoped would help with Strategic Planning. 
Mr Berry seconded the recommendations.

RESOLVED that, 

1 Members note the activity undertaken by Scrutiny 
2 The Work Programme be noted.

26 APPROVAL OF ABSENCE OF A MEMBER OF THE COUNCIL

A report was considered from the Monitoring Officer regarding a request to extend 
Mr Duncan Fairbairn’s period of absence from meetings of the authority on the 
grounds of ill health.

In moving the recommendation, the Leader of the Conservative Group stated that 
Mr Fairbairn sent his regards to members and advised that he was in receipt of new 
treatment. The Leader of the Council seconded the recommendation and passed on 
the good wishes of the Labour and Liberal Democrat Groups.

RESOLVED that, the request to approve Mr Duncan Fairbairn’s permitted period of 
absence on the grounds of ill health for a further period of six 
months, ending on 19 April 2019 be approved.

27 YOUTH JUSTICE STRATEGIC PLAN 2018/19

A report was considered from the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services which 
advised members about the planning requirements for the Youth Offending Service 
and sought approval of the Strategic Plan which required submission to the Youth 
Justice Board.

The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services advised that a number of Scrutiny 
members had met to review the Plan and a number of changes had been 
incorporated within it. She highlighted a number of positive achievements from the 
Plan and advised that it was aligned to the Council Plan’s outcomes. She moved 
Option 5a – to approve the current draft of the Plan to members. The Cabinet 
Member for Schools and Learning seconded the recommendation, commenting on 
the challenging work and the joint working taking place.

Ms Fearon asked if there was a better breakdown of the financial contribution from 
partners whilst Mr Bingham commented on the issues with crime in rural areas; that 
sparseness and rurality had an impact on crime. Mr Dew thanked the Youth 
Offending Service and looked forward to the outcomes of court disposal work. Mr 
Morgan drew attention to a typographical error in the document which would be 
amended before publication.

13



6

RESOLVED that, Council agrees the Cumbria Youth Justice Strategic Plan 2018-19 
for submission to the Youth Justice Board.

28 CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE (2018-2023)

Members considered a report from the Cabinet Member for Economic Development 
and Property which provided an update on the delivery of the Capital Programme 
and sought approval of re-profiling of spend between financial years, approval for 
accelerated spend between already approved schemes and approve new schemes 
or additions to existing schemes as a result of additional contributions.

The Deputy Leader/Cabinet Member for Finance moved the recommendations, 
commenting on the nature of the capital programmes and the £5million forward 
funding for the Carlisle Southern Link Road. The Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Property seconded the recommendations and advised on work 
completed in schools, progress with care homes and that  infrastructure recovery 
had taken place on flood damaged highways. The Highways Team was 
congratulated on their three awards.

The £125,000 investment for street lighting was welcomed. The Leader of the 
Conservative Group stated that the work at Sandside Lodge had been good but 
queried the lack of funding available for the Inclusion Strategy and Extra Care 
Housing. He welcomed the Government funding that had been made available and 
the success of the Highways Team, but also highlighted that Ford Bridge was still 
incomplete. He considered that austerity measures could not be blamed for the 
inability for schemes to be delivered on time as funding was available. 

Funding for the Carlisle Southern Link Road and funding for extra care housing was 
welcomed by Dr Haraldsen. He referred to a funding gap which he suggested had 
been omitted from the report. This related to the sale and subsequent development 
of Portland Square, Carlisle.

In response to the earlier point on Ford Bridge, Mr Collins welcomed the new single 
span bridge to replace Ford Bridge, noting the improvements the new bridge would 
bring but highlighting that any delays to replace it were not by the Council, but due 
to a range of complex planning and environmental matters.

Mr Wielkopolski referred to the capital investment in Barrow and with regard to the 
car parking development, asked that consideration be given to local heritage and 
that any updates be communicated at a local level. 

The Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services provided clarification on the 
reasons for slippage encountered on extra care housing but reassured members 
that funding was in place.

Mr Bingham shared his concerns about damaged canal bridges in his division. He 
stated that he would like the Council to investigate if it could do repairs and recharge 
the Canals Authority.

14



7

The Deputy Leader/Cabinet Member for Finance thanked members for the debate 
and their comments. He informed members that in the current financial year, the 
Council had delivered more programmes to plan and spend than in previous years.

When casting the vote, the Conservative members abstained from voting.

RESOLVED that, 

1 A net reduction of £8.557m in the 2018/19 capital programme which 
comprises re-profiling in addition to new schemes, additions, and accelerated 
spend to existing schemes and £13.406m net increase in 2019/20 capital 
programme, and £5.235m increase in 2020/21 capital programme as detailed 
in paragraph 4.11 to 4.16 be approved.

2 Additional allocations to an existing scheme of £2.096m as described in 
paragraph 4.11 be approved.

3 The inclusion of £7.988m for new schemes as detailed in paragraph 4.12 be 
approved.

4 The net re-profiling of £10.546m of spend from 2018/19 to future years as 
described in paragraph 4.13 be approved.

5 The inclusion of £0.345m accelerated spend from the 2019/20 capital 
programme in the 2018/19 programme as described in paragraph 4.14 be 
approved.

6 The revised value of the 2018/19 Capital Programme of £141.338m 
(excluding Accountable Bodies) be noted.

29 REALLOCATION OF OFFICER FUNCTIONS BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

A report was considered from the Leader of the Council regarding the reallocation of 
functions by the Chief Executive which recommended that the Council adopted a re-
allocation of functions to officers made by the Chief Executive on 30 April 2018, 
following the reshaping of the Extended Leadership Team, to comply with legal and 
Constitutional requirements.

The Leader moved the recommendation, seconded by the Deputy Leader/Cabinet 
Member for Finance, advising that a revised Scheme of Delegation would be 
presented to the Constitution Review Group on 30 October 2018 with a view to 
seeking Council’s approval at the 15 November 2018 meeting.

RESOLVED that, the re-allocation of functions made by the Chief Executive on 30 
April 2018 as part of the Scheme of Delegation to Officers (Part 3 
of the Constitution) be agreed.

15



8

30 QUESTIONS

Mrs Bell asked the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property if he 
could outline the likely economic effects on Cumbria of either a hard or no deal exit 
from the European Union (BREXIT). The Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Property stated that the impacts had been hampered by 
uncertainty nationally at the nature of a deal, however, the LGA was acting as the 
voice of Local Government and a roadshow would be held shortly in Cumbria and 
Lancashire to discuss the key issues. He informed members about the all party 
Parliamentary Group on Post Brexit Funding who were producing a report with a 
view to influencing Government policy. He added that Government technical notices 
and guidance responding to a ‘no deal’ scenario had been published, with more to 
follow and the Policy and Scrutiny Team would continue to monitor and assess the 
most up to date information and this would be shared with members.

Mr Markley asked the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property if 
the Port of Workington meeting scheduled for October would be going ahead and 
that he hoped that the Council would work with Allerdale Borough Council on the 
Derwent Forest site at Broughton Moor. The Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Property confirmed the Port of Workington meeting would go 
ahead and commented that the Council continued to work with Allerdale Borough 
Council on Derwent Forest.

Mr Airey asked the Leader if he was disappointed with recent statements from some 
District Council Leaders regarding devolution and if he would join with him in 
lobbying Government to obtain Unitary status for Cumbria. The Leader provided an 
update to members on recent discussions on unitary status with the Cumbria 
Leaders Board and future work on options which the District Councils have declined 
to participate in. The Leader welcomed that the Leader of the Conservative Group 
had the same objectives as himself regarding Unitary status and welcomed his 
support to work in the best interests of Cumbria, reflecting that the current system 
was dysfunctional and the time was right to revisit the matter of local government 
reorganisation.

Mr Shirley asked the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property 
when work on the ‘Blue Light Hub’ at Ulverston would be likely to restart and when 
the Hub would be operational. He asked for reassurance on the costs of any 
dispute. The Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property advised that 
this was a commercially sensitive matter and he could not discuss the details but the 
Council was legally and contractually seeking to complete the project as quickly as 
possible.

Dr Haraldsen informed the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and 
Property that the opening of Bransty School had been delayed following urgent 
capital works that had not been completed in time. He listed a number of issues that 
had not been resolved. He asked that an investigation be made into what had gone 
wrong, and if the Council was at fault, that an apology be given to parents. He asked 
for a wider assessment of project management capacity across schools in light of 
poor performance. The Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property 
undertook to conduct a full investigation and report back to members in due course. 

16



9

He considered that the project management team operated well overall but would 
look into the specific issues raised and report back.

Mr Fisher reminded the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property 
of the closure of Brampton School and its forthcoming auction. A proposed 
Community  Asset Transfer had not taken place owing to the discovery of a reverter 
clause in the title. He highlighted the considerable costs involved in protecting the 
property and whether the costs would be recovered during the auction process. The 
Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property advised that the 
Council’s intention was to recover costs from the sale. In reference to the costs 
incurred, the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property undertook 
to ascertain whether this had been since the school closed in 2009.

Mr Berry thanked the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport for the update 
on Windermere Ferry and asked for recognition for The Leader of the Conservative 
Group and Mr Brereton for their help in the matter. The Cabinet Member for 
Highways and Transport thanked both members and officers for their support on the 
Ferry work.

Mr Lywood stated that most rail operators were now run by state owned foreign 
railway companies and asked the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport if he 
thought it was time that the rail service was brought back into public ownership. The 
Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport agreed.

Mr Whiteside commented on the slow rate of progress and inconsistency of answers 
from Highways England and the concerns relating to the Moresby Viaduct section of 
the A595 north of Whitehaven and the risk of subsidence to the Viaduct. He asked 
the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport if he agreed that the construction 
of a possible new relief road must not be used as an excuse to delay dealing with 
the subsidence issue and for it not to be delayed long enough for that road to fail 
before an alternative route was in place. Additionally joint working with MPs should 
take place to lobby Highways England and the Department of Transport to ensure 
that it did not happen. The Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport explained 
that the issue had been raised with Highways England’s North West Senior 
Manager who had assured him that there were scheduled repairs to be carried out 
and that the Council’s own Highways Engineer would be monitoring the situation.

Lord Liddle referred to the closure of hospital beds at Wigton later in 2018 and noted 
that the cost of provision of six NHS beds at Inglewood Care Home had not been 
included in the Capital Programme Update. He asked the Cabinet Member for 
Health and Care Services whether in the interim period, provision arrangements 
were satisfactory. The Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services reported on 
the Council’s concerns at the closure of Wigton Community Hospital and had 
offered practical solutions including at Inglewood Care Home. The costs were being 
met by the NHS and the refurbishment would be completed 2019. The council was 
working closely with health colleagues on the matter.

Mrs Tarbitt asked the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services if any further changes 
from Scrutiny members could be incorporated into the Youth Justice Strategic Plan 
2018/19. The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services commented on the resolution 

17



10

passed earlier in the meeting to agree the Plan but that the Programme could be 
revisited. Scrutiny would have regular opportunities to discuss the Plan.

Mr M Wilson asked the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport about further 
plans to extend the home to school transport service and when would it happen. 
The Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport advised on the new in-house pilot 
service provision for home to school transport which would save the Council money 
whilst delivering a high quality service to pupils. He stated that over ensuing weeks, 
a full evaluation would be made of other routes and members would be kept 
informed.

Mr D Wilson asked the Cabinet Member for Public Health and Community Services 
how the Council would respond to the consultation on the ban of selling energy 
drinks to children and how members could contribute to the response. The Cabinet 
Member for Public Health and Community Services welcomed the consultation 
referring to teachers’ concerns about the issue. She stated that she would be 
working with the Director of Public Health and would welcome member contributions 
to the consultation.

Mr Bingham asked the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property 
for the latest information regarding the process of finding a  use for the Courts, 
Carlisle and what approaches had been made to  organisations for advice on how 
the County Council could realise  the cultural and  tourist opportunities of The 
Courts. He asked whether the experiences of other authorities who had developed 
their redundant historic buildings had been drawn upon. The Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development and Property stated that negotiations continued to explore 
the future use of The Courts. He referred to the Borderlands deal and the impact the 
outcome could have on Carlisle’s development.

Mr Roberts asked the Leader to confirm that the officer structure considered earlier 
in the meeting would enhance service delivery in the county and provide cash 
savings. The Leader stated that he had every confidence that the structure the Chief 
Executive had put in place, in discussion with members. It would deliver the 
outcomes of the Council Plan effectively and efficiently.

Mr Wielkopolski asked the Leader if he agreed with Jamie Reed MP’s Tweet that 
Jeremy Corbyn’s handling of anti-Semitism in the Labour Party was making the 
situation worse. The Leader stated that he did not pay attention to the Tweet.

The meeting adjourned for lunch at 12.47 and reconvened at 1.20pm

31 MINUTES OF COMMITTEES

a Cumbria Pensions Committee

The Chairman of the Pensions Committee presented Minutes of the meetings held 
on 12 June and 17 July 2018. He thanked the Finance Team for the work 
undertaken on the Accounts 2017/18 and highlighted that the transfer of the Fund’s 
10% allocation to UK Equities into the Border to Coast internally managed UK Listed 

18



11

Equity Fund had been a historical decision for Cumbria. This is the first transfer of 
assets under management by the Cumbria LGPS to Border to Coast Ltd, in line with 
Government expectations for the pooling of the management of the LGPS pension 
fund investments. The liabilities and responsibilities for Pensions Administration 
remains with local authorities.

RESOLVED that, the Minutes of the meetings of the Cumbria Pensions  Committee 
held on 12 June and 17 July 2018 be received.

b The Audit and Assurance Committee

The Chair of the Audit and Assurance Committee presented the Minutes of the 
meetings held on 29 June and 27 July 2018. She guided members through the 
areas of work undertaken by the Committee at the meetings and  highlighted that 
the Committee had received a thorough update from officers relating to progress 
made since the Amey Lessons Learned report was presented to the Committee, 
however the Council’s External Auditor (Grant Thornton) had commented that the 
lessons learned had not yet been fully embedded. The Chair advised that at the 29 
June 2018 meeting of the Committee, a deep dive discussion had taken place 
regarding significant contracts, with Senior Officers attending the Committee, to 
provide assurance that effective contract management arrangements were in place, 
risks were being effectively managed and that additional senior officer assurance 
and challenge had been implemented by way of Directorate and Corporate 
Management Team oversight.

The Chair of the Audit and Assurance Committee and the Leader both thanked the 
officers involved in preparing the Accounts, recognising the challenge of meeting the 
31 May deadline. The Chair and Mr Whiteside referred to the comment that the 
Amey Lessons Learned Report and subsequent Action Plan had been approved by 
the Audit and Assurance Committee in September 2017, so it was not possible to 
have been embedded throughout the full 2017 period and that members of the Audit 
and Assurance Committee had received regular progress updates since the 
September 2017 meeting.

RESOLVED that, the Minutes of the meetings of the Audit and Assurance 
Committee held on 29 June and 27 July 2018 be received

32 NOTICE OF MOTIONS

There were no notices of motion for this meeting.

33 SPEECHES

Mrs McCarron Holmes made a speech in relation to the funding she felt was 
required for illness not yet at the critical  stage.

19



12

Mr M Wilson made a speech on the redesign of the Health Service in North 
Lancashire and South Cumbria and the importance of communication and working 
with the community.

Mr Dew made a speech on Love and Politics.

The Chairman congratulated Silloth on being awarded its Green Flag status.

34 RESPONSES TO MEMBER QUESTIONS

The meeting ended at 1.50 pm

20



CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 27 September 
2018 at 10.00 am at County Offices, Kendal

PRESENT:

Mr SF Young (Leader)
Mrs A Burns
Ms D Earl
Mr KA Little
Mr P Thornton
Mrs C Tibble
Mrs J Willis
Mrs S Sanderson

Officers in attendance:

Chief Executive, Cumbria County Council, Executive Director - People 
(Deputy Chief Executive), Executive Director - Corporate, Customer and 
Community Services, Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer), Director 
of Public Health, Chief Fire Officer, Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring 
Officer), Assistant Director - Highways and Transport, Senior Democratic 
Services Officer, Leadership Support Officer - Labour Group and 
Leadership Support Officer - Conservative Group

PART 1 ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE 
OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

30 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Mr I Stewart and Mr DE 
Southward.

31 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest made on this occasion.

32 MINUTES

RESOLVED that, the minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2018 be 
agreed as an accurate record and signed by the Chair

21

Agenda Item 7



2

33 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of Agenda Item No 12 – 
Borderlands Inclusive Growth Deal Appendix A and 
Agenda Item No 15 – Emergency Exemption from 
Contract Procedure Rules, as both of these are not for 
publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
they include information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information).

34 STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND 
CABINET MEMBERS

There were no statements made by the Leader and Cabinet Members  on 
this occasion.
 

35 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There were no questions, petitions or statements made at this meeting.

36 2018/19 REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 
REPORT TO 30TH JUNE 2018 (Q1)

Members of the Cabinet considered a report from the Director of Finance 
(Section 151 Officer) which set out the Council’s financial position at 30 
June 2018 (Q1); covering the Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and 
Treasury Management. 

The Leader of the Council said the financial context for the Council 
remained extremely challenging, with 2018/19 representing the ninth 
financial year of significant funding reductions from central government. 

At the end of Q1, the forecast for the Revenue Budget 2018/19 at the 
year-end was a net pressure of c.£3m. This forecast assumed the 
delivery of the Budget as set out in this report, including and particularly, 
the Promoting Independence Programme within People Services.

The budget position continued to be monitored as part of our integrated 
approach to managing resources to deliver the Council Plan, provide for 
our statutory responsibilities and secure the financial sustainability of the 
Council going forward. 

22



3

The Leader and Cabinet Members were aware of budget and service 
demand pressures being reported by Councils elsewhere.  As with other 
authorities providing social care Cumbria also continued to experience 
service demand pressures. Every effort was being made to be ‘on budget’ 
at the year end, but this was challenging.

The Leader asked Cabinet to note that demand related pressures due to 
Children Looked After (CLA) of £7.309m were mainly due to pressures on 
placement costs, an increase in the number of Children Looked After 
compared to budget estimates, as well as payments for Special 
Guardianship Orders and adoption inter agency fees. 

RESOLVED that, members

a) Note the Revenue Budget at the provisional outturn for 
monitoring purposes of £379.121m as a result of the transfers 
from the Inflation and Contingency budget and agreed transfers 
from reserves (set out in Appendix 1 of the report); 

b) Note the forecast Revenue Budget outturn of a net pressure of 
£2.968m;

c) Note progress in delivering the new savings for 2018/19 of 
£38.829m; a total of £36.874m (95.0%) of these 2018/19 
savings are forecast to be delivered by 31st March 2019;  

d) Note the forecast General Reserve balance at 31st March 2019 
of (£8.938m) before additional mitigations throughout the year. 
This is below the minimum General Reserve Balances target set 
by Council in February 2018 of £10m; 

e) Approve the virement of £0.500m requested within Economy 
and Infrastructure between Directorate budget lines as set out 
in paragraph 5.3.

f) Approve the following transfers to reserves

I. £1.433m to the General Reserve from additional Business 
Rates S31 grants as set out in Table 2 at paragraph 3.3, 

II. £1.500m relating to legacy Health income to DSG 
reserves as set out in paragraph 4.13.

g) Note the following adjustments and transfer to reserves.

I. technical adjustments totalling £8.234m within People as 
set out in paragraph 4.2, 

23



4

II. £2.697m transfer to the reserves as set out in paragraph 
3.3b following Council’s decision on 15th February 2018 to 
transfer the net increases / decreases to Sources of 
Finance announced after the 5th February 2018 to the 
Council's Volatility Reserve

h) Approve that £0.359m of new schemes are added to the Capital 
Programme as detailed in paragraph 8.17;

i) Approve the addition of £0.484m of additional 
contributions/adjustments to schemes, as detailed in paragraph 
8.18, to be included within the capital programme funded from 
specific grants and contributions; 

j) Note the forecast outturn for the Capital Programme 2018/19 of 
£142.136m against a current budget of £142.181m (excluding 
Accountable Bodies) resulting in a variance of (£0.045m) which 
is made up of (£0.045m) underspend, as set out in Table 7;

k) Note Treasury Management activities during Q1 have operated 
within the treasury limits set out in the Treasury Policy 
Statement, Treasury Strategy Statement and the Prudential 
Indicators set by Council in February 2018;

 
37 REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000

Members considered a report from the Chief Legal Officer which sought 
approval of the policy document which set out how Cumbria County 
Council would comply with the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA).

The report also provided Cabinet with an update on surveillance activity 
since the last report to Cabinet in September 2017.  Cabinet noted that 
the County Council rarely made use of the powers available under RIPA 
and no authorisations had been applied for or granted in the last year. 

The approval of the policy would ensure the Council’s compliance with 
relevant legislation and guidance.  Members noted that ensuring that an 
up to date and accurate policy and guidance was available would assist 
the Council to balance the needs of undertaking work to safeguard 
individuals and local communities whilst ensuring that it does not 
unnecessarily infringe the human rights of individuals.

24



5

RESOLVED that, 

(1) Cabinet note the work being undertaken by officers and the 
communications plan for better embedding RIPA within the 
organisation;

(2) Cabinet approve the attached updated Policy in respect of how 
Cumbria County Council will comply with the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000;

(3) Members delegate authority to the Chief Legal 
Officer/Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Leader and 
Deputy Leader to make amendments to the policy in line with 
changes to legislation.

38 CORPORATE PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT  Q1 
2018/19

Members considered a report from the Director of Finance (Section 151 
Officer) which provided Cabinet with a progress update on corporate 
performance, incorporating progress on the Council Plan Delivery Plan 
2018/19 for the three month period from 1 April 2018 to 30 June 2018. 

This report focused on the Council Plan Delivery Plan for 2018/19 that 
was agreed by Cabinet in June 2018. The Council Plan Delivery Plan for 
2018/19 set out a series of actions and indicators relating to how the 
Council would deliver the three outcomes and implement the new ways of 
working; as identified in the Council Plan 2018-22 which was agreed by 
Council in February 2018. 

Members noted that where performance was below target or baseline, 
action would be taken to improve performance to bring performance back 
on track. 

RESOLVED that, Cabinet note overall performance relating to delivery 
of the three Council Plan outcomes and 
implementation of new ways of working, focusing on 
progress against the actions and metrics identified in 
Council Plan Delivery Plan 2018/19 for the quarter 1 
ending 30 June 2018.

39 COUNTY COUNCIL ENFORCEMENT POLICY

The Cabinet Members considered a report from the Executive Director – 
Economy and Infrastructure which sought approval for a refreshed 
Council Enforcement Policy in accordance with the Regulator’s Code. 

25



6

The revised policy was intended to cover all of the council’s enforcement 
activities, it provided guidance to businesses and the public, so that they 
were aware of the range of options that were available to the council to 
achieve compliance with legislation. The policy enabled those who were 
regulated to understand the Council’s objectives and methods for 
achieving compliance as well as the criteria considered when deciding the 
most appropriate response to a breach of legislation.

The Cabinet Member for Environment asked that the Enforcement Policy 
be shared, for information with Cumbria Association of Local Council’s 
(CALC) Executive.  This was AGREED.
  
RESOLVED that, Cabinet approves the refreshed Council Enforcement 

Policy as set out in Appendix 1 of the report. 

40 COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER: VARIOUS PROPERTIES- 
LAND AND BUILDINGS IN PENRITH (EDEN) AND SEASCALE 
(COPELAND)

Members had before them a report from the Executive Director – 
Economy and Infrastructure which detailed two proposed Community 
Asset Transfers:

 The freehold transfer of land at Thacka Beck, Penrith to 
Penrith Town Council (Community Asset Transfer) for nil 
consideration.

 The freehold transfer of Seascale Library to Seascale Parish 
Council  (Community Asset Transfer) for nil consideration.

Land at Thacka Beck, Penrith 

Penrith Town Council (PTC) submitted an expression of interest to the 
County
Council for the land in April 2017; the expression of interest was 
accepted.  The proposal for the land was in two stages: 

 Stage 1: preserve the field very much as it was now i.e. for 
informal exercise, in particular dog walking. In addition the 
PTC will explore the need for minor enhancements, e.g. new 
gate entrances, dog bins, signage, trimming back hedges by 
footways.

 Stage 2: will seek to deliver a range of major enhancements 
such as a community orchard, a children’s play area, and 
more extensive footpaths. Possible income generation 
opportunities will be explored as part of this second stage. 

26



7

The proposals for the land at Thacka Beck would support the Council’s 
Vision to be a Council that worked with residents, businesses, 
communities and other organisations to deliver the best services possible 
within the available resources with particular reference to the aim that 
people in Cumbria are healthy and safe.

Seascale Library, Seascale 

In July 2016 Copeland Local Committee was presented with an 
expression of interest from Seascale Parish Council (SPC) with respect to 
the Seascale Library. SPC’s stated aim was to take over and develop the 
offer into a community centre retaining the library facility. This was an 
operational asset and not therefore surplus.

The proposal for the building stated the following aims:

• To develop the current library building as a Community Hub 
to include a Conference Meeting Room, improvements for 
disabled access for toilet facilities and an upgrade to the 
kitchen which will give the ability to generate income from 
room hire related to local businesses, Sellafield Ltd and the 
Supply Chain.

• There is a strong desire from the community to keep a library 
service within the building; there is already a list of 20 willing 
volunteers ready to run a Library Link, similar to the one set 
up in Gosforth, which will be supported by the Council’s own 
Library staff.

• A network of partner agencies have already shown an interest 
or are already using the building such as Seascale GP 
Surgery, Credit Union, Citizens Advice Bureau, Age UK West 
Cumbria and Phoenix Enterprise Centre which will provide 
much needed accessibility to these services for an ageing 
population in a key service centre and where there is now 
limited public transport.

Proposals for Seascale Library would support the Council’s Vision to be a 
Council that worked with residents, businesses, communities and other 
organisations to deliver the best services possible within the available 
resources with particular reference to the Council’s aim to ensure places 
in Cumbria are well connected and thriving. As the demands on existing 
public services increase and budgets reduce, the ability of communities to 
design and deliver their own solutions on their own or jointly with 
organisations to meet their own particular needs would be increasingly 
vital to creating thriving communities.

27



8

RESOLVED that, Cabinet agrees the freehold transfers of the land and 
buildings at Thacka Beck, Penrith and Seascale 
Library, Seascale for nil consideration in line with the 
Council’s Community Asset Transfer Policy, and 
delegate authority to the Executive Director – 
Economy and Infrastructure to finalise the detailed 
terms of those transfers. 

 

41 BORDERLANDS INCLUSIVE GROWTH DEAL

Cabinet considered a report from the Executive Director – Economy and 
Infrastructure which asked them to approve the submission of the 
proposals for a Borderlands Inclusive Growth Deal between UK and 
Scottish Governments and with Carlisle City Council, Cumbria County 
Council, Dumfries and Galloway Council, Northumberland Council and 
Scottish Borders Council.

The report provided an update on the development of the Borderlands 
Inclusive Growth Deal proposals, and sought authority to submit the Deal 
documentation to the UK and Scottish Governments as a basis for further 
negotiations in order to secure funding that would support economic 
growth across the Borderlands region. 

The Conservative Government had made a manifesto commitment in May 
2017 to negotiate a Borderlands Deal.  The Borderlands partners were 
then invited to submit a proposal. The Borderlands Inclusive Growth 
Proposition was submitted at the end of September 2017 to both the UK 
and Scottish Governments, by the Leaders of the five local authorities 
making up the Borderlands Partnership (Carlisle City Council, Cumbria 
County Council, Dumfries and Galloway Council, Northumberland County 
Council and Scottish Borders Council).  

Since then further stages of work, including wider engagement with both 
governments, businesses, communities and other stakeholders has been 
undertaken. This had led to the development of the Deal proposals which 
would be subject to further negotiation with both Governments in order 
to reach Heads of Terms.

Members noted that following submission of the proposal, there is 
expected to be further negotiation with UK and Scottish Governments, 
and at this stage, there was no guarantee that a Deal would be agreed.  

The Deal proposal set out a “shared ambition for the Borderlands to be a 
vibrant place attracting, rewarding and retaining people to live, work, 
visit and invest here, by offering a high quality experience, in beautiful, 
well-connected surroundings.”

28



9

Members noted that the Deal proposal comprises six programmes and 
five place-based projects, and that the six programmes would deliver 
benefit across the whole Borderlands geography and include: 

 Borderlands Energy 
 Quality of Place
 Business Infrastructure Programme
 Knowledge Exchange Network
 Digital Borderlands
 Destination Borderlands

In addition to the programmes there were five projects, as follows:  

 Mountain Bike Innovation Centre
 Carlisle Station Gateway
 Chapelcross
 Berwick Theatre and Conference Centre 
 The Borders Railway

Members felt that the Deal offered the opportunity to secure Government 
funding to be invested in the Borderlands region to support economic 
development that would not otherwise be available, and that through the 
Deal there was the opportunity to develop an improved relationship with 
Government that may lead to further funding being allocated in future 
years.

The Chief Executive said the Deal was a tremendous opportunity for 
Cumbria, and the strength of partnership agreement was strong for all 
the proposals.  She hoped that Cabinet would support the submission.
 
Cabinet members were delighted to  see the details proposed  for the 
Deal and were fully in support of the all the proposals.

Cabinet asked that their thanks be recorded to the Assistant Director – 
Environment and the Senior Manager – Economic Development for their 
efforts in driving forward the Deal.

RESOLVED that, 

(1) Cabinet approves the submission of the Borderlands Inclusive 
Growth Deal proposal to UK and Scottish Governments from 
Carlisle City Council, Cumbria County Council, Dumfries and 
Galloway Council, Northumberland Council and Scottish Borders 
Council;

29



10

(2) Delegate authority to the Executive Director - Economy and 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Leader, Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet Member – Economic Development and Property  to:

a) Finalise Deal proposal and documentation to be 
submitted to UK and Scottish Governments

b) Negotiate with UK and Scottish Governments and agree 
a Growth Deal for the Borderlands working with the 
other local authority partners

c) Approve and enter into a Heads of Terms agreement for 
a Borderlands Deal with UK and Scottish Governments

d) Agree governance arrangements for the Borderlands 
Partnership Board with the Council being represented 
on the Board by the Leader of the Council. 

(3) Cabinet notes that Northumberland Council will be the 
accountable body for the Deal on behalf of the English 
authorities and Dumfries and Galloway Council will be the 
accountable body for the Scottish authorities.

42 APPROVAL TO AWARD BY CABINET FOR OPEN FRAMEWORK 
AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF SUPPORT FOR 
INDIVIDUALS WITH A LEARNING DISABILITY AND/OR 
AUTISM WITH ADDITIONAL NEEDS

Cabinet members considered a report from the Executive Director – 
People, which sought approval to appoint providers who had met or 
exceeded the minimum standards required to the Open Framework 
Agreement for the provision of support for individuals with a learning 
disability and/or autism with additional needs from October 2018 for a 
period of 3 years, with the option to extend for a further year.

Members noted that the Transforming Care Programme and more 
recently, Building the Right Support, required local authorities and health 
partners to work in partnership in order to reduce the number of 
individuals with a learning disability within hospital, avoid admission and 
develop local support.

The Council currently had a range of frameworks, contracts and internal 
support services in place to meet the needs of people with a learning 
disability and/or autism. 

The focus of the new framework was upon outcome based support, with 
providers expected to both demonstrate innovative solutions to meet 
individual needs and clearly evidence how individual outcomes had been 
achieved.  The contract included a range of lots:-

30



11

• Lot 1: Residential and Nursing Services
• Lot 2: Residential Services
• Lot 3: Supported Living Services
• Lot 4: Day Opportunities

The establishment of the Framework would enable the Council to meet 
the support needs of the increasing numbers of people with a learning 
disability and/or autism with additional needs in Cumbria. 

RESOLVED that, 

(1) Cabinet approve establishment of the framework and the Open 
Framework Agreement for the provision of support for 
individuals with a learning disability and/or autism with 
additional needs (the “Framework”) from 22nd October 2018. 
(The Framework is for an initial period of 3 years, with the 
option to extend for a further period of up to 12 months);

(2) delegate all future provider appointments to the Framework (for 
providers that meet the published tender criteria) to the 
Executive Director – People.

43 2020-2021 SCHOOL ADMISSIONS ARRANGEMENTS

Members considered a report from the Executive Director – People which 
set out the proposed admission arrangements for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled schools, for which the county council was the 
statutory admission authority.  

The paper also sets out the proposed co-ordinated scheme for school 
admissions in 2020-21, which the Local Authority was required to 
formulate by 1 January 2019.  Cumbria County Council was required to 
consult on the scheme at least once every seven years even if there had 
been no changes to the scheme. 

The report also sought permission for the publication of statutory notices 
to implement changes of age range at a number of Community schools, 
in order to formally add or extend maintained nursery provision in the 
county. 

Members noted that a further report would be brought to Cabinet in 
December 2018 to provide feedback from the consultation and to seek a 
decision on the adoption of the 2020-21 admission arrangements for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled schools, the co-ordinated admission 
scheme 2020-21 and the nursery admissions policy for 2020-21 for 
community and voluntary controlled nursery schools and infant/primary 
schools providing nursery education.

31



12

RESOLVED that, members 

(1) approve the amended admissions policy for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled schools at Appendix A to go out to 
consultation with the required groups as set out in the School 
Admissions Code 2014, paragraph 1.44.  This includes 
consultation on proposals to reduce the Published Admission 
Number (PAN) for Kirkbampton CE School and Brook Street 
School; and proposed changes to the oversubscription criteria in 
relation to children previously in care outside England, children 
of staff at a school and faith based criteria;

(2) approve the consultation on the proposed co-ordinated scheme 
for 2020-21 for Community and Voluntary Controlled schools in 
Appendix B of the report;

(3) approve .for consultation with the relevant schools, the 
proposed definition of relevant areas for admission authorities in 
Cumbria for the period 2020-21 to 2022-23;

(4) agree to consult on an increase to the PAN at Thursby Primary 
School, and on the retention of the existing PAN at all other 
Community and Voluntary Controlled schools;

(5) approve the publication of statutory notices related to changes 
to age range at the schools set out in paragraph 52.

PART II - ITEMS CONSIDERED NOT IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

44 EMERGENCY EXEMPTION FROM CONTRACT PROCEDURE 
RULES

Cabinet considered a report from the Chief Legal Officer which set out 
details of an emergency decision taken by the Executive Director – 
People in relation to the Council’s Data Centre at Port Road.

Paragraph 2.15 of the Contract Procedure Rules required that the use of 
Negotiated Procedure without Prior Publication on the grounds of extreme 
urgency were reported to the next Cabinet following the award decision.  

The Council had a contract with Agilisys Limited for the provision of Data 
Centre services, which originated from the ICT managed service contract 
from 2005. The current contract had a notice period of 90 days for either 
party to terminate the agreement.  

32



13

On the 24 July the Council was made aware that the owner of the Data 
Centre at Port Road was looking to end current arrangements with 
Agilisys, which could impact on the Council’s ability to continue to use the 
Data Centre.

Members noted that the Council had now negotiated a new contract with 
Agilisys from 10 August until 31 March 2019. 

RESOLVED that, Cabinet note the actions taken and expenditure 
incurred by the Executive Director People under 
paragraph 2.15 of the Contract Procedure Rules in 
relation to the provision of Data Centre services.

The meeting ended at 10.50 am

33



This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 18 
October 2018 at 10.00 am at Conference Room A, 
Cumbria House, Carlisle CA1 1RD

PRESENT:

Mr SF Young (Leader)
Mr I Stewart
Mrs A Burns
Ms D Earl
Mr KA Little
Mr DE Southward
Mr P Thornton
Mrs C Tibble
Mrs J Willis
Mrs S Sanderson

Officers in attendance:

Chief Executive, Cumbria County Council, Executive Director - People 
(Deputy Chief Executive), Executive Director - Corporate, Customer and 
Community Services, Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer), Chief Fire 
Officer, Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer) and Assistant Director - 
Highways and Transport

PART 1 ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE 
OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

45 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

There were no apologies for absence.

46 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest made on this occasion.

47 MINUTES

RESOLVED that, the minutes of the meeting held on 27 September 2018 be agreed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

35



2

48 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, the press and public not be excluded during consideration of any 
items of business

49 STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND 
CABINET MEMBERS

There were no statements made by the Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Members.

50 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There were no questions, petitions or statements made at this meeting.

51 2018 HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY STATEMENT AND 
2017/2018 ANNUAL HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELLBEING 
REPORT

The Cabinet Member for Environment presented the 2018 Health and Safety Policy 
Statement and 2017-18 Annual Health, Safety and Wellbeing report. The report 
summarised the main findings of the Corporate Health, Safety and Wellbeing activity 
undertaken during 2017-18. 

Members were informed of the County Councils’ commitment to the ongoing Health, 
Safety and Wellbeing of employees, elected members, trade union representatives, 
contractors and members of the public in receipt of Council services. Members were 
apprised of the Council’s legal responsibilities under the Health & Safety at Work 
Act 1974 and the Council’s legal duty to prepare an Annual Corporate Health and 
Safety Policy Statement and communicate it to employees. Members were informed 
that the 2017/18 Annual Report detailed areas of the Council where the greatest 
areas of risk needed to be managed, it detailed past performance data and 
identified where further improvement was required to ensure the Council continually 
improved.

Members were asked to note key points such as the reduction in the number staff 
absences and that the County Council currently achieves the Silver Better Health at 
Work Award. It had also been successful in the PPMA People Management 
National Awards.

RESOLVED that,

1 The 2018 Health and Safety Policy Statement attached as Appendix 1 to the 
report be approved

2 The 2017-18 Annual Health, Safety and Wellbeing Report, attached as 
Appendix 2 to the report be approved and the report be published.

36



3

52 EQUALITY ACTION PLAN 2018-2020

The Cabinet Member for Customers, Transformation and Fire and Rescue 
presented the Equality Action Plan. Members were advised that the Equality Action 
Plan linked to the Council Plan and other Council Plans and Strategies. Joint 
working had taken place with AWAZ Cumbria and Scrutiny had commented on the 
work during the drafting of the Plan.

The Leader commented that the Plan had been an excellent example of joint 
working between Cabinet and Scrutiny. A Scrutiny Task and Finish Group had 
convened in July 2018 and its work had influenced the Plan. It showed how Scrutiny 
added value to the work of Cabinet. The Leader asked that Cabinet’s thanks be 
conveyed to Scrutiny Members.

RESOLVED that, 

1 The Equality Action Plan (2018-20) be agreed
2 The Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services 

convey Cabinet’s thanks to Scrutiny Members for their contribution to the 
Equality Action Plan.

53 CONSULTATION ON THE PROPOSED AMALGAMATION OF 
MARYPORT INFANT AND MARYPORT CE JUNIOR SCHOOL

The Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning presented a report on the 
Consultation on the Proposed Amalgamation of Maryport Infant and Maryport CE 
Junior School. Members were informed about the legal work that had been 
undertaken and the work of the Governing Body. Allerdale Local Committee had 
given consideration to the amalgamation and it was noted that the School would 
become Voluntary Aided. 

It was raised that although its role had diminished, the County Council still had an 
important role in education in Cumbria. The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
advised that the amalgamation had been under consideration for a number of years 
and congratulated the Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning and officers on 
their work. She considered it to be the right decision for Maryport. 

The Leader commented on the eight respondents to the Consultation who did not 
agree with the amalgamation as they considered it to be a step towards the school 
becoming an Academy.  He advised that it was not the intention for the school to 
become an Academy hoping that in time, this would become apparent.

RESOLVED that,  after considering the feedback from the period of consultation, 
Maryport Infant School be discontinued (to facilitate the  
expansion of the age range of Maryport Junior School).

54 INTEGRATED CARE PROVIDER - CONSULTATION RESPONSE

37



4

The Leader of the Council presented the report on the Integrated Care Provider – 
Consultation Response. NHS England had launched a twelve week consultation on 
the contracting arrangements for Integrated Care Providers and the report set out 
the main issues and asked Cabinet to agree the response to the consultation.

The Leader set out the reason why the consultation was taking place and informed 
members that before the consultation had been published, the Cumbria Health and 
Wellbeing Board had already had lengthy discussions on how to make Health and 
Social Care work effectively and efficiently in the county. He stated that health 
colleagues were committed to working closely together, communication and 
relationships had improved and that work had already been carried out on improving 
the health and care sector in Cumbria. He commented on the challenge of defining 
‘integration’ and of his frustration of how the integration agenda, as expressed by 
senior NHS colleagues both locally and nationally, was different to that set out in the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012, and that to embark upon the integration journey 
without revision to that 2012 Act was a missed opportunity. He reported on issues of 
the contracting out of health and care provision, the inherent threat of privatisation 
and the competition from other countries to become providers. An issue highlighted 
was the potential for any staff included as part of an ICP to be potentially TUPED 
over to any private provider who might secure a contract for service provision down 
the line as part of the integration process. 

In referring to the Draft Integrated Provider Contract (ICP) Briefing Note that had 
accompanied the consultation and the implications for the Council, the Leader 
advised that the NHS locally had not indicated that they wanted to move to an ICP 
contract and he hoped that this would not be the new arrangement.

The Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services and Deputy Leader echoed the 
Leader’s concerns and highlighted their own concerns for the privatisation of health 
and care services in Cumbria. 

RESOLVED that,  the response to the consultation as set out in Appendix 1 to the 
report be agreed.

The meeting ended at 10.34 am

38



COUNTY COUNCIL 

Meeting date: 15 November 2018

From: Chair of Scrutiny Management Board

SCRUTINY UPDATE REPORT

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 This report updates Full Council on the work of Scrutiny and any issues 
and developments that have occurred since the last meeting of Full 
Council. 

2.0 ISSUES FOR FULL COUNCIL

2.1 Members are asked to:

 Note recent activity undertaken by Scrutiny

 Note the work programme provided as Appendix One

3.0 BACKGROUND

3.1 In this report the Chair of Scrutiny Management Board would like to advise 
Members of the following issues:

3.2 Scrutiny Work Programme 

3.3 Members are invited to note the Work Programme presented as Appendix 
One to the report. 

3.4 Additional Scrutiny activity:

3.5 Additional activity that has taken place since the last update to Council or key 
activity that is underway is noted below:

 SMB last met in September when consideration was given to progress with 
the Council’s approach to commercialism and enterprise. Members 
received a presentation providing an update on developments with a range 
of opportunities. They were keen to further understand in more detail the 
targets and milestones for the programme; and also how capacity and the 
necessary skills were being secured to support the work.

39

Agenda Item 8



 On 20th September a Deep Dive session took place on the management of 
long term absence. Members of SMB explored with officers from the 
People Management Team the reasons for long term absence from work 
and measures in place to seek to address this. 

 A strategic planning session will take place once the budget consultation 
commences. This session will be open to all non-executives and has been 
scheduled for 3rd December. The feedback from this session will inform 
SMB’s response to the consultation which will be presented to Cabinet in 
December.

 The Scrutiny Performance Working Group met in October to consider 
Quarter 1 performance with delivery of the new Council Plan Delivery Plan. 
Members discussed a number of areas where performance is off track. 
They also received a presentation on permanent exclusions and explored 
this with the Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning. The Performance 
Working Group will meet again in January to consider quarter 2 
performance.

 Work is ongoing with the Scrutiny Self - Assessment. A questionnaire is 
currently being used with stakeholders to seek views to inform the work.

 The Waste and Re-Use Task and Finish Group is underway and has met 
with a range of stakeholders as part of their work.

 The Communities and Place Board last met on 7th September when they 
considered delivery of Prevent, the Highways Permit Scheme; and findings 
from the plastic audit.

 Children and Young Peoples Board met in September and discussed 
school exclusions and admissions, the Children’s Improvement Plan and a 
review of youth services in Cumbria.

 Health Scrutiny met on 8th October when consideration was given to the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the future of Learning Disability and 
Mental Health Services; and an update was provided on Community 
Hospitals.

 The Adults Board last met on 10th October and discussed the Day Care 
Services Review and received an update on adults safeguarding.

 The Police and Crime Panel met in October to conduct a Chief Executive 
Confirmation Hearing.

3.6 Call Ins

3.7 No Call Ins have been received since the last meeting of Council.

4.0 CONCLUSION

4.1 The Boards continue to explore key issues for the Council in order to provide 
scrutiny and challenge. The Work Programme will be kept under review so 
that key issues can be considered in a timely manner to support the Council 
deliver its priorities.

Helen Blake
Senior Manager Policy and Scrutiny
26.10.18

40



APPENDICES

Appendix 1 - Scrutiny Work Programme

REPORT AUTHOR

Contact: Helen Blake 
Telephone No 01228 226639
Email helen.blake@cumbria.gov.uk

41

mailto:helen.blake@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Panel Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Comments
Strategic Planning input Strategic Planning Session for all non

executives in July. Additional session to
take place in December

Ta
sk

 G
ro

up Chairs and Vice Chairs taking work forward
with self assessment

D
ee

p 
D

iv
e Long term

absenteeism
Deep Dive discussion into long term
absence from work, building on previous
consideration of management of absence

B
oa

rd
 M

ee
tin

g Update on
Approach to
Enterprise

Delivery of
Sustainable
Procurement
Strategy

Delivery of the
Customer Strategy;
Update on long
term absenteeism

Ta
sk

 G
ro

up

Chair and Vice
Chair of SMB to
sign off report

The Board will explore how recycling and re-
use of household waste across the county
could be maximised through a better
understanding and co-ordination of the
range of existing activities.

B
oa

rd
 M

ee
tin

g

Ongoing - scrutiny
input to preparation
for new Fire &
Rescue Service
inspection
arrangements;
Highways Permit
Scheme; Prevent
Programme

Delivery of
Integrated Risk
Management Plan,
Social prescription
and tackling
loneliness, Area
working,
Borderlands
Growth Deal and
Local Industrial

Refresh of
Integrated Risk
Management Plan

Social prescription
and tackling
loneliness, Fire and
Rescue Service
Inspection
preparation

Ta
sk

 G
ro

up
B

oa
rd

 M
ee

tin
g

Youth provision,
Children's
Improvement Plan,
School Exclusions,
School Admissions
Policy

Children
Improvement Plan,
Children and Young
People's Plan,
School Attainment,
Barnardos Growing
Up in Cumbria
Report

Board meeting

Ta
sk

 G
ro

up

 To understand the challenges and risks to
the Council and how these are being
addressed. Initial focus on Delayed
Transfers of Care (DTOC) and
implementation of Integrated Care
Communities (ICCs).

Communities & Place
Scrutiny Advisory Board

Scrutiny Management
Board

Waste and Recycling - opportunities to
maximise impact of work with the Third
Sector

Scrutiny self-assessment activity

Children's and Young
People Scrutiny Advisory

Board

Joint Advisory Group

43



Panel Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Comments

B
oa

rd
 M

ee
tin

g

Day Services
Review
Safeguarding
Adults at risk from
abuse and neglect

Social Care Green
Paper
Update on delivery
of a Strength
Based Approach to
Social Care’
Delayed Transfers
of Care
Reablement –
Waiting Times
Learning Disability
and Autism Board
Promoting
Independence
Programme

Ta
sk

 G
ro

up

To understand the challenges and risks to
the Council and how these are being
addressed. Initial focus on Delayed
Transfers of Care (DTOC) and
implementation of Integrated Care
Communities (ICCs).

B
oa

rd
 M

ee
tin

g

HealthCare for the
Future of WNE
Mental Health
Services
Potential merger of
CPFT and NCUHT
Joint Health and
Well Being Strategy
Community
Hospitals

HealthCare for the
Future of WNE
Mental Health
Services
HealthWatch
Learning
Disabilities Report
Potential Merger
Between CPFT and
NCUHT
Digital Records
Podiatry Services
in North Cumbria

North Cumbria
Primary Care
Limited
Cancer Survival
Rates

Scrutiny Management
Board Performance Working

Group

Corporate
Performance
Report; Permanent
Exclusions

Corporate
Performance
Report

Legend

Health Scrutiny Committee

Adults Scrutiny Advisory
Board

Joint Advisory Group

Cabinet

SMB - Consideration of Report

Ongoing

Scoping

Review in Progress

Timetable

44



COUNTY COUNCIL 

Meeting date: 15 November 2018

From: Leader of the Council

TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR STRATEGY REVIEW 
2018/19

PART A - RECOMMENDATION OF CABINET MEMBER

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report details treasury management activities during the first half of 
the 2018/19 financial year. It highlights performance and activities which 
confirm all Treasury Management activities undertaken during the period 
were in compliance with the Annual Strategy agreed by Members at 
Council in February 2018.

1.2 There has been a review of the Treasury Management Strategy and 
following which no amendments are required.

2.0 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

2.1 Underpinning the Council’s stated priorities is an aim of being as 
effective and efficient as possible. Policies and practices that enable the 
management of the Council’s Treasury Management function to be 
operated in such a manner support the overall objectives and priorities of 
the Council.  

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Council is recommended to:

3.1.1 note that following a half yearly review, no amendments are required to 
the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and the Annual Investment 
Strategy;

3.1.2 note that following a half yearly review, Prudential Indicators and 
Treasury Management Indicators have been fully complied with and that 
no amendments are required to these indicators;

3.1.3 note the Treasury Management function is forecasting a £2.0m underspend 
for 2018/19, due to the Council’s tactical strategy to utilise internal 
reserves whilst available, albeit that this will be kept under review given 
various uncertainties, including interest rate movements and cash flow 
requirements.

45

Agenda Item 9



PART B – ADVICE OF DIRECTOR OF FINANCE (SECTION 151 
OFFICER)
4.0 BACKGROUND

4.1 Purpose of the Treasury Management Half Yearly Report

4.1.1 As detailed in Part 5G (Financial Standing Orders) of the Council’s Constitution 
the Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management (revised 
2017).  The primary requirements of the Code include:

 Receipt by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy - for the year ahead (this was last confirmed by 
Full Council on 15th February 2018); 

 a Mid-year Review Report (this report); and 
 an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the 

previous year (the Annual Report for 2017/18 was approved by Council on 
21st June 2018 and the Annual Report for 2018/19 is due to be presented 
to Council in June 2019).

4.1.2 The Council operates a balanced budget, which in broad terms means cash 
raised during the year will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury 
management operation ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with short 
term surplus cash and working capital being invested in low risk counterparties, 
providing adequate liquidity firstly before considering any higher risk optimising 
of investment return.

4.1.3 The second main function of treasury management is the longer term financing 
of the Council’s capital plans. The Capital Programme of the Council is funded 
through a combination of use of specific government grants, receipts from 
capital asset sales, revenue contributions and long term borrowing. These 
capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially 
the longer term cash flow planning ensures the Council can meet its capital 
spending operations. This management of longer term capital may involve 
arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, 
and on occasion any borrowing previously drawn may be restructured to meet 
Council risk or cost objectives. 

4.2 Treasury Management Activity - mid-year position 2018/19

4.2.1 The balances as at 30th September 2018 are as follows:

Table 4.1 – External borrowing and investments

 

Principal       
(as at 30 
Sept '18)          

£m

Average 
Interest 

Rate       
%

Average 
Life   

Years

Principal      
(as at 31 
Mar '18)      

£m

Average 
Interest 

Rate      
%

Average 
Life   

Years

Total External Borrowing 339.7 4.15 27.1 337.2 4.20 26.4

Total Investments 82.4 0.71 < 1 year 128.1 0.58 < 1 year

Net Debt 257.3   209.1   

46



Borrowing

4.2.2 The economic and financial environment in which the Council’s treasury 
operations are undertaken remains challenging and interest rates remain low. 
As a result, it is considered appropriate for the Council to continue to take a risk 
aware and prudent approach to its Treasury Strategy. Treasury activity over 
recent years has provided a stable debt portfolio; this stability has allowed the 
Council to reduce the interest cost of funding the Capital Programme.

4.2.3 The Prudential Code only permits the Council to borrow in the long term to 
finance capital spend. In accordance with this the borrowing strategy details the 
Council’s approach to funding the expected need detailed in the Capital 
Programme. The Treasury Management function ensures that the Council’s 
cash is managed in accordance with the relevant professional codes and to 
ensure that sufficient cash is available to fund those plans. This will involve 
both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the 
organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities.

4.2.4 The Strategy for 2018/19 agreed in February 2018 set the Council to continue 
using cash balances for internal borrowing whilst possible, but to also take 
tactical decisions to take external borrowing (previously approved by Council) 
where considered appropriate in order to protect against rising interest rates in 
the future. As noted in the Strategy, such decisions are delegated in the 
Constitution to the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) who will approve 
borrowing in consultation with the Council’s external Treasury Management 
advisor. Any long term borrowing will be reported through quarterly reporting to 
Cabinet as per the Medium Term Financial Plan. The ability to defer borrowing 
would be limited by the actual use of reserves and balances (i.e. available 
cash). 

4.2.5 In March 2018, forecasts expected interest rates to rise in 2018/19. It was 
recognised that the Council would need to undertake borrowing before March 
2019 and it was therefore considered appropriate to take loans before any 
forecast interest rate rises. Two loans of £25m each, for 49 and 50 years, were 
agreed from the Public Works Loan Board, both at a rate of 2.32% in March 
2018. This increased the level of external borrowing as at 31st March 2018 to 
£337.2m. This was reported in the Annual Report for 2017/18 to Council in 
June 2018.

4.2.6 Subsequent discussions with the external advisor indicated that, in light of 
expectations around rises in interest rates and PWLB rates, it would be 
beneficial to look to further externalise debt. PWLB rates had been volatile and 
the external advisor had advised that the Council would need to be ready to 
undertake borrowing at short notice in order to obtain maximum benefit from 
market fluctuations. In light of this the Council has externalised further amounts 
of borrowing as illustrated in the below table: 

Amount 
£’m

Notes

External borrowing as 
at 1st April 2018

337.2

External borrowing (May 
2018) – 50yrs at an 
interest rate of 2.25% 

10 This was the lowest rate available over 
the six month period, and reduced the 
average interest rate on the debt portfolio 

47



at 30th September 2018 to 4.15%.

Existing loan matured 
(June 2018)

(7.5) Repayment of loan at maturity.

External borrowing as 
at 30th September 2018

339.7

External borrowing 
(October 2018) – 
£15m for 47yrs at 2.67%,
£7.5m for 14yrs at 2.60%
£7.5m for 12yrs at 2.50%

30 £15m relates to the refinancing of a loan 
scheduled to mature in 2019/20 (the new 
loan is at a lower rate than the maturing 
loan).  The balance is the externalisation 
of £15m (previously internally borrowed) 
undertaken to “lock in” long term rates 
whilst they are low.

External borrowing as 
at October 2018

369.7

4.2.7 Cash flow planning on a day-to-day basis is key to ensuring that the Council 
can optimise investment returns on its cash balances. To optimise these 
investment returns, the Council will invest cash where possible (noting cash 
flow requirements) for fixed periods of up to 24 months. It is generally more 
cost effective to minimise the cash held in immediate access funds (which 
typically generate lower levels of return). However this may lead occasionally to 
the need to borrow on a short term basis to ensure cash is available when 
required. Such temporary borrowing would be undertaken solely to manage 
timing differences between payments and receipts (i.e. to ensure the Council 
has sufficient cash on a day-to-day basis) and would usually only be for a 
period of up to 14 days.

4.2.8 Details of all debt maturity and interest rates are presented in Appendix 2.

Table 4.2 – External & Internal borrowing and the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

 
Forecast 

31/03/2019 
£m

Actual  
31/03/2018 

£m
Capital Financing Requirement 423.0 402.2
External Borrowing 369.7 337.2
Internal Borrowing 53.3 65.0

4.2.9 As at 30th September 2018, the Council’s estimated capital financing 
requirement (CFR) for 2018/19 is £423.0m (excluding PFI and other long term 
liabilities). This increase of £20.8m from the CFR as at 31st March 2018 
(£402.2m reported to Council in June 2018), reflects decisions previously made 
by Council on the 2018/19 Capital Programme, i.e. capital spend that is to be 
funded by borrowing. 

4.2.10 The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes.  
If the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market 
(external borrowing) or from temporary internal cash balances (internal 
borrowing). The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven 
by market conditions and the level of cash balances. 

48



4.2.11 The estimated level of internal borrowing as at 31st March 2019 (including the 
£30m of long term loans taken in October 2018) is £61.0m which is 
approximately 14% of the projected borrowing requirement.

4.2.12 In undertaking these Treasury Management activities, the Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) confirms that there have been no breaches of the approved 
limits relating to borrowing within the Prudential and Treasury Management 
indicators during the first six months of 2018/19 (for details of the indicators see 
section 4.4 of this report).

Investment Portfolio 2018/19

4.2.13 In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of 
capital and liquidity, and then to obtain an appropriate level of return which is 
consistent with the Council’s risk appetite. On 2nd August 2018, the Monetary 
Policy Committee (MPC) increased the Bank Rate from 0.5% to 0.75%, having 
previously increased the rate from 0.25% to 0.5% in November 2017, which 
had been the first increase since September 2007. Link Asset Services forecast 
further increases in the Bank Rate of 0.25% in September 2019, June 2020 
and December 2020. Increases may provide the opportunity to generate 
additional returns should new investments be placed however, given the 
current economic environment, investment returns are likely to remain low for 
the immediate future.

4.2.14 The Council’s investments reduced from £128.1m at 31st March 2018 to 
£82.4m at 30th September 2018 (Appendix 3). This reduction in investments is 
due to a number of factors. This includes the Council paying an estimate 
upfront in April for the 2018/19 Local Government Pension Scheme employer 
pension contribution. This enabled the Council to take a discount for early 
payment which has benefited the Council’s Revenue Budget and was assumed 
within the 2018/19 Base Budget. Payments for capital works including flood 
recovery work have also contributed to the reduction in the Council’s level of 
cash deposits/investments in the first half of 2018/19. In addition, the Council 
repaid external borrowing of £7.5m. Accordingly, reductions in cash balances of 
the Council were expected over the year.

4.2.15 The average investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the year was 
0.70%, exceeding the benchmark return of 0.61% (3 month LIBID). Details of 
the investment portfolio are presented in Appendix 3.

4.2.16 The Director of Finance (s151 Officer) is able to confirm that the approved 
limits within both the Annual Investment Strategy and the Prudential and 
Treasury Management Indicators (as detailed in Appendix 4 to this report) were 
not breached during the first six months of 2018/19.

4.3 Review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy 2018/19

4.3.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) details the anticipated 
value and rates at which borrowing may be undertaken to finance current and 
future capital spend.  The main objectives of the strategy being to manage risk 
effectively while minimising long term borrowing costs.  

4.3.2 The primary focus of the Annual Investment Strategy (AIS) is to provide 
security of cash invested within a low level of agreed risk whilst also trying to 

49



achieve a return in excess of the benchmark. It incorporates the Council’s 
Investment Strategy, its Creditworthiness policy, and its country, group and 
sector limits for cash investment purposes.

4.3.3 The TMSS and the AIS for 2018/19 were approved by Council on 15th 
February 2018 and, in line with best practice, are revisited as part of the mid-
year review.   

4.3.4 In considering the institutions the Council chooses to invest with (counter 
parties), the Council uses a creditworthiness service provided by its treasury 
advisers. This was set out in the Annual Investment Strategy approved by 
Council in February 2018 (Council Budget report – Item 9 Appendix D). This is 
a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main 
rating agencies Fitch, Moody's, and Standard and Poor’s. This analysis is then 
supplemented with market data and other market information.

4.3.5 The investment strategy approach of the Council has not changed, as we will 
continue to invest with counterparties with strong credit ratings in strong credit 
rated countries (and continue with limits to duration and maximum level of 
deposits).

4.3.6 The investment portfolio at 30th September is shown in Appendix 3. The 
average rate achieved in the first half year has increased (from 0.53% in 
2017/18) to 0.70%, reflecting the Bank Rate rise and as new deposits at higher 
rates took effect on the average. Following this half yearly review, it is 
recommended that no changes are required to the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy.

4.4 Review of Compliance with Prudential Indicators and Treasury 
Management Indicators for 2018/19

4.4.1 Appendix 4 sets out the approved Prudential Indicators and Treasury 
Management Indicators for 2018/19 together with actual data as at 30th 
September 2018.

4.4.2 As set out in this appendix, all activities in the six months to 30th September 
have been conducted within the limits agreed by Council in February 2018.

4.4.3 Following this half yearly review it is recommended that no amendments are 
required to the Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Indicators.

4.5 Review of Performance against Treasury Management Budget

4.5.1 In February 2018, Council approved the Revenue Budget 2018/19 and Medium 
Term Financial Plan (2018-2021) and Draft Capital Programme (2018-2023). 
Within this report it was noted that it was expected that some externalisation of 
borrowing would occur in 2018/19. 

4.5.2 The Q2 Budget Monitoring Report to be presented to Cabinet in December 
forecasts an underspend on the Treasury Management budget of £2.012m. 
This is predominately due to the internal borrowing conducted in March 2018 
and during the first half of the financial year at interest rates lower than had 
been included within the budget.

4.5.3 In addition to the forecast underspend of £2.012m in 2018/19, long term 
borrowing at lower than budgeted interest rates have enabled the Council to 

50



benefit from long term efficiencies of £1.587m. These efficiencies will be 
reflected in the 2019/20 Treasury Management budget and the revised Medium 
Term Financial Plan (2019-2022). 

5.0 OPTIONS

5.1 Members can consider the report and either:

 Accept the recommendations as set out in Section 3 of this report; or
 Request additional information from the Director of Finance (Section 151 

Officer).

6.0 RESOURCE AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The strategy for deferring external borrowing and changes to capital financing 
decisions have contributed to a forecast underspend on the net interest budget 
of £2.012m as at 30th September 2018. This has been achieved to date without 
significantly affecting the stability of cash balances and with no additional risks to 
the Council.

6.2 As at 30th September 2018, the Council held investments with a range of 
financial institutions valued at £82.4m and had external borrowing of £339.7m. 
All investments and borrowing has been undertaken in accordance with the 
Council’s approved Treasury Management Strategy.

7.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The Treasury Management Statement, Annual Investment Strategy Prudential 
Indicators and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and any 
amendments thereto are reserved to full Council. 

8.0 CONCLUSION

8.1 All Treasury Management activities in the six months to 30th September 2018 
(and borrowing taken in October 2018) have been conducted in accordance with 
the Treasury Strategy 2018/19 and within the Treasury and Prudential limits 
agreed by Council in February 2018.

8.2 Internal borrowing whilst reserves allowed, has provided a prudent and cost 
effective risk based approach to release savings to support the revenue budget 
in the short-term, but it is a fine balance whilst aiming to maximise long-term 
savings by taking tactical borrowing decisions. Externalising the borrowing 
where considered appropriate protects against rising interest rates in the future. 
The position will continue to be closely monitored by Officers in conjunction with 
the Council’s Advisors.  

8.3 The mid-year review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Annual Investment Strategy approved by Council in February 2018 has 
concluded that these remain appropriate.  

Julie Crellin
Director of Finance (s151 Officer)

16th November 2018

51



APPENDICES

Appendix 1 - Economic Update
Appendix 2 - Borrowing as at 30th September 2018
Appendix 3 - Investment Portfolio as at 30th September 2018
Appendix 4 - The Council’s Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management 

Indicators Half Year Update 2018/19

Electoral Division(s): *

Executive Decision No*

Key Decision No*

If a Key Decision, is the proposal published in the current Forward Plan? N/A*

Is the decision exempt from call-in on grounds of urgency? No*

N/A*If exempt from call-in, has the agreement of the Chair of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee been sought or obtained?

No*Has this matter been considered by Overview and Scrutiny?
If so, give details below.

N/A*Has an environmental or sustainability impact assessment been 
undertaken?

N/A*Has an equality impact assessment been undertaken?

PREVIOUS RELEVANT COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

Revenue Budget - Treasury Management Strategy Statement (February 2018 Item 9 - 
Appendix D) - County Council 
Treasury Management Annual Report 2017/18 (June 2018 Item 9) – County Council 

CONSIDERATION BY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

Not considered by Overview and Scrutiny

BACKGROUND PAPERS

CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross- 
Sectoral Guidance Notes
CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services: Guidance Notes for Local 
Authorities including Police Authorities and Fire Authorities 
CIPFA The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 

RESPONSIBLE CABINET MEMBER

Stewart Young
Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance

52



REPORT AUTHOR

Pete George   
Group Finance Manager – Pensions, Treasury & Insurance 
01228 226311
peter.george@cumbria.gov.uk

Debbie Purvis
Finance Manager – Pensions Investment & Treasury
01228 226565
debbie.purvis@cumbria.gov.uk

53

mailto:peter.george@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.purvis@cumbria.gov.uk


Appendix 1 – Economic Update

1.0 ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE TO DATE AND OUTLOOK

1.1 The first half of 2018/19 has seen UK economic growth post a modest 
performance. Although growth is forecast at 1.5% in 2018, the Bank of 
England’s August Quarterly Inflation Report forecast that growth will pick up 
to 1.8% in 2019, albeit there were several caveats – mainly related to 
whether or not the UK achieves an orderly withdrawal from the European 
Union in March 2019.

1.2 Some Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) members have expressed 
concerns about a build-up of inflationary pressures, particularly with the 
pound falling in value against both the US dollar and the Euro.  The 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation rose from 2.4% in June to 
2.7% in August due to increases in volatile components, but is projected to 
fall back to the 2% inflation target over the next two years given a scenario 
of minimal increases in Bank Rate.    

1.3 At its meeting on 2nd August 2018, the MPC increased the Bank Rate from 
0.50% to 0.75%, having previously increased the rate from 0.25% to 0.50% 
in November 2017, which had been the first increase since September 2007. 
The Link Asset Services forecast presented below includes a projection of 
further increases in the Bank Rate of 0.25% in September 2019 (1.00%), 
June 2020 (1.25%) and December 2020 (1.50%).

2.0 INTEREST RATE FORECAST 

2.1 The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services (formerly Capita Asset 
Services), has provided the following forecast as at 30th September 2018.

Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21

Bank rate 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.50% 1.50%

5yr PWLB rate 2.06% 2.00% 2.10% 2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.30% 2.40% 2.50% 2.50% 2.60%

10yr PWLB rate 2.49% 2.50% 2.50% 2.60% 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.10%

25yr PWLB rate 2.87% 2.90% 3.00% 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.50%

50yr PWLB rate 2.69% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30%

54



Appendix 2 - Debt Management & Interest Rates

Long term borrowing (Debt Portfolio) at 30th September 2018 

Maturity Profile of Individual Loans:

Key: Dark colour = Market Loans (LOBO’s), medium colour = Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB)

Total Loan Duration:

Key: Dark colour = Market Loans (LOBO’s), medium colour = Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB)

Note: Lender Option Borrower Options (LOBOs) are long term ‘market loans’ (i.e. a 
loan from a bank for a fixed period repaid at maturity). The interest rate in the initial 
periods of these loans are at a discount to the market rate. The lender has the 
option to change the terms, at which point the Council has the option to repay the 
loan early.

The LOBOs taken out between 1999 and 2003 total £25m (7.4%) of the Council’s 
total long term borrowing as at 30th September 2018.

55



Debt portfolio detail at 30 September 2018:
 

Lender

Original 
Loan Start 
Date

Maturity 
Date Principal

Interest 
Rate

P W L B 27-Aug-10 27-Aug-19 15,000,000 2.90
FMSWERTM 28-Jun-99 18-Oct-19 1,000,000 7.13
P W L B 23-Dec-09 23-Jun-20 7,500,000 4.06
P W L B 04-May-95 15-Nov-22 5,000,000 8.50
P W L B 24-Dec-97 15-May-23 5,700,000 6.25
P W L B 04-May-95 15-Nov-23 5,000,000 8.50
P W L B 24-Sep-98 15-May-24 9,500,000 5.00
P W L B 04-May-95 15-Nov-24 5,000,000 8.50
P W L B 14-Nov-01 14-Nov-25 3,000,000 4.50
P W L B 29-May-03 15-Nov-25 5,000,000 4.45
P W L B 14-Nov-01 13-Nov-26 14,000,000 4.50
P W L B 27-Aug-10 27-Aug-33 15,000,000 3.92
P W L B 20-Dec-04 15-May-34 16,000,000 4.50
P W L B 19-May-05 15-May-35 14,000,000 4.50
P W L B 10-Dec-07 15-Nov-37 10,000,000 4.49
FMSWERTM 25-Jan-02 27-Jan-42 13,000,000 4.73
FMSWERTM 31-Jan-03 30-Jan-43 11,000,000 4.45
P W L B 25-Jan-07 15-May-52 25,000,000 4.25
P W L B 25-Jan-07 15-May-53 25,000,000 4.25
P W L B 25-Jan-07 15-May-54 25,000,000 4.25
P W L B 25-Jan-07 14-May-55 25,000,000 4.25
P W L B 08-Mar-07 15-May-56 25,000,000 4.25
P W L B 28-Mar-18 28-Mar-68 25,000,000 2.32
P W L B 28-Mar-18 28-Mar-67 25,000,000 2.32
P W L B 31-May-18 31-May-68 10,000,000 2.25

339,700,000 4.15

The FMSWERTM borrowing above relates to market loans with FMS 
Wertmanagement Bank Germany. Initially taken from Depfa Bank Plc (Dublin) and 
subsequently transferred by the lender to FMS. 

56



PWLB Borrowing rates:  

57



Appendix 3 - Investment Portfolio

APPENDIX 3 - INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018
The Council’s investment portfolio and average deposit rate as at 30th September 
2018 is shown below. The Council’s investment strategy is to first provide security and 
adequate liquidity, before considering optimising investment return. The aim is for an 
appropriate balance of instant access, short-term investments (paying lower rates) 
and longer, three to twelve month deposits (earning higher rates). The Council is 
committed to this policy but it must be acknowledged that it lowers the potential 
interest rate available. 

Investment Portfolio as at 30 September 2018

Credit Limit Group / Counterparty Country
Credit 
Rating Deposit Type Start Date

Maturity 
Date

Interest 
Rate (%) Principal (£)

LOCAL AUTHORITY (20% MAX, UP TO 2 YRS)
NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY COUNCIL UK Term Deposit 04/11/2016 02/11/2018 0.55 10,000,000
SOUTH TYNESIDE COUNCIL UK Term Deposit 03/07/2018 02/01/2019 0.62 5,000,000
THURROCK COUNCIL UK Term Deposit 30/04/2018 31/10/2018 0.80 5,000,000
YELLOW (£20m MAX)
STANDARD LIFE INV LIQUIDITY FUND UK AAA MMF* 05/07/2018 0.67 400,000
FEDERATED LIQUIDITY MMF UK AAA MMF* 29/09/2017 0.70 6,400,000
BNP PARIBAS MMF - INSTICASH FUND UK AAA MMF* 03/12/2015 0.69 7,600,000
PINK (£20m MAX)

STANDARD LIFE SHORT DURATION FUND UK MMF* 02/07/2015 0.55 10,000,000
ROYAL LONDON CASH PLUS FUND UK MMF* 30/07/2015 0.68 10,000,000
ORANGE (£20m MAX, UP TO 1 YEAR)
COMMONWEALTH BANK OF AUSTRALIA UK Term Deposit 28/03/2018 27/03/2019 1.00 10,000,000
RED (£15m MAX, UP TO 6 MTHS)
SANTANDER UK A Term Deposit 31/05/2018 30/11/2018 0.64 5,000,000
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATL BANK UK A Term Deposit 20/04/2018 19/10/2018 0.90 5,000,000
NO COLOUR (DUE TO RINGFENCING)
NATWEST MARKETS (WAS RBS) UK A Term Deposit 29/03/2018 24/12/2018 0.84 8,000,000
*Money Market Fund (instant access) Average Rate and Total Investments 0.71 82,400,000

The average level of funds available for investment purposes, over the last 6 months 
was £101.7m (highest balance £135.7m, lowest balance £77.5m). These funds were 
available on a temporary basis, and the level of funds available is mainly dependent on 
the timing of council tax receipts, precept payments, receipt of grants and progress on 
the Capital Programme.

Investment Returns achieved in the half year period are noted in the table below:

Period

Benchmark 
Return – 3 

month LIBID
Average Rate 

of Return Performance
 % pa % pa %

6 months to 
30/09/2018 0.61% 0.70% + 0.09%

As illustrated, the Council outperformed the benchmark by 0.09% (9 basis points). The 
Council’s budgeted investment income for 2018/19 is £0.647m. The Q2 budget 
monitoring report indicates that the Council expects to receive £0.117m less investment 
income in 2018/19 than budgeted due to reducing cash balances during the year.

58



Recent developments: 

1.0 Money Market Fund Reform Regulation from January 2019

1.1 New European Regulations came into effect from 21st July 2017 reforming the 
Money Market Fund (MMF) industry. Existing MMFs have until 21st January 2019 
to comply with the new Regulations. 

1.2 Cumbria has assessed these changes and their implications and concluded that 
the new Regulations will have little impact on the MMFs used by the Council – the 
funds invested in remain very prudent and risk-averse with a high focus on liquidity 
and stability.

1.3 The Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 (agreed in February 2018) is 
compliant with the new Regulations. 

1.4 Changes to the regulatory environment will be considered further in a Treasury 
Management training session for all Members after Council.

2.0 UK Banks Ring-fencing from January 2019

2.1 The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn of retail / Small and Medium-
sized Enterprise (SME) deposits), are required by UK law to separate core retail 
banking services from their investment and international banking activities, by 1st 
January 2019. This is known as “ring-fencing”. It mandates the separation of retail 
and SME deposits from investment banking, in order to improve the resilience of 
banks by changing their structure. In general, simpler, activities offered from within 
a ‘ring-fenced’ bank, will be focused on lower risk, day-to-day core transactions, 
whilst more complex and “riskier” activities are required to be housed in a separate 
entity, a ‘non-ring-fenced’ bank.

2.2 The impact on Councils (Cumbria included) has been that in the case of the Royal 
Bank of Scotland Group, all local authority fixed term deposits, call accounts and 
structured deposits have been transferred within the Group, to a new entity, 
NatWest Markets Plc. This is the new non-ring-fenced entity, and although within 
the overarching RBS Group, does not attract the same credit ratings when 
considered on its own, and hence the new entity is a counterparty that falls below 
the Council’s minimum criteria. 

2.3 While the structure of the banks included within this process may have changed, 
the fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The Council will continue to 
assess the new-formed entities in the same way that it does others and those with 
sufficiently high ratings, (and any other metrics considered), will be considered for 
investment purposes. 

The impact on the Council is that, until such time as the credit assessment of the new-
formed entity meet its investment criteria, no new investment deposits will be placed 
with RBS i.e. NatWest Markets Plc. It should be noted that the Council has no concerns 
about the £8m currently on deposit with RBS.  This investment was made prior to the 
aforementioned changes and is due to mature on 24th December 2018. Furthermore, 
NatWest Bank are the Council’s banking services provider and this core service falls in 
the ring-fenced (protected) part of the RBS Group for business and commercial 
banking.

59



Appendix 4 – Prudential Indicators

APPENDIX 4 – THE COUNCIL’S PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS AND 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS HALF YEAR UPDATE 
2018/19 

2018/19
Revised 
Estimate

2018/19
Original 

Estimate*
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS – 
Affordability

£.pp £.pp

 £m £m

1
Estimate of proposed capital 
expenditure 142.181 135.135

 

Estimate of proposed capital 
expenditure to be funded by prudential 
borrowing 22.059 23.253

 

 
The original and forecast capital expenditure (as included within the Q2 
Monitoring report) and amount of capital expenditure to be funded by 
prudential borrowing for 2018/19.

  £m £m
2 Capital Financing requirement (CFR) 

excluding PFI & other long term 
liabilities– the borrowing need

423.02 430.79

 Capital Financing requirement (CFR) 
including PFI & other long term 
liabilities– the borrowing need

539.10 546.78

 

 
The Capital financing requirement indicator is a measure of the Council’s 
underlying need to borrow for a capital purposes.

  %  % 
3a Ratio of Finance costs to Net Revenue 

Stream exclusive of PPPI 4.47  4.54

3b Ratio of Finance costs to Net Revenue 
Stream Inclusive of PPPI 8.52  8.65

  
This indicator shows the proportion of income received from grant and 
Council Tax that is spent on paying for the consequences of borrowing to 
fund capital borrowings.   

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS - Prudence 2018/19 
Approved

Limit

Revised    
limits 

proposed

2018/19 
Forecast 

Actual
4 Authorised limit for external debt £m £m £m
 Borrowing 473 no change 370 
 Other Long term Liabilities 135 no change 118
 Total 608 no change 488

 

  This is the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be set and revised by 
Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the 
short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  It is the expected maximum borrowing 
need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the statutory limit (Legal Limit) 
determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 

60



Operational Boundary for external debt 2018/19 
Approved

Limit

 Revised 
limits 

proposed

2018/19 
Forecast 

Actual

5 £m £m £m
 Borrowing 448 no change 370
 Other Long term Liabilities 125 no change 118 
 Total 573 no change 488

 

The Operational Boundary is based on the Council’s prudent estimate of the maximum level 
of external debt.  It is only a guide and may be breached temporarily on occasion without 
significant concern, due to variations in cash flow and/or interest rates. Any sustained or 
regular trend above the operational boundary will be investigated and action taken as 
appropriate.
The 2018/19 forecast actual of external borrowing of £370m includes £30m of external 
borrowing taken in October 2018. No further borrowing is currently expected for the 
remainder of the year.

 
Upper Limit on Net Sums Borrowed

2018/19
 Approved 
Limit £m

 Revised 
limits 

proposed

2018/19 
Forecast 

Actual

6 Fixed interest rates 448 no change 345 
Variable interest rates 100 no change (57) *7
* Net borrowing is negative as variable investments (£82m) exceed variable borrowing 
(£25m). All investments maturing within one year are classed as variable. 

The purpose of this indicator is to contain the Council’s exposure to unfavourable movements 
in future interest rates. The indicators are expressed as Fixed Rate Debt less Fixed Rate 
Investments and Variable Rate Debt less Variable Rate Investments. The Council defines 
variable rate as including those instruments maturing within each year, as the replacement of 
those instruments will be subject to prevailing rates of interest.

 
Upper limit for total principal sums 
invested for over 364 days (per 
maturity date)

Lower of £20m or 20% of the portfolio at any 
time during the financial year (Actual £0m)

9

The purpose of this indicator is to ensure that the Council has protected itself against the risk 
of loss arising from the need to seek early redemption of principal sums invested. Only core 
cash will be invested for periods greater than 1 year.  

Maturity Structure of fixed interest rate 
borrowing Upper Lower 

Actual 
30/09/18

Under 12 months 30% 0% 4.4%
12 months to 2 years 40% 0% 2.5%
2 years to 5 years 40% 0% 3.2%
5 years to 10 years 40% 0% 12.2%
10 years and above 100% 30% 77.7%

10
 
 
 
 

The maturity of borrowing is determined by the earliest date on which the lender can require 
payment.  The indicator is designed to exercise control over the Council having large 
concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be replaced at any one time.

* 2018/19 Original Estimate as presented to Council in February 2018

61



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNTY COUNCIL 

Meeting date: 15 November 2018

From: The Leader of the Council 

UPDATE OF THE CONSTITUTION 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report recommends the Council to adopt certain changes to the 
Constitution, to maintain it as an up to date, living document. The 
changes are, new Terms of Reference for Local Committees (Part 2D) 
and the Health and Wellbeing Board (Part 2F), a new Scheme of 
Delegation to Officers (Part 3A) and a new Whistleblowing Policy 
(Part 6E). 

2.0 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

2.1 The Constitution is a key part of the Council’s governance 
framework. 

2.2 There are no specific equality implications arising out of any of the 
recommendations in this report. 

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Members are recommended to approve the following documents as 
updates to Parts of the Constitution, replacing current Parts:  

a) Appendix 1 – Terms of Reference of Local Committees (Part 2D)

b) Appendix 2 - Terms of Reference of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board (Part 2F)

c) Appendix 3 – Scheme of Delegation to Officers (Part 3A)

d) Appendix 4 – Whistleblowing Policy (Part 6E)

3.2 Members are recommended to note the officer designations set out 
in Appendix 5, which are consequential to the reshaping of the 
Extended Leadership Team and authorise the Monitoring Officer to 
update the Constitution where necessary to reflect these 
designations.  

63

Agenda Item 10



4.0 BACKGROUND

4.1 The Constitution Review Group met on the 30 October to consider reports 
recommending updates to four Parts of the Constitution. The Constitution 
Review Group agreed to refer the updates set out in Appendices 1 to 4 of 
this report to the full Council for adoption into the Constitution. 

4.2 If adopted, the updated Parts will replace current Parts of the Constitution 
in full.  The proposed changes and reasons for the proposals, in respect of 
each of the Parts, are explained below. 

LOCAL COMMITTEES (PART 2D)

4.3 Over the summer and early autumn work was undertaken by the Leader 
and Chief Executive, with members and Local Committee Chairs, to 
explore how collectively the Council could achieve greater local focus and 
democratic accountability through Local Committees, with a refreshed 
approach to area planning that would shape services more effectively and 
create efficiencies and benefits for local residents.  

4.4 As part of the review process, the current Terms of Reference of Local 
Committees (Part 2D) were reviewed to ensure they remain relevant to 
the current and envisaged activity of Local Committees.  The proposals for 
draft terms of reference were considered at a workshop with Local 
Committee Chairs on 18 October and were further considered by the 
Constitution Review Group on 30 October.  

4.5 The Constitution Review Group will keep the new Terms of Reference (if 
adopted) under review with a further report to the Group in approximately 
twelve months time.

4.6 The draft terms of reference are divided into three sections – 

a) area planning functions; 
b) decision making functions;
c) referrals to Cabinet.

Area Planning

4.7 This section includes a general power to review planned Council activities 
and report annually to Local Committee Chairs and Leadership; to liaise 
with other bodies with a view to co-ordinating planned activities and 
improving local services; to consider reports following external inspections 
and to make representations to relevant decision makers within the 
Council on specific and general matters affecting the Local Committee’s 
area.  The Local Committee would also have power to agree, ring-fence 
and monitor its budget (including revenue and capital highways budgets) 
approved by full Council, subject to any directions from the Cabinet. 

64



Decision Making 

4.8 The proposed terms of reference retain Local Committee decision making 
powers on Business Improvement Districts, appointing members to 
outside bodies, and exercising the powers of trustee for local trusts for 
which the Council is sole trustee.

4.9 Powers in respect of school crossing patrols are updated so that the Local 
Committees role would be to ascertain need and take decisions to 
establish or dis-establish patrols if appropriate.

4.10 Grant awarding powers are simplified, to provide for the Local Committee 
to adopt, keep under review and award grants in line with an agreed grant 
policy, and any guidance from Cabinet or the Section 151 Officer.  The 
Local Committee would also have explicit powers to review and evaluate 
grants awarded.

4.11 Local Committees currently exercise a range of highways, transport 
powers and related environmental powers.  A key discussion during the 
review was about finding an appropriate balance between an enhanced 
strategic role for Local Committees and decision making on operational 
functions, particularly those which affect only one or two local members, 
highways being significant in this regard. 

4.12 Local Committees would retain powers to make traffic regulation orders, 
with the exception of the power to introduce charging for on-street 
residents’ permits.  This power would be exercised by the Executive 
Director – Economy and Infrastructure, following a decision by the 
appropriate member body to introduce charging for residents parking 
across the County. 

4.13 Other highways powers would be delegated to the Executive Director - 
Economy and Infrastructure, who would exercise them in consultation with 
the relevant local member, the Chair and Vice Chair of the Committee. 
Having agreed its highways budgets, the Local Committee would have 
power to oversee expenditure of the budget and delivery of schemes.

Referrals to Cabinet

4.14 Local Committees exercise a power to refer a matter to Cabinet, derived 
from Cabinet‘s terms of reference.  The proposed terms of reference 
make explicit the power of Local Committees to refer to Cabinet specific 
issues that the committee considers to be of significant concern in their 
area, which fall within the remit of the Cabinet.

4.15 The proposed draft Terms of Reference of Local Committees are set out 
at Appendix 1.  The redrafting of the terms of reference is substantial and 
for this reason the proposals are contained in a separate document with 
the current Terms of Reference set out at Appendix 6 for reference. 

65



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD (PART 2F)

4.16 In February 2018 the Care Quality Commission (CQC) carried out a 
review into the Health and Care system within the Cumbria Health and 
Wellbeing Board footprint.  As part of that review process the CQC 
commented on the relationship between the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and the two Integrated Health and Care Systems covering Cumbria.  As a 
result of that the review the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed an action 
plan – with one of the key tasks identified as:

4.17 “Review of membership and terms of reference of Health and Wellbeing Board to 
ensure that it can fill the enhanced role set out in the CQC report”

4.18 To progress this task, the Health and Wellbeing Board held a 
development session where the members of the Board discussed the role 
that the Health and Wellbeing Board should play in light of the review.  
This was followed by a review of the existing Terms of Reference of the 
Board in the context of the issues identified in the CQC report.

4.19 In considering the existing terms of reference it was recognised that the 
functions of the Health and Wellbeing Board were already extensive.  It 
was, however, agreed that they could be amended and reframed to 
ensure that there was clarity about the role that the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, could and should be playing in leading the health and wellbeing 
system.  

4.20 It was also recognised that the way in which the Health System, in 
particular, operated had changed significantly over the last few years with 
less distinction between commissioners and providers.

4.21 In particular the proposed new Terms of Reference aim to reflect a revised 
relationship between the Health and Wellbeing Board and the two 
Integrated Health and Care Systems, ensuring that developments in 
health and care across Cumbria are made on a consensual basis whilst 
recognising the statutory ability of organisations to make independent 
decisions.

4.22 At its meeting on 2 October 2018 the Health and Wellbeing Board 
considered the proposals and agreed to recommend them to the 
Constitution Review Group for approval by full Council. 

4.23 The key changes proposed are to expand the functions of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to describe more explicitly its purpose and role in health 
integration, to ensure expectations set out in the CQC report in the areas 
of leadership, strategy, assurance, accountability and partnership are 
reflected in the Board’s functions and to add a voluntary and community 
sector representative to the Board. 

4.24 The proposed Terms of Reference attached as Appendix 2.  The 
redrafting of the terms of reference is substantial and for this reason the 
proposals are contained in a separate document with the current Terms of 
Reference set out at Appendix 7 for reference. 

66



SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO OFFICERS (PART 3A)

4.25 Following the reallocation of functions by the Chief Executive (effective 
from 1 May 2018 and incorporated into the Constitution on 5 September) 
work has been undertaken to prepare a new Scheme of Delegation for 
approval by members.  

4.26 The Council is required to have a Scheme of Delegation in place for 
delegated officer powers of more than 6 months duration.  The proposed 
Scheme of Delegation updates the current Scheme in respect of officer 
designations and functions and aims to provide an accessible Scheme 
which members, officers and the public can readily understand.  

4.27 The principle behind the Scheme of Delegation remains the same as in 
the previous  Scheme of Delegation – that Executive Directors and other 
offices have power to carry out the Council’s functions, including taking 
decisions, provided that the decision is not one that has to be taken 
(under the Constitution or by law) by full Council, Cabinet or a Committee.  

4.28 The proposed Scheme does not reallocate functions from committees, 
except as proposed elsewhere in this report, following the review of the 
Terms of Reference of Local Committees. 

4.29 The Scheme of Delegation covers the delegation of executive functions 
(which are delegated by the Leader and included in the Constitution by full 
Council) and non-executive functions (which are in the Scheme of 
Delegation delegated directly by full Council).  No distinction is made in 
the Scheme of Delegation between the two types of power, but following 
consideration by the Constitution Review Group, a note was added to the 
draft Scheme of Delegation to make it clear that Key Decisions taken by 
authorised officers are subject to call in.  

4.30 Members asked the Monitoring Officer, in Council and in the Constitution 
Review Group, to consider whether statutory officer descriptions can be 
used in the Scheme of Delegation to avoid the need to update when post 
titles or functions change.  This has been considered and is not the 
recommended approach. Some posts do not have a statutory title or 
specified statutory functions. Others for example, the Head of Paid 
Service, Monitoring Officer and S151 Officer – the post in the Council’s 
structure has both statutory and non-statutory responsibilities. The 
Scheme aims to make clear when a statutory function is being exercised 
by a statutory officer. 

4.31 If the Scheme of Delegation is approved, it is proposed in addition to 
update the Constitution as a whole as set out in Appendix 5, to update 
other Parts of the Constitution in line with posts and functional areas in the 
proposed Scheme of Delegation. 

4.32 The proposed Scheme of Delegation to Officers is set out in Appendix 3.

67



WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY (PART 6E)

4.33 The need to strengthen the Council’s whistleblowing arrangements was 
identified in the 2017 Amey vs CCC Lessons Learned report.  The action 
plan contains the following action for completion by 1st April 2018:

Development of a ‘Speak Up Policy’ to supplement the whistleblowing 
procedure, aimed at encouraging staff and partners to raise issues of 
concern with senior managers in the Council in a safe environment.

4.34 A “Speak Up” procedure has been introduced which meets the 
requirements of the action plan and this sits alongside, but is distinct from, 
the Whistleblowing Policy.  This arrangement means there is now some 
duplication between the Whistleblowing Policy and  “Speak Up” . The 
current Whistleblowing Policy has been in place for four years and has 
been reviewed to ensure it reflects current good practice. 

4.35 It is proposed, in the light of the introduction of  “Speak Up” , that the 
Whistleblowing Policy, which forms part of the Constitution should focus 
on the protection provided by the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 
(PIDA) for prescribed individuals raising specific types of concerns.  

4.36 The PIDA does not protect certain groups of people who may nonetheless 
have relevant information to report, for example, elected members, 
volunteers and partners.  Under the proposed arrangements, concerns 
expressed by these people would be processed under  “Speak Up” , 
which is backed by procedures and communications designed to 
encourage reporting of concerns that may not fall under the PIDA.  It is 
proposed that procedures for handling complaints under the 
Whistleblowing Policy are also developed and maintained outside the 
Constitution, so that the Policy itself is clear and straightforward.  

4.37 The proposed Whistleblowing Policy is set out in Appendix 4. 

4.38 Appendix 5 sets out officer designations which are consequential to the 
reshaping of the Extended Leadership Team and the review of the 
Scheme of Delegation.  The Appendix sets out officer responsibilities in 
Parts of the Constitution other than the Scheme of Delegation.  Council is 
asked to note these and authorise the Monitoring Officer to update the 
Constitution where changes are needed. 

5.0 OPTIONS

5.1 Members may approve amendments to the proposed documents.  
Members should satisfy themselves that they have fully appraised the 
implications of any such amendments for the relevant Part of the 
Constitution and the Constitution as a whole. 

6.0 RESOURCE AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no specific resource and value for money implications arising 
from the recommendations set out in this report. 

68



7.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The full Council has power to amend the Council’s Constitution. 

8.0 CONCLUSION

8.1 This report sets out proposed changes to the Constitution to ensure it is 
up to date and fit for purpose.  Members are requested to approve the 
recommended changes.

Iolanda Puzio
Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer 

6 November 2018

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Proposed Terms of Reference of Local 
Committees

Part 2D

Appendix 2 Proposed Terms of Reference of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board

Part 2F

Appendix 3 Proposed Scheme of Delegation to Officers Part 3A

Appendix 4 Proposed Whistleblowing Policy Part 6E

Appendix 5 Consequential updates Throughout

Appendix 6 Current Terms of Reference of Local 
Committees

Part 2D

Appendix 7 Current Terms of Reference of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board

Part 2F

Electoral Division(s): All

Executive Decision No

Key Decision N/A

NoHas this matter been considered by Overview and Scrutiny?
If so, give details below.

N/AHas an environmental or sustainability impact assessment been 
undertaken?

N/AHas an equality impact assessment been undertaken?

69



PREVIOUS RELEVANT COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
No previous relevant decisions.

CONSIDERATION BY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
Not considered by Overview and Scrutiny.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
No background papers.

RESPONSIBLE CABINET MEMBER

Mr Stewart Young
The Leader of the Council

REPORT AUTHOR

Contact: Shamim Lindsay
Group Lawyer/Manager 
Email Shamim.lindsay@cumbria.gov.uk

70

mailto:Shamim.lindsay@cumbria.gov.uk


PROPOSED TERMS OF REFERENCE APPENDIX 1

PART 2D:  LOCAL COMMITTEES 

1 Introduction

1.1 The Council has six Local Committees, one for each of the following areas:

 Allerdale
 Barrow
 Carlisle
 Copeland
 Eden
 South Lakeland.  

1.2 Each covers the area defined by the area boundary of one of Cumbria’s district councils 
and exercises its functions in relation to that area. 

2 Membership 

2.1 The county councillors elected for electoral divisions wholly or partly within the area of 
the Local Committee.

2.2 Local Committees may co-opt an additional member from the relevant District Council, 
who shall be a non-voting member of the committee.

 

3 Working Groups

Local committees may establish working groups or sub-groups to progress key areas of 
work between meetings of the local committee. Working groups and sub-groups do not 
have decision making powers.  

4 Purpose of Local Committees

4.1 The main purpose of Local Committees is to optimise the use of Council assets and 
resources in their area; to influence Council policies and strategies affecting their area; 
and through the “whole area approach”, to work with communities and partner 
organisations to enable public services to be shaped locally, to achieve the best possible 
outcomes within available resources.

71



4.2 Each Local Committee also has specified executive decision making powers, delegated 
by the Leader of the Council, which are set out in this Part and which are subject to call 
in.

4.3 In carrying out their functions, Local Committees must comply with the Council’s budget 
and policy framework and the policies of the Council as adopted by full Council or the 
Cabinet.

5 Functions of Local Committees

5.1 The functions of a Local Committee are to:

5.1.1 Area Planning Functions

a) Review regularly the planned Council activities operating within the area covered by the 
committee, to understand and make use of local knowledge to support the development 
of natural communities; and to report annually to Local Committee Chairs and 
Leadership on progress and future plans.

b) Liaise with other bodies delivering services in the area, to seek to co-ordinate planned 
activities, and to improve services for the residents of the area by working together as 
effectively as possible.

c) Consider, and where requested provide a response, to reports following external 
inspections, including by OFSTED, CQC and HMICFRS.

d) Make representations to the relevant decision maker on:
i. matters requiring formal school organisation proposals; 
ii. community regeneration and infrastructure development;
iii. service provision within the Local Committee’s area;
iv. proposed community asset transfers in the Local Committee’s area
v. any other matter affecting the Local Committee’s area.

e) Agree, monitor and review the Local Committee’s budget, subject to any ring-fencing 
directions issued by Cabinet.

5.1.2 Decision Making Functions

Business Improvement Districts

a) Determine the Council’s position in respect of a proposal to establish a Business 
Improvement District in the Local Committee’s area.

72



b) Authorise an officer to exercise the Council’s vote in accordance with the approved 
position, in the ballot relating to the proposal. 

Community Investment Grants

c) Adopt and keep under review a policy for the award of grants from the Local Committee’s 
budget, in line with any guidance issued by Cabinet or the s151 Officer.

d) Approve applications for grants from the Local Committee’s budgets for amounts 
exceeding £5,000 in line with the policy.

e) Review and evaluate grants awarded from the Local Committee’s budget. 

Highways Transport and Parking 

f) Agree and keep under review the implementation of, the highways revenue budget and  
capital programme for the local committee’s area to support the Council to carry out its 
statutory duty to maintain the highway in a safe condition as far as reasonably 
practicable. 

g) Approve the making of traffic regulation orders in accordance with powers under Parts I, 
II and IV of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, except for the making of Traffic 
Regulation Orders which involve the introduction of charging for on-street residents 
permits, which are delegated to the Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure 
subject to a decision of the appropriate member body to introduce such charges.

Miscellaneous

h) Commission technical assessments to ascertain the need for school crossing patrols in 
the Local Committee area, and establish or disestablish patrols in accordance with 
Council Policy.

i) Appoint members to outside bodies where the power to appoint to the body has been 
delegated to the Local Committee. 

j) Exercise the Council’s functions as trustee where the Council is the sole trustee of a trust 
based in the Local Committee’s area.

73



5.2 Referrals  to Cabinet 

Local Committees may refer to Cabinet specific issues that the committee considers to be of 
significant concern in their area, which fall within the remit of the Cabinet.

74



PROPOSED TERMS OF REFERENCE APPENDIX 2

Part 2F: Cumbria Health and Wellbeing
Board
1 Summary

1.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board exists to provide strategic leadership and promote 
closer integration of health and care, through partners working together to ensure 
that everyone in Cumbria is able to benefit from improvements in health and well-
being.

2 Functions of the Health and Wellbeing Board

2.1 To achieve the purpose outlined above the functions of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board are:

(a) Leadership – To lead and direct the health and wellbeing system to ensure that 
partners improve services and make the best use of resources to deliver better 
outcomes for people.  Specifically, the Board is responsible for:

 Providing a structure for strategic local planning and accountability of health and 
wellbeing related services across a range of sectors and providers.

 Providing County-wide strategic leadership to public health, NHS, adults social 
care, children’s social care and other relevant local authority commissioning - 
acting as a focal point for determining and agreeing health and wellbeing 
priorities and outcomes and resolving any related conflicts;

 Considering the draft strategic plans for healthcare, social care and public health 
to ensure that they deliver the Board’s strategic priorities and outcomes and 
agreeing whether to recommend them to the relevant decision making body(ies)

(b) Understanding – To identify and develop a shared understanding of the needs 
and opportunities for improving people's health and wellbeing in Cumbria and to 
lead the development of a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. Specifically, the 
Board is responsible for:

 Assessing the needs of the local population and lead the statutory joint strategic 
needs assessment (‘JSNA’).

 Ensuring that the JSNA is based on the best evidence and data available so that 
it is fit for purpose and reflects the needs of local people, users and stakeholders 

 Ensuring that  the JSNA drives the development of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and influences other key plans and strategies across the County 

 Ensuring that the Local Integrated Care Partnerships, Local Authorities, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and NHS England demonstrate how the JSNA has 
driven decision making 

 Preparing a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment for Cumbria

75



(c) Strategy – To prepare and publish a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 
Cumbria to ensure that the services required to meet the needs identified in the 
JSNA are delivered in a planned, coordinated and measurable way.  Specifically, 
the Board is responsible for:

 Developing an agreed set of strategic priorities to focus both collective effort and 
resources across Cumbria 

 Ensuring plans and priorities, within both individual organisations and for 
systems, are aligned and support the delivery of this Strategy 

(d) Assurance – To ensure a collective awareness of the major changes, pressures 
and risks across health and wellbeing services and provide opportunity to review, 
comment and consider the opportunities for collaborative approaches to address 
or manage these.  Specifically, the Board is responsible for:

 Overseeing and reviewing performance in the delivery of the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.

 Receive regular reports on the implementation of respective health and care 
system plans.’

 Monitoring health and wellbeing improvements and outcomes across the County 
and be accountable for the overall strategic performance management of agreed 
countywide health and wellbeing outcomes.

 Receiving updates on areas where performance needs to be addressed 
 Receiving assurance that improvements that are required as part of the 

regulatory regime are being delivered.
 Receiving reports from the Public Health Alliance to ensure that the Cumbria 

Public Health Strategy is being delivered.

(e) Accountability – To be assured that the decisions of   the Board and partners, and 
their subsequent outcomes, are clearly focused on improving the health and 
wellbeing of people in Cumbria.  Specifically, the Board is responsible for:

 Ensuring that appropriate structures and arrangements are in place to ensure 
the effective engagement and influence of local people and stakeholders. 

 Improving the transparency and accountability to local people of services, 
organisations and decision making connected to health and wellbeing.

 Improving democratic accountability for health and wellbeing decision making.
 Responding to the NHS Commissioning Board when views are sought regarding 

the Clinical Commissioning Group (‘CCG’).
 Representing Cumbria in relation to health and wellbeing issues across the sub 

regional and at national level. 

(f) Partnership – To ensure there is effective dialogue, engagement and joint working 
between county and local health and wellbeing structures and partnerships and 
with other key strategic partnerships and networks. Specifically, the Board is 
responsible for:

 Supporting and encouraging strong partnership working between local 
organisations in Cumbria involved in health and wellbeing.

 Actively engaging with the other key partnerships to ensure achievement of 

76



outcomes in all agreed areas and to extend the reach of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy by ensuring alignment with other strategies and plans.

 Receiving the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board’s and the Safeguarding 
Adult’s Board Annual reports.

 Encouraging wide engagement of partners throughout the Health and Wellbeing 
partnership structure by ensuring involvement in consultations, stakeholder 
events, good practice sharing, and task and finish groups.

 Providing a forum for cross-system learning and support between North 
Cumbria and Morecambe Bay

(g) Integration – To promote integration and partnership working between the NHS, 
social care, public health and other services.  Specifically, the Board is responsible 
for:

 Supporting the development of integrated working with all partners in order to 
improve the outcome of local communities. 

 Supporting the delivery of joined up care between providers in order to improve 
health and wellbeing outcomes and reduce health inequalities. 

 Supporting the development of vibrant community places, linking local partners 
to address the wider determinants of health. 

 Enabling collaboration between commissioners, joint commissioning and 
pooled budgets, where this provides better integrated service delivery and 
outcomes.

 Discharging all functions relating to the Better Care Fund that are required or 
permitted by law to be exercised by the Board including: Agreeing the Better 
Care Fund; and overseeing the delivery of the Better Care Fund and Improved 
Better Care Fund.

3 Membership

3.1 The membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board comprises of:

 Leader of the County Council (Chair);
 The Chief Executive of Cumbria County Council
 County Council’s Executive Director - People;
 County Council’s Director of Public Health;
 County Council Cabinet member for Health and Care Services;
 County Council Cabinet member for Children’s Services;
 County Council Cabinet member for Public Health and Communities;
 The Chair of each of the CCGs (both of whom will be joint Vice Chair);
 The Executive Lead from both CCGs
 The Chair of the North Cumbria University Hospitals Trust;
 The Chair of the Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
 The Chief Executive of North Cumbria University Hospital Trust/Cumbria 

Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
 The Chair of the University Hospital Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust; 

and
 The Chief Executive of University Hospital Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation 

Trust
 A representative from NHS England;

77



 A representative of Healthwatch Cumbria;
 A representative of the six District Councils;
 A representative of the Voluntary and Community Sector

4 Substitution

4.1 Except as provided in 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 each member of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board may appoint one named substitute and must notify the County Council of the 
appointment.

4.2 The Leader of the Council may nominate named elected member substitutes equal 
in number to the number of County Council members appointed to the Board. 
County Council members are nominated by the Leader of the Council and 
appointed by the County Council.

4.3 The District Councils may between them appoint one named substitute.

4.4 Where members of the Board are officers of an organisation rather than elected 
members, they are permitted to nominate up to two named substitutes but only one 
can attend at any time.

4.5 Substitute members must comply with all the requirements of the Council’s Code of 
Conduct, including the registration of personal interests.

4.6 A member of the Health and Wellbeing Board who is unable to attend a meeting of 
the Board (or one of its committees) must notify the Council in writing (which 
includes by email) before the start of the meeting, giving the name of the substitute 
member who will attend in his/her place.

4.7 A substitute member has the same voting rights and responsibilities at meetings of 
the Board as the member they are substituting for, provided the Board Member is 
not in attendance.

4.8 A substitute member will be counted for the purpose of deciding whether a quorum 
is present unless he/she is also attending the meeting as a Board member.

78



APPENDIX 3

PART 3A: SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO OFFICERS   

1. Introduction 

1.1 This Part of the Constitution sets out the powers of officers of the Council to discharge the 
functions of the Council, including making decisions. 

1.2 The Constitution sets out which decisions have to be made by the full Council, a Committee of 
the Council or by the Cabinet.  All other functions of the Council are delegated to officers. 

1.3 Officers acting under delegated powers can exercise the full range of powers necessary to 
discharge the Council’s functions, including taking decisions, implementing decisions and 
managing the services, contracts and staff for which they are responsible. 

2. Basis of Delegation 

2.1 All functions of the Council, except those decisions that are specified as member decisions in the 
terms of reference of the full Council, a Committee or the Cabinet, or which by law have to be 
made by members, are delegated to officers.

2.2 In addition to this Scheme of Delegation, the full Council, Committees and Cabinet may delegate 
powers to officers, unless their terms of reference prohibit further delegation. Such delegations 
include the full range of powers to discharge the function, unless the decision of the member 
body limits these powers. 

2.3 In this Scheme of Delegation, executive powers have been delegated to officers by the Leader of 
the Council under the Local Government Act 2000. Non-executive powers are delegated by the 
Council under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

2.4 Where a power has been delegated to an officer the person or body that has delegated the 
function is not prevented from exercising the function.  

2.5 Where a power is delegated to an officer “in consultation” with a member or another officer, the 
law requires that the discretion of the officer is not fettered.  This means that the decision must be 
taken by the officer alone, and must not be a joint decision with the member or other officer, or a 
decision by a member in consultation with the officer.

2.6 The exercise of delegated powers by officers is subject to some qualifications.  These are set out 
in the section Exercise of Delegated Powers, below. 

3. Further Delegation by Officers

3.1 Except where the law or this Constitution requires a function to be discharged personally by a 
specific officer, or by an appointed deputy, any power delegated to the Chief Executive, an 

79



Executive Director, the Chief Fire Officer, the Director of Finance, the Chief Legal Officer or the 
Director of Public Health may be delegated by them to another officer, orally or in writing.

3.2 In the absence or the incapacity or the vacancy of the post of an Executive Director, an Assistant 
Director in his or her directorate may discharge any functions within the Assistant Director’s area 
of responsibility. 

3.3 Except where otherwise provided by law, when an officer exercises powers delegated to him or 
her by another officer, he or she does so in the name of the person who has delegated the 
power, who will remain ultimately responsible for ensuring the power has been exercised at the 
appropriate level by a suitably qualified and competent officer. 

3.4 Any officer who is empowered by further delegation to take a decision may refer the decision to 
the person that delegated the power.

4. Referral of Decisions to Members 

4.1 This Scheme of Delegation empowers officers to take decisions that are not specified as    
decisions of the full Council, a Committee or Cabinet.  However:

a) the Leader of the Council may decide that any Key Decision that an officer proposes to take, 
must be taken by the Cabinet.

b) any officer who is empowered by this Scheme of Delegation or by a member body to take a 
decision may refer the decision to an appropriate member body. 

4.2 Officers should note that members are only empowered by law to take certain staffing decisions.  
These are set out in the terms of reference of the full Council, Chief Officers Committee and 
Staffing Committee. 4.1 (b) above does not operate so as to permit officers to refer decisions to 
members that members are not by law able to take. 

5. Exercise of Delegated Powers 

5.1 When exercising delegated powers, officers must:

a) comply with the law, the Council’s Constitution and the Council’s properly approved policies and 
procedures (in this order of priority) when discharging functions of the Council;  

b) comply with any limitations or restrictions on their delegated powers contained in any Part of the 
Constitution;

c) seek appropriate legal, finance and other specialist advice.  Officers must have regard to any 
advice received; 

d) consult the Chief Legal Officer and (except in the case of a decision of the Director of Finance) 
the Director of Finance before taking a delegated Key Decision;

e) consult the Chief Legal Officer before approving any settlement agreements with employees;

80



f) be satisfied before taking a decision, that they are authorised to take the decision and make and 
retain an appropriate record (in accordance with corporate procedures) of the decision and their 
authority to take it;

g) unless permitted by the Chief Executive during a civil emergency, not commit the Council to a 
course of action that will result in a financial obligation beyond the approved budget (revenue or 
capital) of their Directorate or the Council. 

h) not delegate powers to the Council’s contractors, consultants or other third parties except where 
authorised in the Scheme of Delegation. 

6. Key Decisions 

6.1 Only the Chief Executive, Executive Directors, the Director of Finance and the Chief Fire Officer 
have the power to take delegated Key Decisions. 

6.2 An officer cannot delegate the power to take Key Decisions.

6.3 Each of the officers specified in paragraph 6.1 has power to take a Key Decision relating to the 
functional area of another officer, if delay in taking the decision, owing to the absence of that 
officer, would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public interest.

6.4 A Key Decision taken by an officer is subject to the rules of call in. [insert link]

7. Proper Officers 

7.1 Appendix 1 of this Part sets out the officers appointed as “proper officers” for certain statutory 
functions. 

7.2 An officer who is appointed as a “proper officer” must carry out functions personally, subject to 
any statutory provision for the appointment of one or more deputies. 

    Delegations to Officers 

8. General Powers of the Chief Executive, Director of Finance, Executive Directors 
and the Chief Fire Officer 

8.1 The Chief Executive, Executive Directors, the Director of Finance and the Chief Fire Officer each 
have a general power to:

a) discharge the Council’s functions, including taking decisions that are not specified in the 
Constitution or in law as having to be taken by elected members, implementing decisions, 
undertaking efficient management of the services, contracts and staff for which they are 
responsible;
 

81



b) exercise any function specified as being the responsibility of their post (and any function for 
which they have been allocated or re-allocated responsibility by the Chief Executive) in any Part 
of the Constitution; 

c) commence, defend, settle or involve the Council in any potential or actual civil or criminal 
proceedings arising within their functional area in consultation with the Chief Legal Officer.

d) sign any document in relation to their functional area with the exception (unless otherwise 
provided in this Scheme of Delegation) of certificates under the Local Government Contracts Act 
1997, the Council’s Accounts, and Contracts and Deeds where specific provisions are made in 
the Contract Procedure Rules.

8.2 Any Executive Director, the Director of Finance and the Chief Fire Officer may be appointed by 
the Chief Executive to deputise in her/his absence and in the absence of the Deputy Chief 
Executive,  and when so appointed is authorised to exercise all the powers of the Chief Executive 
(including those of the Head of Paid service). 

9. The Chief Executive 

9.1 The Chief Executive is the Council’s Head of Paid Service appointed in accordance with section 
4 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and has all the powers of the Head of Paid Service.

9.2 The Chief Executive is appointed as the “proper officer” for the specified statutory functions set 
out in Appendix 1 of this Part.

9.3 The Chief Executive has power to exercise any function of the Head of Paid Service contained in 
any other Part of this Constitution. 

9.4 The Chief Executive has power to exercise any function of the Council which is not specified in 
the Constitution or in law as a function that must be exercised by elected members, except the 
statutory functions of the Monitoring Officer. 

9.5 The Chief Executive has specific powers to:

a) take any action and incur expenditure and delegate responsibility to take action and incur 
expenditure in the event of a civil emergency;

b) take any decision where any delay incurred in taking the decision would seriously prejudice the 
Council’s or the public interest to the extent that it is appropriate to exercise emergency powers. 
In exercising this power, the Chief Executive must consult with the Leader of the Council or in 
his/her absence, the nominated deputy, unless the delay caused by doing so would itself be likely 
to result in danger to life or property. The Chief Executive will report any such decision to the next 
meeting of Council;

c) appoint proper officers of the Council and where there is no proper officer appointed for a 
specified function, the Chief Executive shall be the “proper officer” unless prohibited by law, until 
an appointment has been made;  

82



d) allocate or re-allocate responsibility for functions in the Scheme of Delegation to Officers 
provided that any changes applicable for a period of more than six months must be reported to 
Council as a change to the Scheme of Delegation. 

10. The Executive Director – People (Deputy Chief Executive)

10.1 The Executive Director – People is the Council’s:

 a) Director of Adult Social Services appointed in accordance with Section 6 (A1) Local Authority 
Social Services Act 1970

 b) Director of Children’s Services appointed in accordance with Section 18 Children Act 2004 and 
designated person for the purposes of Section 22 of the Children Act 1989.

10.2 The Executive Director - People has been appointed as the Deputy Chief Executive and may 
exercise all the powers of the Chief Executive (including those of Head of Paid Service) during 
the absence or incapacity of or during the vacancy of the post of, Chief Executive. 

10.3 The Executive Director - People has the full range of powers necessary to discharge the 
Council’s functions, including taking decisions which are not specified in the Constitution or in law 
as having to be taken by elected members, implementing decisions and undertaking efficient 
management of the services, contracts and staff for which he/she is responsible in the following 
functional areas:

a) adults’ services;
b) children and young people’s services;
c) education and skills;
d) public health (except the statutory functions of the Director of Public Health);
e) the provision of residential and day services to children and adults including those provided by 

Cumbria Care (“Provider Services”); 
f) integration of health and social care services;
g) any other services allocated to the Executive Director by the Chief Executive.

10.4 The Executive Director – People has specific powers to:

a) determine, in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder whether to undertake a 
consultation on a school organisation proposal where the Council is the proposer, provided that, 
decisions relating to school organisation must be referred to Cabinet for determination;

b) determine, following consultation with the Chair of the Holehird Trust grant applications for sums 
of less than £500, which cannot reasonably be deferred to the next meeting of the Trust, 
reporting all grants approved under this paragraph to the next meeting of the Trust;

c) nominate local authority governors to maintained schools in consultation with the relevant local 
member or the Chair and Vice Chair of the relevant Local Committee.

11. The Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services 

83



11.1 The Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services is the returning officer 
for county elections appointed in accordance with section 5 of Representation of the People Act 
1983.

11.2 The Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services is appointed as the 
“proper officer” for the specified statutory functions set out in Appendix 1 of this Part.

11.3 The Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services is the Council’s Senior 
Information Risk Owner (SIRO).

11.4 The Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services is the Council’s Scrutiny 
Officer.

11.5 The Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services has the full range of 
powers necessary to discharge the Council’s functions, including taking decisions which are not 
specified in the Constitution or in law as having to be taken by elected members, implementing 
decisions and undertaking efficient management of the services, contracts and staff for which 
he/she is responsible in the following functional areas:

a) strategic commissioning;
b) procurement and contract management; 
c) corporate governance; 
d) organisational change;
e) corporate people management;
f) policy and scrutiny;
g) information and communications technology;
h) facilities management; 
i) digital technology and the Service Centre;
j) business support; 
k) corporate health and safety;
l) community services, including libraries; 
m) the Registration Service; 
n) any other services allocated to the Executive Director by the Chief Executive. 

12. The Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure

12.1 The Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure has the full range of powers necessary to 
discharge the Council’s functions, including taking decisions which are not specified in the 
Constitution or in law as having to be taken by elected members, implementing decisions and 
undertaking efficient management of the services, contracts and staff for which he/she is 
responsible in the following functional areas:

a) highways; 
b) transport; 
c) traffic;
d) parking and parking enforcement 
e) rights of way;
f) common land; 
g) control of development, including minerals and waste;

84



h) nationally significant infrastructure planning;
i) development management;
j) economic development; 
k) trading standards; 
l) weights and measures;
m) regulation of sports grounds;
n) Waste Authority functions; 
o) Flood Authority functions;
p) land and property;
q) the environment;
r) the Port of Workington;
s) implementation of the approved Capital Programme
t) any other services allocated to the Executive Director by the Chief Executive.

12.2 The Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure has the specific powers to:

a) appoint members of the Cumbria Valuation Tribunal, in consultation with the President of the 
Tribunal, the Council’s main political group leaders and Chairs of the relevant local committees; 

b) authorise the issue of notices under Sections 14(2) (a) and (b) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 in circumstances where in the opinion of the Executive Director it is necessary for the 
restrictions or prohibitions sought to come into force without delay;

c) make Traffic Regulation Orders which involve the introduction of charging for on-street residents 
permits following a decision by the appropriate member body to introduce charges; 

d) approve local impact reports in relation to nationally significant infrastructure projects under the 
Planning Act 2008, in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder.

12.3 The Executive Director - Economy and Infrastructure has power to determine the following town        
and country planning applications:

a) any application for planning permission (not being an application submitted by the Council or the 
Council and a third party, or by an employee or a member of the Council) that:

i. falls below the threshold of an Environmental Impact Assessment; and 
ii. is in accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan; and
iii. has not been recommended for refusal by a Town or Parish Council; and
iv. is not contrary to substantive written representations received; and
v. has not attracted a request for determination by committee in accordance with the provisions of 

Part 6G of the Constitution;

b) any application for a certificate of lawfulness made under sections 191 and 192 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act (not being an application submitted by an employee or a member of the 
Council);

85



c) any application that is not defined in the relevant regulations as an application for planning 
permission, including submissions under conditions and non-material amendments.

In paragraph 12.3 “Substantive” means representations that are capable of being material 
planning considerations.

12.4 The Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure will consult with the relevant local 
member(s) and the Chair and Vice Chair of the relevant local committee in exercising the 
following powers:

a) implementation of the highways revenue budget and capital programme;

b) authorisation of applications to the Magistrates Court for stopping up or diversion of highways 
within their Area, under the Highways Act 1980;

c) exercise of powers under the Cycle Tracks Act 1984;

d) authorisation of schemes for the making up and adoptions of private streets under Part XI the 
Highways Act 1980; 

e) consideration of Public Spaces Protection Orders proposed to be made by the relevant 
district/borough council under sections 59 to 75 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014, which restrict a public right of way;

f) award of community investment grants.

12.5 The Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure is the Duty Holder under the Marine Safety 
Code from time to time in force for the Port of Workington. 

13. The Chief Fire Officer 

13.1 The Chief Fire Officer has the full range of powers necessary to discharge the Council’s 
functions, including taking decisions which are not specified in the Constitution or in law as 
having to be taken by elected members, implementing decisions and undertaking efficient 
management of the services, contracts and staff for which he/she is responsible in the following 
functional areas:

a) Fire and Rescue Service; 
b) Resilience and Emergency Planning;
c) Any other services allocated or re-allocated to the Chief Fire Officer by the Chief Executive.

13.2 The Chief Fire Officer is the Scheme Manager for the Fire Pension Scheme. 

13.3 The Chief Fire Officer has the powers of an Executive Director to commence procurement and 
award contracts in his/her functional area.  

86



14. The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer)

14.1 The Director of Finance is the Council’s chief finance officer appointed in accordance with section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972.

14.2 The Director of Finance may appoint one or more deputy Section 151 Officers each of whom has 
power to exercise all the powers and duties of the Section 151 Officer during the absence or 
incapacity of or during the vacancy of the role of, the Section 151 Officer. 

14.3 The Director of Finance has power to exercise any function of the Director of Finance or Section 
151 Officer contained in any other Part of this Constitution. 

14.4 The Director of Finance is appointed as the “proper officer” for the specified statutory functions 
set out in Appendix 1 of this Part. 

14.5 The Director of Finance is empowered personally to sign certificates under the Local Government 
and Contracts Act 1997 on behalf of the Council.

14.6 The Director of Finance has the full range of powers necessary to discharge the Council’s 
functions, including taking decisions which are not specified in the Constitution or in law as 
having to be taken by elected members or another officer, implementing decisions and 
undertaking efficient management of the services, contracts and staff for which he/she is 
responsible in the following functional areas:

a) accounting and financial planning;
b) audit and risk;
c) pensions and financial services (including treasury management and banking);
d) performance;
e) the financing of the Capital Programme;
f) any other services allocated to the Director of Finance by the Chief Executive.

14.7 The Director of Finance has the following specific powers:

a) pay pensions, gratuities, grants etc. to members, other beneficiaries and creditors of the Cumbria 
Pension Fund, in accordance with the Superannuation and Pensions Acts and Regulations and 
agreed policies of the Council;

b) in consultation with members of the Investment Sub-Group (if any) of the Pensions Committee, 
to: 

i. appoint, or terminate the contracts of, investment managers with holdings of less than 5% of the 
portfolio of the Cumbria Local Government Pension Fund;

ii. approve the investment or disinvestment in any assets with a value of less than 5% of the 
portfolio of the Cumbria Local Government Pension Fund where the assets meet the criteria set 
out in the Cumbria Local Government Pension Fund’s asset allocation strategy;

iii. establish and review performance benchmarks and targets for investment. 

14.8 Subject to paragraph 14.7 above, the Director of Finance has the powers of an Executive 
Director to commence procurement and award contracts in his/her functional area.

87



14.9 With regard to contracts incidental to the functions of the Cumbria Pensions Fund, the Director of 
Finance has, in addition, power to modify, vary and terminate such contracts. 

15. The Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer) 

15.1 The Chief Legal Officer is the Council’s Monitoring Officer appointed in accordance with sections 
5 and 5A of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and has power to exercise all the 
powers and duties of the Monitoring Officer.

15.2 The Chief Legal Officer may appoint one or more deputy Monitoring Officers each of whom has 
power to exercise all the powers and duties of the Monitoring Officer during the absence or 
incapacity of or during the vacancy of the role of, the Monitoring Officer. 

15.3 The Chief Legal Officer is appointed as the “proper officer” for the specified statutory functions 
set out in Appendix 1 of this Part.

15.4 The Chief Legal Officer is appointed to act as the Senior Responsible Officer for the Regulation 
of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.

15.5 The Chief Legal Officer is empowered personally to sign certificates under the Local Government 
and Contracts Act 1997 on behalf of the Council.

15.6 The Chief Legal Officer has the full range of powers necessary to discharge the Council’s 
functions, including taking decisions which are not specified in the Constitution or in law as 
having to be taken by elected members (except Key Decisions), implementing decisions and 
undertaking efficient management of the services, contracts and staff for which he/she is 
responsible in the following functional areas:

a) Legal and Democratic Services; 
b) Coroners Services;
c) any other services allocated or re-allocated to the Chief Legal Officer by the Chief Executive.

15.7 The Chief Legal Officer has power to exercise any function of the Chief Legal Officer or 
Monitoring Officer contained in any other Part of this Constitution. 

15.8 The Chief Legal Officer has the specific powers to:

a) grant dispensations to elected or co-opted members to allow them, where they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter to be considered at a meeting of the Council, or any of 
its committees or sub-committees, or the Cabinet or any committee or sub-committee of the 
Cabinet,  to participate in any discussion of the matter in which they have the disclosable 
pecuniary interest at the meeting or to participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter 
at the meeting; in any of the following circumstances:

i. that so many members of the body have disclosable pecuniary interests that it would impede the 
transaction of business; 

ii. that without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups at the meeting would 
be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of the vote;

88



iii. that without a dispensation no member of the Cabinet would be able to participate in a matter 
before Cabinet; 

b) make minor amendments to the Constitution, including to update the Constitution in accordance 
with changes to legislation, provided that the amendment does not materially change any 
principles previously approved by the Council;

c) approve claims for expenses made by elected and co-opted members; 

d) sign any document on behalf of the Council;

e) execute under seal any document of the Council;

f) serve any statutory or other notice on behalf of the Council; 

g) issue, defend, settle, conduct or participate in any legal proceedings;

h) settle any potential legal proceedings;

i) authorise officers to prosecute, or defend, or appear in proceedings under section 223 of the 
Local Government Act 1972;

j) approve the Council’s response to any investigation carried out by the Local Government 
Ombudsman; 

k) approve the Council’s response to any request for information under the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000 or the Environmental Information Regulations 2003. 

16. The Director of Public Health 

16.1 The Director of Public Health has been designated by the Council to discharge the statutory 
function of Director of Public Health in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006.

16.2 The Director of Public Health has the full range of powers necessary to discharge the Council’s 
functions, including taking decisions which are not specified in the Constitution or in law as 
having to be taken by elected members (except Key Decisions) and undertaking efficient 
management of the services, contracts and staff for which he/she is responsible in the following 
functional areas:

a) the statutory functions of the Director of Public Health;
b) employee health and wellbeing;
c) “Active Cumbria”;
d) any other services allocated or reallocated to the Director of Public Health by the Chief Executive.

17. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

89



17.1 The Chief Executive has the power under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 to 
authorise the use of covert human intelligence sources in respect of vulnerable individuals and to 
authorise surveillance where it is likely that knowledge of confidential information will be acquired. 

17.2 The Assistant Director – Economy and Environment and the Assistant Director – Integration and 
Partnerships each have power to issue all other relevant authorisations under the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000. In the absence of both of these officers the Monitoring Officer 
may issue authorisations.

17.3 These powers must be exercised personally by the officers specified in this Part. 

18. Shareholders Representative

18.1 Any officer who is designated under this Scheme of Delegation or appointed by Council or by the 
Cabinet to act as a shareholders’ representative on behalf of the Council for a company in which 
the Council is a shareholder is authorised to:

a) act as shareholders’ representative in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; 

b) exercise all the Council’s powers as a shareholder of the company, subject to any limitations in 
this Scheme of Delegation; and

c) appoint a deputy shareholder’s representative for any company for which they have been 
appointed shareholders’ representative.

18.2 Any person appointed as a deputy shareholders’ representative for a company is 
authorised to exercise the powers of the shareholders’ representative in the absence or 
incapacity of the shareholder’s representative or if there is no shareholder’s 
representative appointed for the company. 

90



APPENDIX 1

PROPER OFFICERS

The officers specified in table below have been appointed as the proper officers for the specified 
statutory functions. 

FUNCTION LEGISLATION PROPER OFFICER 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972
Witness and receipt of 
Declarations of Acceptance 
of Office

Section 83 Chief Executive 

Receipt of notice of 
resignation of an elected 
member

Section 84 Chief Executive

Convening a meeting of the 
Council to fill a casual 
vacancy in the office of Chair

Section 88 Chief Executive 

Receipt of notice of casual 
vacancy from two local 
government electors

Section 89 Chief Executive

Availability of agenda, 
reports and background 
papers Admission of press 
and public to meetings 
Exclusion of a document 
containing exempt 
information

Section 100A – 100H Chief Executive 

Receipt of money due from 
officers 

Section 115 Director of Finance

Declarations and certificates 
with regard to securities 

Section 146 Director of Finance

Functions with respect to 
ordnance survey

Section 191 Executive Director – 
Economy and Infrastructure

Charity functions of 
predecessor authorities 
transferred to the Council 

Section 210 Director of Finance

Deposit of documents Section 225 Chief Legal Officer
Certification of documents Section 229 Chief Legal Officer
Authentication of documents Section 234 Chief Executive

Deputy Chief Executive
Chief Legal Officer

Certification of byelaws Section 238 Chief Legal Officer
Signature of Summons to 
council meetings

Schedule 12 paragraph 4 Chief Executive

Receipt of notice regarding 
address to which summons 
to meeting is to be sent

Schedule 12 paragraph 4 Chief Executive

Certification of resolutions Schedule 14 paragraph 25 Chief Executive

 Local Government Finance Act 1988

91



Officer responsible as 
regards reports 

Section 114 Director of Finance

Local Government and Housing Act 1989
Deposit of politically 
restricted posts 

Section 2(4) Chief Executive

Receipt of notices relating to 
political groups

Sections 15-17 and Local 
Government (Committees 
and Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990

Chief Executive

Notice of Member electing to 
forgo their allowance

Section 18 and Local 
Authorities (members 
Allowances)(England) 
Regulations 2003

Chief Executive 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000
Access to the Countryside Section 1 Executive Director – 

Economy and Infrastructure

Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001
Giving notice to Cabinet in 
respect of chief officer 
appointments

Whole Standing Order Chief Executive 

Registration Services Act 1953
Interim superintendent 
registrars and registrars/ 
Local Schemes of 
Organisation

Registration Services Act 
1953

Executive Director – 
Corporate, Customer and 
Community Services 

Weights and Measures Act 1985
Chief Inspector of Weights 
and Measures 

Section 75 Trading Standards Manager 

92



APPENDIX 2

SHAREHOLDERS REPRESENTATIVES

The officers specified below are authorised to exercise the powers of the shareholders representative for 
the company or companies indicated in the table and subject to any limitations specified in the table. 

Company Officer 
Cumbria County Holdings Limited and Group 
Companies 

Director of Finance 

Border to Coast Pensions Partnership 
Limited 

Director of Finance 

Authorised to act in the following 
circumstances: in consultation with the Chair 
of the Pensions Committee (or in his or her 
absence the Vice Chair) to make decisions 
on behalf of the Council as shareholder of 
the Border to Coast Pensions Partnership 
where a shareholder decision is urgent and 
cannot reasonably be deferred, provided that 
all decisions taken are reported to the next 
meeting of the Pensions Committee. 

 

93



This page is intentionally left blank



1

PART 6E: WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY APPENDIX 4

1. ABOUT THIS POLICY  

1.1 The Council is committed to the highest standards of honesty, integrity 
and accountability in carrying out its functions. All staff are expected to 
maintain high standards. Any suspected wrongdoing should be 
reported as soon as possible.

1.2 This policy covers all employees, officers, consultants, contractors, 
casual workers and agency workers and explains the protection and 
support that is available for ‘whistleblowers’.  

1.3 The Council also has ‘Speak Up’ which is available to all of the above 
but also includes others such as elected Members and volunteers. 
‘Speak Up’ should only be used when this policy does not apply.

1.4 Any prospective ‘whistleblower’ can seek support from their Trade 
Union either before raising a concern or at any time during a concern 
being considered under this policy. 

2. WHAT IS WHISTLEBLOWING?

Whistleblowing is the reporting of suspected wrongdoing or dangers in 
relation to any activities that the Council is engaged in. It covers the 
following specific wrongdoing/practices:

• A criminal offence.

• Breach of any legal obligation

• A miscarriage of justice.

• Danger to the health and safety of any individual.

• Damage to the environment.

• The deliberate concealment of information about any of the 
above.

Whistleblowing is for disclosures that are in the public interest, it is not 
to be used for raising complaints relating to their own personal 
circumstances or treatment at work. In those cases, employees should 
use the grievance procedure or other appropriate Human Resources 
procedure.

95



2

3. HOW TO RAISE A CONCERN

3.1 A Whistleblowing concern should be raised with your line manager or if 
this is not possible, your line manager’s manager.  If there are specific 
reasons why you are unable to report your concerns within your own 
line management chain, there are named contacts at the end of this 
policy to whom you may make a referral.  You must advise the person 
you report to that you are making a disclosure under the Council’s 
Whistleblowing policy.  A record of all whistleblowing concerns is 
maintained by the Monitoring Officer. 

3.2 The person receiving your referral will arrange a meeting with you as 
soon as possible to discuss your concern. You may bring a companion 
(e.g. work colleague or union representative) to any meetings under 
this policy. Your companion must respect the confidentiality of your 
disclosure and any subsequent investigation. The concern will then be 
investigated under this policy. 

4. CONFIDENTIALITY

We hope that staff will feel able to voice whistleblowing concerns 
openly under this policy. Completely anonymous disclosures are often 
very difficult to investigate. If you want to raise your concern 
confidentially, we will make every effort to keep your identity secret and 
only reveal it where necessary to those involved in investigating your 
concern or if required for legal reasons. 

5. EXTERNAL DISCLOSURES

5.1 The aim of this policy is to provide an internal mechanism for reporting, 
investigating and remedying any wrongdoing in the workplace. In most 
cases you should not find it necessary to alert anyone externally.

5.2 The law recognises that in some circumstances it may be appropriate 
for you to report your concerns to an external body such as a regulator. 
We strongly encourage you to seek advice before reporting a concern 
to anyone external. “Protect” operates an independent and confidential 
helpline. Their contact details are at the end of this policy.

6. PROTECTION AND SUPPORT FOR WHISTLEBLOWERS

6.1 The Council aims to encourage openness and will support 
whistleblowers who raise genuine concerns under this policy, even if 
they turn out to be mistaken. 

96



3

6.2 Whistleblowers must not suffer any detrimental treatment as a result of 
raising a genuine concern. If you believe that you have suffered any 
such treatment, you should inform the Senior Manager for People 
Management or Monitoring Officer immediately. 

6.3 You must not threaten or retaliate against whistleblowers in any way. If 
you are involved in such conduct, you may be subject to disciplinary 
action. 

6.4 If you make an allegation in good faith, but it is not confirmed by an 
investigation, no action will be taken against you.  However, if you 
make a false allegation maliciously, disciplinary action may be taken 
against you.

6.5 “Protect” operates a confidential helpline providing support and advice. 
Their contact details are at the end of this policy.

7. A COLLECTIVE RESPONSIBILITY TO REPORT CONCERNS

7.1 There is a responsibility for all officers to notify and report any issues of 
serious concern.  Failure to do so may have a negative impact on the 
delivery of council services, negatively impact on the Council’s 
reputation or impact on the conduct of an individual.  As a result, failure 
to declare or report such concern could be considered a disciplinary 
matter.  

8. CONTACTS

Monitoring Officer Iolanda Puzio, Chief Legal Officer
Tel: 07919 298368
Email: Iolanda.puzio@cumbria.gov.uk

Section 151 (Chief 
Finance) Officer

Julie Crellin, Director of Finance
Tel: 01228 221062
Email: Julie.crellin@cumbria.gov.uk

Head of Internal 
Audit

Emma Toyne / Peter Usher
Tel: 01228 226261
Email: emma.toyne@cumbria.gov.uk or 
peter.usher@cumbria.gov.uk

Protect
(Independent 
whistleblowing charity, 
formerly “public 
concern at work”)

Helpline: (020) 7404 6609
E-mail: whistle@protect-advice.org.uk
Website: www. protect-advice.org.uk 

97



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSEQUENTIAL OFFICER DESIGNATIONS APPENDIX 5
Monitoring Officer 

Function Source Officer 

Arrange training for a member if instructed to 
offer training by the Standards Committee

Part 2J, para 2.2(i) Monitoring Officer  

Non-voting member of Constitution Review 
Group

Part 2M, para 3.1 Monitoring Officer

Sit on the appointments panel for the Local 
Pensions Board

Part 2P, para 7.2 Monitoring Officer

Sit on the appointment panel for the Cumbria 
Fire Local Pension Board

Part 2Q, para 7.2 Monitoring Officer

Receive members interests Part 4B, para 2 Monitoring Officer 
Requesting a special meeting of Council Part 5A, para 3.1 Monitoring Officer
In exercising their statutory powers put an item 
on the Cabinet agenda

Part 5B, para 2.7 Monitoring Officer

Where two of the monitoring officer, S151 officer 
and head of paid service agree, call a Cabinet 
meeting

Part 5B, para 2.8 Monitoring Officer

Attend Cabinet Part 5D, para 21.2 Monitoring Officer
Advise whether an executive decision is in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework 

Part 5E, para 3.2 Monitoring Officer

Advise on and report to Cabinet (with a copy to 
every member of the Council) where an 
executive decision is made contrary to the 
approved budget or Policy Framework

Part 5E, para 7.1 & 7.2 Monitoring Officer

Approving a contract involving a charge on 
assets of the County Council on behalf of the 
Council

Part 5G, FR3, para 14.1 Monitoring Officer

99



Approve the terms of any indemnity given by the 
Council 

Part 5G, FR5, para 19.1, Part 5H, para 6.42 Monitoring Officer 

Ensuring the information on governance within 
the Annual Governance Statement is accurate

Part 5G, FR6, para 24.6 Monitoring Officer

Institute, defend, settle or compromise any legal 
proceedings 

Part 5G, FR9, para 29.2 Chief Legal Officer

Authorise solicitors to award contracts for 
counsel or external legal advice

Part 5H, para 6.40 Chief Legal Officer

Advise members on disclosure of confidential 
information which they believe is in the public 
interest.

Part 6C, para 10.7 Monitoring Officer 

Determine the appropriate approach to 
investigating concerns around conduct of 
elected Members in the context of anti-fraud, 
bribery and corruption. 

Part 6D, para 10.4 Monitoring Officer

When a Member reports that they have been 
exposed to undue or excessive lobbying or 
approaches, advise the appropriate officers

Part 6F, para 6.8 Monitoring Officer

Agree strategically significant partnerships with 
the relevant director and S151 Officer before a 
recommendation is made to Cabinet. 

Toolkit for Partnership Working Monitoring Officer  

Assistant Director – Corporate Governance 

Function Source Amendment 
Receive notices of and inform all members of 
the Council of any changes to the size and 
composition of Cabinet within 7 days of being 
notified by the Leader

Part 2B, para 6.2 & 6.3 Monitoring Officer 

Receive notice that a member wishes to forego 
their allowances

Part 4C, para 2.8 Monitoring Officer

Prescribe the form for submission of allowance 
claims, and receive claims for allowances

Part 4C, para 2.28 Monitoring Officer

100



Authorise expenses for members to attend 
meetings with other bodies/organisations or 
visitors in cases of urgency

Members Allowances Scheme 
 Schedule 2, para 5

Monitoring Officer

Authorise expenses for members to attend 
public meetings in cases of urgency

Members Allowances Scheme 
Schedule 2, para 6

Monitoring Officer

Receive attendance records for meetings of 
political groups 

Members Allowances Scheme 
 Schedule 2, para 11

Monitoring Officer

Approving attendance at meetings to which 
S175 of the Local Government Act 1972 
applies, in cases of urgency

Members Allowances Scheme 
 Schedule 2, para 13

Monitoring Officer

Approving attendance by Members at training 
events in cases of urgency

Members Allowances Scheme 
 Schedule 2, para 14

Monitoring Officer

Approval of attendance at a hospitality function, 
etc. in cases of urgency

Members Allowances Scheme 
 Schedule 2, para 15

Monitoring Officer

Report appointment of Chair or Vice-Chair of a 
Scrutiny Advisory Board to the next Council 
following receipt of notice.

Part 5A, para 1.5(b) Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer and Community 
Services

Receive notice of topics of speeches to be 
made at Council

Part 5A, para 2(n) Monitoring Officer

Appoint replacement members to committees, 
etc. in accordance with express wishes of 
political groups and within their approved 
allocations

Part 5A, para 4 Monitoring Officer

Receive notices of Motions Part 5A, para 12.1 Monitoring Officer
Call a meeting of Cabinet Part 5B, para 2.7 Head of Paid Service  
Call a meeting of the Scrutiny Management 
Board or Advisory Boards

Part 5C, para 5.3 Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer and Community

Consult with the Chair to determine which 
meeting of Overview and Scrutiny the relevant 
items should go to

Part 5C, para 8.3 Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer and Community 

Allocate O&S reports to Cabinet or Council, and 
provide a copy of any report to go to Council to 
the Leader

Part 5C, para 10.2 Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer & Community

101



Provide at least 14 working days’ notice to an 
officer or member that they are required to 
attend a Scrutiny Board

Part 5C, para 11.2 Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer & Community 
Services

Consult with the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny 
Board on calling a meeting of Scrutiny 
Management Board to consider the call-in of a 
decision

Part 5C, para 13.4 Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer & Community 
Services

Receive requests to call in decisions Part 5C, para 13.11 Monitoring Officer
Determine that a call-in request is not valid, on 
the grounds provided

Part 5C, para 13.12 Monitoring Officer 

The ADs representative will confirm attendance 
and arrangements for a call-in meeting with all 
those invited to attend

Part 5C, para 13.18 Monitoring Officer

Send a representative to any informal pre-
meeting prior to a call-in meeting

Part 5C, para 13.23 Monitoring Officer  

Make reports prepared after summons are 
issued public as soon as they have been sent to 
Councillors

Part 5D, para 5.3 Monitoring Officer  

Determine whether any other documents made 
available to Members should be supplied to 
members of the public.

Part 5D, para 6.1(c) Monitoring Officer  

Determine whether to exclude access by the 
public to reports

Part 5d, para 11.1 Monitoring Officer  

Receive notice from the Leader that a key 
decision will be taken by Cabinet

Part 5D, para 24.2 Monitoring Officer  

Publish and circulate records of officer key 
decisions to all members

Part 5D, para 24.3 Monitoring Officer  

Prepare the Council’s Risk Management 
Strategy 

Part 5G, FR5, para 17.1 Section 151 Officer 

Advising on effective corporate governance 
across the Council

Part 5G, FR6, para 24.1 Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer & Community 
Services 

Receive declarations from officers on pecuniary 
or financial interests 

Part 6B, para 2.20 Section 151 Officer 

102



Prepare Council and Standing Committee 
agendas

Part 6C, para 11.1 Monitoring Officer  

Prepare, in consultation with the appropriate 
Corporate Director, minutes of Council, 
Committees and Sub-Committees

Part 6C, para 11.5 Monitoring Officer

Consult the relevant Chair on draft minutes Part 6C, para 11.6 Monitoring Officer  
Receive concerns that the Protocol is not being 
followed and refer to the appropriate 
Corporate/Assistant Director for investigation

Part 6H, Protocol, para 9.1 Monitoring Officer  

Advise members on data sharing issues 
between members and the Council

Part 6H, Protocol, para 10 Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer & Community

Co-ordinate refreshes of the Partnerships 
Register by the Directorates 

Toolkit for partnership working, section 1 Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer & Community

Senior Manager – Legal & Democratic Services

Function Source
Advise on the setting up of a framework 
agreement exceeding 4 years

Part 5H, para 5.13 Chief Legal Officer

Advise on rolling contracts exceeding their 
estimated total value

Part 5H, para 5.23 Chief Legal Officer

Approve the consideration of late tenders (with 
the AD Business Services)

Part 5H, para 6.9 Chief Legal Officer

Advise on post tender negotiations Part 5H, para 6.34 Chief Legal Officer
Award contracts for counsel or external legal 
advice

Part 5H, para 6.40 Chief Legal Officer

Authorise officers to witness the sealing of 
documents

Part 5H, para 7.1 Chief Legal Officer

Advise on the modification of contracts Part 5H, para 7.11 Chief Legal Officer

103



S151 Officer/Chief Finance Officer/ Assistant Director – Finance 

Function Source

Manage contracts for advisors on behalf of the 
Pensions Committee

Part 2H, para 3.2 Section 151 Officer

Be a member of the Investment Sub-Group Part 2O, para 4.1(c) Section 151 Officer
Approve expenditure of the Local Pensions 
Board

Part 2P, para 4.2 Section 151 Officer

Sit on the appointments panel for the Local 
Pensions Board

Part 2P, para 7.2 Section 151 Officer

Approve expenditure of the Cumbria Fire Local 
Pensions Board

Part 2Q, para 4.2 Section 151 Officer 

Sit on the appointment panel for the Cumbria 
Fire Local Pension Board

Part 2Q, para 7.2 Section 151 Officer 

Support the Commissioning & Procurement 
Working Group

Part 2S, para 3.2 Section 151 Officer 

Make payments and undertake procurements 
on behalf of the Pensions Fund and (in 
consultation with the Investment Sub-Group) 
appoint investment managers for the LGPS

Part 3A, para 6.9 Section 151 Officer 

Requesting a special meeting of Council Part 5A, para 3.1 Section 151 Officer 
In exercising their statutory powers put an item 
on the Cabinet agenda

Part 5B, para 2.7 Section 151 Officer 

Where two of the monitoring officer, S151 officer 
and head of paid service agree, call a Cabinet 
meeting

Part 5B, para 2.8 Section 151 Officer 

Advise whether an executive decision is in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework 

Part 5E, para 3.2 Section 151 Officer 

Advise on, and report to Cabinet (with a copy to 
every member of the Council) where an 
executive decision is made contrary to the 
approved budget or Policy Framework

Part 5E, Para 7.1 & 7.2 Section 151 Officer 

104



Maintaining continuous review of financial 
regulations and submitting proposed 
amendments to Audit and Assurance 
Committee

Part 5G, para 2.4 Section 151 Officer 

Issuing advice to underpin the financial 
regulations

Part 5G, para 2.5 Section 151 Officer 

Receive queries on the financial regulations Part 5G, para 2.6 Section 151 Officer 
Approve financial procedures/guidelines 
produced by Directorates

Part 5G, para 2.7 Section 151 Officer 

Consider changes to the financial regulations Part 5G, para 2.8 Section 151 Officer 
Receive notice of any illegality, impropriety, 
breach of procedure or serious deficiency 
discovered in the following of financial 
regulations.

Part 5G, para 2.9 Section 151 Officer 

Be first point of contact for the external auditor Part 5G, para 3.1 Section 151 Officer 
Be the principal point of contact for access to 
financial records

Part 5G, para 3.2 Section 151 Officer 

Exercise the duty under S114(2) of the Local 
Government  Finance Act 1988

Part 5G, para 4.2 Section 151 Officer 

Make reports under S114(3) of the Local 
Government Finance 1988

Part 5G, para 4.3 Section 151 Officer 

Require Directors to provide timely and relevant 
information to enable her to carry out her 
functions

Part 5G, para 4.4 Section 151 Officer 

Agree all financial systems, procedures, records 
and controls, as well as changes to the same 
and issue instructions or guidance

Part 5G, para 4.5 Section 151 Officer 

Exercise the duty under S25 of the Local 
Government Act 2003

Part 5G, para 4.6 Section 151 Officer 

Advise Council, Cabinet or other Committee on 
any matter containing financial implications

Part 5G, para 5.1 Section 151 Officer 

Advise Directors on financial implications of 
guidance and legislation

Part 5G, para 5.4 Section 151 Officer 

105



Advising on relevant taxation issues, including 
liaising, negotiating and taking appropriate 
action to promote and protect the Council’s 
financial position

Part 5G, para 5.5 Section 151 Officer 

Attend and report to Council, Cabinet and any 
Committee or working group on financial 
matters

Part 5G, para 5.6 Section 151 Officer 

Monitoring standards and issuing advice on 
financial management and administration as 
well as training, appointment and being 
consulted on creating or removing accounting or 
auditor posts.

Part 5G, para 5.7 Section 151 Officer 

Determine the format and maintain the Council’s 
accounts

Part 5G, para 6.1 Section 151 Officer 

Keep accounting records in accordance with the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the UK

Part 5G, para 6.2 Section 151 Officer 

Ensure statement of accounts is prepared and 
made available on time and issue procedures 
and a timetable for closure of accounts

Part 5G, para 6.3 Section 151 Officer 

Complete tax returns and provide relevant 
information to external bodies

Part 5G, para 7.1 Section 151 Officer 

Commission suitable internal audit of 
accounting records

Part 5G, para 8.1 Section 151 Officer 

Support and advise the directorates on financial 
management and administration

Part 5G, para 9.1 Section 151 Officer 

Agree financial implications of actions taken by 
Directorates

Part 5G, para 9.2 Section 151 Officer 

Receive reports of suspected breaches of 
financial regulations

Part 5G, para 9.3 Section 151 Officer 

Receive notifications of any changes to the 
financial scheme of delegation within 
directorates

Part 5G, para 10.5 Section 151 Officer 

Develop and maintain a resource allocation 
process

Part 5G, FR1, para 1.3 Section 151 Officer 

106



In conjunction with the Directors, ensure that the 
medium term financial plan is prepared

Part 5G, FR1, para 1.4 Section 151 Officer 

Submit a budgetary report for Cabinet to 
Consider

Part 5G, FR1, Para 1.6 Section 151 Officer 

Comment on how robust the budget is and 
levels of reserves

Part 5G, FR1, para 1.7 Section 151 Officer 

Ensure the capital programme is affordable Part 5G, FR1, para 1.10 Section 151 Officer 
Determine the criteria, format, timetable and 
targets for the five year forward capital 
programme

Part 5G, FR1, para 1.11 Section 151 Officer 

Arrange indemnity insurance for capital works Part 5G, FR1, Para 1.14 Section 151 Officer 
Maintain corporate financial systems Part 5G, FR2, para 2.1 Section 151 Officer 
In consultation with the Directors establish and 
appropriate format and frequency for monitoring 
financial performance

Part 5G, FR2, para 2.5 Section 151 Officer 

Support and advise Directors to ensure that 
financial management information is adequate

Part 5G, FR2, para 2.7 Section 151 Officer 

Report monthly to CMT and quarterly to Cabinet 
on likely outturn position and significant 
variances

Part 5G, FR2, para 2.8 Section 151 Officer 

Receive information from Directorates and 
details of where they are unable to keep 
expenditure and income within budget 
allocations

Part 5G, FR2, para 2.10 Section 151 Officer 

May amend the approved revenue budget by 
approving budgetary transfers from an 
earmarked reserve for its designated purpose 
(in consultation with the relevant Director)

Part 5G, FR2, para 3.2 Section 151 Officer 

When amending the revenue budget have 
regard to budget and policy framework and be 
satisfied that amendment can be offset

Part 5G, FR2, para 3.3 Section 151 Officer 

Advise on amendments to the revenue budget Part 5G, FR2, para 3.5 Section 151 Officer 
Advise on amendments to the Capital 
Programme

Part 5G, FR2, para 3.13 Section 151 Officer 

107



Advise on proposed virements to revenue 
budgets

Part 5G, FR2, para 6.4 Section 151 Officer 

Advise on proposed virements to the Capital 
Programme

Part 5G, FR2, para 6.10 Section 151 Officer 

Receive requests for earmarked reserves Part 5G, FR2, para 9.3 Section 151 Officer 
Receive details of earmarked reserves, consider 
relevance of reserves and make 
recommendations to Cabinet and Council

Part 5G, para 9.4 Section 151 Officer 

Agree to the purchasing of assets using loans, 
leases or hire purchase agreements

Part 5G, FR3, para 11.2 Section 151 Officer 

Receive notices of directorates intention to 
dispose items that might be regarded as capital

Part 5G, FR3, para 12.6 Section 151 Officer 

Maintain a register of capital assets Part 5G, FR3, para 12.7 Section 151 Officer 
Make or agree arrangements for maintaining 
inventories 

Part 5G, FR3, para 13.1 Section 151 Officer 

Approving a contract involving a charge on 
assets of the County Council or a contractor on 
behalf of the Council

Part 5G, FR3, Para 14.1 Section 151 Officer 

Be responsible for all arrangements relating to 
the Council’s bank accounts

Part 5G, FR3, para 15.1 Section 151 Officer 

Issue instructions on the collection and banking 
of monies

Part 5G, FR3, para 15.2 Section 151 Officer 

Receive notice when more than £500,000 cash 
is expected to be received

Part 5G, FR3, para 15.3 Section 151 Officer 

Issue instructions on operating petty cash and 
agree maximum limits for cash holding. 
Authorise any circumstances where these limits 
can be exceeded

Part 5G, FR3, para 15.4 Section 151 Officer 

Maintain a record of all imprest accounts and 
the approved current level

Part 5G, FR3, para 15.6 Section 151 Officer 

Annually prepare a Treasury Management 
Statement 

Part 5G, FR4, para 16.3 Section 151 Officer 

Exercise the functions of Cabinet in relation to 
the execution and administration of treasury 
management decisions

Part 5G, FR4, para 16.4 Section 151 Officer 

108



Report to Cabinet on treasury management 
activities

Part 5G, FR4, para 16.5 Section 151 Officer 

Enter into contracts involving borrowing funds or 
credit, or investing the Council’s money or 
authorising direct debits

Part 5G, FR4, para 16.6 Section 151 Officer 

Arrange all insurances within the framework 
approved by Cabinet and deal with all material 
claims

Part 5G, FR5, para 18.1 Section 151 Officer 

Provide insurance advice to Directorates on 
other risks

Part 5G, FR5, para 18.2 Section 151 Officer 

Receive notifications of new risks, or material 
changes to existing risks which may require 
insurance

Part 5G, FR5, para 18.4 Section 151 Officer 

Receive notice of any loss, liability or damage or 
event likely to lead to a material claim

Part 5G, FR5, para 18.5 Section 151 Officer 

Operate any internal insurance reserve 
determined by Cabinet, taking appropriate 
advice from external insurance advisors

Part 5G, FR5, para 18.6 Section 151 Officer 

Approve the terms of any indemnity given by the 
Council 

Part 5G, FR5, para 19.1, Part 5H, para 6.42 Section 151 Officer 

Carrying out a continuous internal audit in line 
with the Accounts and Audit (England) 
Regulations 2011 (replaced by 2015 
regulations)

Part 5G, FR6, para 23.1 Section 151 Officer
Update to say Accounts and 
Audit (England) Regulations 
from time to time in force

Ensure a report on internal audit activity is 
presented to the Audit and Assurance 
Committee at agreed intervals

Part 5G, FR6, para 23.4 Section 151 Officer

Agree any changes to financial procedures, 
records, systems and accounts

Part 5G, FR6, para 24.3 Section 151 Officer 

Issue close of accounts guidance Part 5G, FR7, para 25.1 Section 151 Officer 
Ensure accounting entries are processed 
according to the specified timetable

Part 5G, FR6, para 25.2 Section 151 Officer 

Ensure annual statement of accounts is 
prepared and signed as a true and fair view of 
the financial position

Part 5G, FR7, para 25.3 Section 151 Officer 

109



Determine the accounting system, procedures 
and records for the Council and provide 
guidance on all accounting matters

Part 5G, FR7, para 26.1 Section 151 Officer 

Ensure financial data is maintained accurately 
and reliably, and is updated. Ensure 
directorates have appropriate access

Part 5G, FR7, para 26.2 Section 151 Officer 

Certifying financial returns, grant claims and 
other periodic financial reports

Part 5G, FR7, para 26.4 Section 151 Officer 

Providing appropriate tax advice is available to 
Directors

Part 5G, FR8, para 27.1 Section 151 Officer 

Ensure tax records are maintained and tax 
payments made

Part 5G, FR8, para 27.3 Section 151 Officer 

Store tax related documents in a readily 
accessible way in accordance with the Council’s 
data retention policy

Part 5G, FR8, para 27.4 Section 151 Officer 

Make safe and efficient arrangements for 
receipt and collection of monies

Part 5G, FR9, para 28.1 Section 151 Officer 

Issue directions on the collection, recording, 
storage and banking of funds due to the Council

Part 5G, FR9, para 28.2 Section 151 Officer 

Ensure that income is recorded in the Council’s 
financial systems

Part 5G, FR9, para 28.3 Section 151 Officer 

Provide directions to Directors on recording 
income transactions. Provide advice on 
amending records or income collection systems.

Part 5G, FR9, para 28.4 Section 151 Officer 

Maintaining records of debts raised and notified 
for collection and for collection of debts

Part 5G, FR9, para 29.1 Section 151 Officer 

Agree the format and timescales for Directors to 
report on the collection of income and debt

Part 5G, FR9, para 29.3 Section 151 Officer 

Approve the write off of debts less than £50 Part 5G, FR9, para 30.3 Section 151 Officer 
Agree exceptional circumstances to prevent the 
writing off of debts

Part 5G, FR9, para 30.2 Section 151 Officer 

Approve the form of records used for recording 
the writing off of debts

Part 5G, FR9, para 30.4 Section 151 Officer 

Make appropriate adjustments on the corporate 
financial system following debt write-offs

Part 5G, FR9, para 30.5 Section 151 Officer 

110



Advise on the establishment and operation of 
trading accounts

Part 5G, FR9, para 31.3 Section 151 Officer 

Making safe and efficient arrangements for the 
issue of moneys payable by the Council

Part 5G, FR9, para 32.1 Section 151 Officer 

Issue procedures and guidance on the ordering 
and payment of goods and services

Part 5G, FR9, para 32.2 Section 151 Officer 

Ensuring expenditure is recorded on the 
Council’s corporate financial systems 

Part 5G, FR9, para 32.4 Section 151 Officer 

Issue procedures and guidance on the prompt 
certification and payment of invoices

Part 5G, FR9, para 32.5 Section 151 Officer 

Appointing appropriately experienced, trained 
and qualified staff that are competent to perform 
financial management and administration 
effectively

Part 5G, FR9, para 33.3 Section 151 Officer 

Receive notifications, and determine the 
process and information required in any notice, 
for the establishment of funds where the Council 
is to act as trustee

Part 5G, FR10, para 35.2 Section 151 Officer 

Unless the trust deed or a decision of the 
trustees states the contrary, to act as treasurer 
of trusts

Part 5G, FR10, para 35.3 Section 151 Officer 

Determining the process to ensure adequate 
financial management of external funding 
arrangements

Part 5G, FR10, para 36.7 Section 151 Officer 

Certify all grant claims and maintain a register of 
all grant income

Part 5G, FR10, para 36.8 Section 151 Officer 

Ensuring funding notified from external bodies is 
received and recorded

Part 5G, FR10, para 36.9 Section 151 Officer 

Determining the process to ensure adequate 
financial management of strategic and 
commercial contracts or partnership 
agreements

Part 5G, FR10, para36.13 Section 151 Officer 

Receiving declarations of personal interests in 
contracts

Part 5H, para 2.8 Section 151 Officer 

111



Agree strategically significant partnerships with 
the relevant director and S151 Officer before a 
recommendation is made to Cabinet. 

Toolkit for Partnership Working Section 151 Officer 

Section 151 Officer 

Head of Paid Service

Function Source

Requesting a special meeting of Council Part 5A, para 3.1 Head of Paid Service 
Where two of the monitoring officer, S151 officer 
and head of paid service agree, call a Cabinet 
meeting

Part 5B, para 2.8 Head of Paid Service

Attend Cabinet Part 5D, para 21.2 Head of Paid Service  
If there is a disagreement between the Chair 
and AD Corporate Governance over the 
inclusion of an item on the agenda for Council 
or a committee, the Head of Paid Service will 
decide if the item should go on the agenda

Part 6C, para 11.4 Head of Paid Service 
Change AD Corporate 
Governance to Monitoring 
Officer  

Chief Executive

Function Source Amendment 
Make announcements at ordinary meetings of 
Council

Part 5A, para 2(d) Head of Paid Service 

Requesting a special meeting of Council Part 5A, para 3.1 Head of Paid Service 
Receive notice that any five members request a 
meeting of Council

Part 5A, para 3.1 Head of Paid Service 

Determine the time and place of a Council 
meeting, if not determined by Council or a 
relevant committee

Part 5A, para 5 Head of Paid Service 

Give notice to the public of the time and place of 
a Council meeting and give Members at least 5 
clear days’ notice of meetings. 

Part 5A, para 6 Head of Paid Service 

112



In consultation with the Chair, and political 
groups, postpone meetings

Part 5A, para 7 Head of Paid Service 

Receive notice of amendments to the scheme 
relating to Cabinet functions

Part 5B, para 1.9 Head of Paid Service 

Update the constitution following receipt of 
amendments to the scheme relating to Cabinet 
functions

Part 5B, para 1.10 Head of Paid Service 

Present a report to the next Council setting out 
the changes proposed by the Leader

Part 5B, para 1.11 Head of Paid Service 

Comply with the Leaders requests for placing 
items on the Cabinet agenda

Part 5B, para 2.4 Head of Paid Service 

Comply with a Cabinet Members request to 
place an item on the Cabinet agenda

Part 5B, para 2.5 Head of Paid Service 

Place items on the Cabinet agenda where a 
Scrutiny Board, Local Committee or full Council, 
have resolved that the item be considered.

Part 5B, para 2.6 Head of Paid Service 

Where two of the monitoring officer, S151 officer 
and head of paid service agree, call a Cabinet 
meeting

Part 5B, para 2.8 Head of Paid Service 

After every Cabinet or Local Committee produce 
a record of every decision taken at the meeting 

Part 5D, para 18.1 Head of Paid Service 

Attend Cabinet Part 5D, para 21.2 Head of Paid Service 
Ensure the Annual Governance Statement is 
produced (along with the Leader)

Part 5G, FR6, para 24.6 Head of Paid Service 

Ensuring there is effective leadership and 
management for all staff and agreed systems 
for determining remuneration 

Part 5G, FR9, para 33.1 Head of Paid Service 

Approve interim contracts for staff and 
consultants

Part 5G, FR9, para 34.6 Head of Paid Service 

Receive notification if a group leader becomes 
involved in a dispute between members and 
officers

Part 6C, para 6.5 Head of Paid Service 

Receive requests from members for information 
and advice

Part 6C, para 7.1 Head of Paid Service 

113



To receive requests from the Leader and Group 
Leaders for background and further information 
in relation to an item of businesses 

Part 6C, para 7.3 Head of Paid Service 

To receive applications for private advice in 
confidence

Part 6C, para 7.7 Head of Paid Service 

To receive requests for an officer to attend a 
Group meeting

Part 6C, para 9.3 Head of Paid Service 

To determine if officers can attend Group 
meetings

Part 6C, para 9.4 Head of Paid Service 

To take appropriate action (if the Group Leader 
does not) as a result of breach of the 
Member/Officer Protocol 

Part 6C, para 9.8 Head of Paid Service 

To advise on areas of difficulty or uncertainty in 
the Member/Officer Protocol

Part 6C, para 9.11 Head of Paid Service 

If there is a disagreement between the Chair 
and AD Corporate Governance over the 
inclusion of an item on the agenda for Council 
or a committee, the Head of Paid Service will 
decide if the item should go on the agenda

Part 6C, para 11.4 Head of Paid Service 
Replace AD Corporate Governance with 
“an Executive Director” 

Communicate the anti-fraud policy to Members 
and employees (along with the Corporate and 
Assistant Directors)

Part 6D, para 6.1 Section 151 Officer

Identifying, documenting and managing risks of 
fraud (along with the Corporate and Assistant 
Directors)

Part 6D, para 6.2 Section 151 Officer  

Assistant Director - Business Services 

Function Source Amendment 
Receive notices of gifts and hospitality 
offered as part of a tender process

Part 5H, para 2.9 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

Be consulted on the development of 
approved lists

Part 5H, para 5.8 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

Be consulted on establishing a framework in 
excess of four years

Part 5H, para 5.13 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community  Services

114



Review the position where it is likely that a 
contract will exceed its estimated Total Value 
as a result of extensions and consult with the 
Chief Legal Officer

Part 5H, para 5.23 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

Approve exemptions in consultation with the 
Chief Legal Officer

Part 5H, para 5.24 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

Not approve exemptions that would breach 
the Regulations

Part 5H, para 5.25 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and  Community Services 

Retain a record of all exemptions approved Part 5H, para 5.29 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

Exempt a procurement from the need to use 
the E-Tendering Portal

Part 5H, para 6.2 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

Approve the acceptance of late bids with the 
Chief Legal Officer

Part 5H, para 6.9 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

Grant permission to discuss adjustments in 
price, delivery or content of a specification 
after the submission of tenders

Part 5H, para 6.34 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

In consultation with the Chief Legal Officer, 
approve modifications

Part 5h, para 7.11 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer & 
Community Services

Assistant Director -  Property & Capital Programme

Function Source Amendment 
Developing a Capital Programme and, in 
consultation with the Director of Finance, 
ensure the Capital Programme is prepared 
annually 

Part 5G, FR1, Para 1.10 Assistant Director – Economy & 
Environment

Be consulted by Executive Directors in 
relation to the preparation of a five year 
forward capital programme

Part 5G, FR1, para 1.11 Assistant Director – Economy & 
Environment

Authorise a virement between schemes of up 
to £250k

Part 5G, FR2, para 6.9 (& Annex B of Part 5G) Assistant Director – Economy & 
Environment

Review use of surplus assets Part 5G, FR3, para 12.1 Assistant Director – Economy & 
Environment

115



Be consulted on non-open market or CAT 
disposals

Part 5G, FR3, Para 12.5 Assistant Director – Economy & 
Environment

 Corporate Director – Resources & Transformation

Function Source Amendment 
Ensure the Council has an effective 
information management strategy, 
infrastructure and capability

Part 5G, FR5, para 21.1 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

Ensuring staff and members are paid 
securely, accurately and timely. Maintaining 
systems and records and provide information 
to update finance systems

Part 5G, FR9, para 34.1 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

Establish an approved list Part 5H, para 5.8 Executive Director – Corporate, Customer 
and Community Services

116



CURRENT TERMS OF REFERENCE APPENDIX 6

Part 2D: Local Committees
1 Summary 

1.1 The six Local Committees are based on district council boundaries and their 
membership includes all members whose electoral divisions fall within the 
Local Committee area.  The size of each Local Committee therefore varies.

1.2 The six Local Committees take decisions on a wide range of local issues within 
policies set by the Council and/or Cabinet.  

2 Functions of Local Committee 

2.1 Local Committees have Executive and Non-Executive functions. Executive 
decisions of Local Committees are subject to call-in. 

2.2 Local Committees, in exercising their functions (both executive and non-
executive), must comply with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework and  
the policies of the Council as adopted and endorsed by the Council or Cabinet.

2.3 A Local Committee is able to arrange for its functions to be carried out by an 
officer of the County Council.

Executive Functions 

2.4 The executive functions of the Local Committees are to:

(a) Produce an Area Plan and Area Delivery Plans which help shape 
services and places within the area.

(b) Consider and approve proposals for local economic initiatives. 

(c) Receive quarterly reports on the performance management of services 
devolved to Local Committees.

(d) Provide oversight of the services provided or procured by the County 
Council, including assessing local needs for money advice (including 
debt advice support commissioned externally) across their area, the 
value of current services to local communities in the context of the 
Council’s policies and plans and the needs for future provision and 
procurement services.

117



(e) Support the development of debt rescue and money advice including the 
development of Credit Unions across their area.

(f) Encourage community engagement and enable communities to make 
their voices heard, the local committee will:

(i) Make arrangements to secure dialogue with communities within 
their area by:

 Establishing and operating Neighbourhood Forums

 Working with district and parish councils, PCT, police and 
other community bodies serving the interests of their area.

 Regularly review the operation of these arrangements and 
make changes to secure the improvement of community 
engagement throughout their area.

(ii) Consider and address issues raised through, liaison groups, parish 
and town councils and other community bodies and make relevant 
recommendations to Cabinet, and to partners.

(iii) Co-ordinate for the Council processes for consultation and 
engagement with local communities and arrange consultation with 
communities on matters referred to them by the Council, the 
Cabinet, another Committee or County Council officers.

(iv) Lead on the Council’s local participatory budgeting work, ensuring 
that this activity positively contributes towards the prioritisation of 
budgets.

(v) Liaise on behalf of local communities with County Council 
departments and other public bodies and utilities.

(vi) Pursue local initiatives that will encourage and support local 
communities in their relationships with the Council, County Council 
services and with other public bodies.

(vii) Contribute to the formulation of all strategies, plans and policies of 
the Council with reference to the circumstances and characteristics 
of their area.

(g) Exercise the powers and duties of the County Council in respect of 
school crossing patrols. 

118



(h) Determine applications for grants, loans and contributions to outside 
bodies, voluntary organisations, individuals or third sector organisations 
(which are not specifically delegated to an officer) within a policy 
approved by the Cabinet.

(i) Approve grants on the recommendation of bodies or persons approved 
by the Local Committee to make recommendations in respect of grants 
for the Local Committee area, where the proposed grant is more than 
£5,000.

(j) Make grants to third sector organisations to meet part or the whole of the 
cost to the organisation of leasing County Council premises within a 
policy approved by the Cabinet.

(k) Make a financial subsidy to third sector organisations leasing premises 
from the Council.  

(l) Nominate local authority governors to maintained schools. 

(m) Determine the level and nature of community engagement and 
empowerment work in the area. 

(n) Annually review the impact of the Local Committee and wider County 
Council community consultation, engagement and empowerment activity 
within their area, and develop an action plan to improve the local 
effectiveness of these activities.

(o) Allocate, in accordance with the guidance agreed by Cabinet (on 3 
March 2011), funds from the 0-19 services budget in order to support 
positive activities, both targeted and mainstream, designed to improve 
outcomes for children and young people and reduce inequalities and, in 
doing so, ensure that projects should address at least one of the 
following criteria: 
(i) Providing access to play, recreational, leisure or outdoor activities. 
(ii) Providing access to care or educational activities. 
(iii) Providing access to safe and enjoyable places for children and 

young people to go.
(iv) Providing access to holiday, weekend or out of school activities.
(v) Enabling children and young people’s involvement and participation 

e.g. forum, youth council, engagement, empowerment, decision-
making.

(vi) Supporting children and young people to take part in volunteering 
or community action.

119



The maximum individual amount that an officer may be authorised by the 
Local Committee to allocate shall be £5,000.  Any allocation made by an 
officer must be reported to the next meeting of the Local Committee.

(p) Approve Local member scheme proposals, i.e. projects which offer 
benefits to communities in the electoral division concerned and help 
resolve local issues already identified through local community 
engagement and in line with the priorities within the Council Plan, and 
specific local priorities within the Area Plan for the Local Committee 
area. 

(q) Determine and deliver the following programmes, within agreed budgets, 
policies and standards: 

(i) General highway maintenance including routine cyclical 
maintenance, street lighting and hard surfacing urban rights of way.

(ii) Non-principal road structural maintenance. including; general minor 
works, danger reduction schemes, sustainable transport (cycling 
and walking) schemes individual value. 

(iii) Grass cutting, street lighting, and verge maintenance. 

(iv) Such part of the principal road structural carriageway maintenance 
budget as may be delegated by Council (the funds to be available 
only for this purpose).

(v) Maintenance of cycleways.

(vi) The delivery, within agreed budgets, of programmes for priority 
transport improvement schemes and principal road structural 
maintenance schemes.

(r) Exercise the powers and duties of the Council relating to the 
maintenance of Public Rights of Way (subject to existing delegation 
agreements with other authorities). 

(s) Name and determine the opening hours of local libraries. 

(t) Apart from Local Strategic Partnerships or bodies fulfilling that role, to 
make appointments to outside bodies not dealt with by the Council or the 
Cabinet. 

120



(u) Exercise the powers and duties of the County Council, under Parts I, II, 
and IV of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 within their Area, 
EXCEPT THAT:

(i) In relation to Traffic Regulation Orders (‘TRO’s’) which involve the 
introduction of on-street parking charges , and  those TRO’s which 
involve the changes to restrictions to accommodate the on-street 
parking charges, (which have been delegated to the Corporate 
Director - Economy and Highways) the Committee’s role will be 
limited to the initial identification of areas and streets; and 

(ii) TROs which involve the introduction of charging for on-street 
residents permits, (which have been delegated to the Corporate 
Director - Economy and Highways) are excluded. 

(v) Authorise the making of applications to the Magistrates’ Court for 
stopping up or diversion of highways within their Area, under the 
Highways Act 1980. 

(w) Consider and determine grants for public transport services within their 
area. 

(x) Exercise the Council’s functions in respect of locally based Trusts. 

(y) Authorise any powers exercisable under the Cycletracks Act 1984. 

(z) Publish schemes for the making up and adoption of private streets under 
Part XI of the Highways Act 1980. 

(aa)    Up until 20 October 2017 (when existing Gating Orders become Public 
Spaces  Protection Orders), authorise the variation or revocation of 
existing gating orders where the restrictions imposed by the orders are 
no longer expedient in all the circumstances for the purpose of reducing 
crime or anti-social behaviour

(bb) Consider any Public Spaces Protection Orders proposed to be made by 
the relevant District/Borough Council under sections 59 to 75 of the Anti-
social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, which restrict a public 
right of way.

(cc)  Apply to the Secretary of State for area designation under the    
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.

(dd) Determine  the  Council’s  position  in  respect  of  a  proposal  to 
establish  a  Business  Improvement  District  in  their  area  and  to 

121



authorise  an  officer  to  exercise  the  Council’s  vote  in  the  ballot 
relating to that proposal.

Non-Executive Functions 

2.5 The non-executive functions of the Local Committees are to:

(a) Consider reports on resilience planning for their area; 

(b) At least annually to performance monitor the local impact of Council 
services and make recommendations to improve both the Council’s 
performance and local social, environmental and economic well-being.

(c) Consider all relevant inspections reports and to make recommendations 
to the Council, Cabinet or Scrutiny Boards as appropriate;

(d) Support the development of community empowerment through locality 
working (incorporating community engagement, community governance 
and responsive management) within their area and to make 
recommendations to the Council, Cabinet or Scrutiny Boards as 
appropriate;

(e) At least annually as part of its area planning work, receive community 
profiles – including local perceptions on services – which articulate local 
needs and opinion;

(f) Engage in the review, development and redesign of neighbourhood 
services in their areas, and make recommendations to Council, Cabinet 
or Scrutiny Boards as appropriate;

(g) Engage in area property reviews, in line with the Council’s Asset 
Management Strategy.

(h) Receive regular reports on local neighbourhood services and make 
recommendations to Council, Cabinet or Scrutiny Boards on 
improvements - in light of knowledge about local communities, needs 
and opportunities in the area.

3 Membership

3.1 The membership of the Local Committees is set out in the table below.

County Council Local 
Committee for Allerdale 

Membership:The 16 County Councillors elected 
for the Allerdale area 

122



County Council Local 
Committee for Barrow in 
Furness 

Membership:The 11 County Councillors elected 
for the Barrow in Furness area 

County Council Local 
Committee for Carlisle 

Membership:The 18 County Councillors elected 
for the Carlisle area 

County Council Local 
Committee for Copeland 

Membership:The 12 County Councillors elected 
for the Copeland area 

County Council Local 
Committee for Eden 

Membership:The 9 County Councillors elected 
for the Eden area 

County Council Local 
Committee for South 
Lakeland 

Membership: The 18 County Councillors elected 
for the South Lakeland area 

N.B. for Local Committee Budget Transfers see part 5G Financial Standing Orders 
FR2 ‘Control of Resources’ paragraph 10 “Local Committee Budget Transfers”.

123



This page is intentionally left blank



CURRENT TERMS OF REFERENCE APPENDIX 7 

Part 2F: Cumbria Health and Wellbeing
Board
1 Summary

1.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board exists to provide a strategic platform for partners 
to work better together to ensure that everyone in Cumbria is able to benefit from 
improvements in health and well-being.

2 Functions of the Health and Wellbeing Board

2.1 The functions of the Health and Wellbeing Board are to:

(a) Provide a structure for strategic local planning and accountability of health and 
wellbeing related services across a range of sectors and providers.
(b) Assess the needs of the local population and lead the statutory enhanced joint 
strategic needs assessment (‘JSNA’).
(c) Formulate and ensure the delivery of a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
(d) Promote integration and partnership across areas through promoting joined–up 
working across the NHS, social care and public health.
(e) Set the direction for health and wellbeing improvements in Cumbria while 
maintaining current programmes through transition.
(f) Support and encourage strong partnership working between local organisations 
in the six localities in Cumbria involved in health and wellbeing.
(g) Respond to the NHS Commissioning Board when views are sought regarding 
the Clinical Commissioning Group (‘CCG’).
(h) Improve the transparency and accountability to local people of services, 
organisations and decision making connected to health and wellbeing.
(i) Support joint commissioning and pooling of budgets and lead commissioner 
arrangements.
(j) Oversee and review performance in the delivery of health and wellbeing 
improvements and outcomes and be accountable for the overall strategic 
performance management of agreed countywide health and wellbeing outcomes.
 (k) Actively engage with the other key partnerships to ensure achievement of 
outcomes in all agreed areas and to extend the reach of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy by ensuring alignment with other strategies and plans.
(l) Encourage wide engagement of partners throughout the Health and Wellbeing 
partnership structure by ensuring involvement in consultations, stakeholder events, 
good practice sharing, and task and finish groups.
(m) Ensure the CCG plans are consistent with the agreed Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment.

3 Voting

3.1 All members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are voting members.

125



4 Membership

4.1 The membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board comprises of:

Leader of the County Council (Chair);
Chair of each of the CCGs (one of whom will be Vice Chair);
A representative of Healthwatch Cumbria;
County Council’s Corporate Director - Health Care and Community Services;
County Council’s Corporate Director – Children and Families Services;
County Council’s Assistant Director – Public Health and Communities;
County Council Cabinet member for Health and Care Services;
County Council Cabinet member for Children’s Services;
County Council Cabinet member for Public Health and Communities;
A representative from NHS England;
A representative of the six District Councils;
The Chair of the North Cumbria University Hospitals Trust;
The Chair of the University Hospital Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust; and
The Chair of the Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.

5. Substitution

5.1 Except as provided in 5.2, 5.3 and 5.4 each member of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board may appoint one named substitute and must notify the County Council of the 
appointment.

5.2 The Leader of the Council may nominate named elected member substitutes equal 
in number to the number of County Council members appointed to the Board. 
County Council members are nominated by the Leader of the Council and 
appointed by the County Council.

5.3 The District Councils may between them appoint one named substitute.
5.4 Where members of the Board are officers of an organisation rather than elected 

members, they are permitted to nominate up to two named substitutes but only one 
can attend at any time.

5.5 Substitute members must comply with all the requirements of the Council’s Code of 
Conduct, including the registration of personal interests.

5.6 A member of the Health and Wellbeing Board who is unable to attend a meeting of 
the Board (or one of its committees) must notify the Council in writing (which 
includes by email) before the start of the meeting, giving the name of the substitute 
member who will attend in his/her place.

5.7 A substitute member has the same voting rights and responsibilities at meetings of 
the Board as the member they are substituting for, provided the Board Member is 
not in attendance.

5.8 A substitute member will be counted for the purpose of deciding whether a quorum 
is present unless he/she is also attending the meeting as a Board member.

126



COUNTY COUNCIL 

Meeting date: 15 November 2018

From: Leader of the Council

LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This paper provides information on the local and national context in 
relation to local government reorganisation. It also provides, in 
Appendix 1, a summary of the work on the status quo and options 
considered by Cumbria Leadership Board over the last 6 months. 

1.2 Cabinet is due to consider, on 20 December 2018, a proposal to 
approach the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government to seek the Government’s views on the potential for local 
government reorganisation in Cumbria, and to propose working with 
them to develop proposals for consideration. The information in this 
report is intended to inform Members’ debate on this issue at full 
Council on 15 November 2018. Members’ views and comments will 
inform Cabinet’s considerations in December.

2.0 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

2.1 This report invites member discussion on local government 
reorganisation. If at some time in the future a decision was made on 
this issue it may have significant implications on the strategic planning 
framework for the Council. The issues raised for consideration in this 
report include a focus on improving outcomes for the people of 
Cumbria in line with the Council’s Council Plan 2018 – 2022.

2.2 Financial, legal and equality implications of any future decisions will be 
considered within the relevant decision-making process.

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 That Members note this report.

3.2 That Members discuss and comment on the proposal to approach the 
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government to 
seek the Government’s views on the potential for local government 
reorganisation in Cumbria, and to propose working with them to 
develop proposals for consideration. 

127

Agenda Item 11



4.0 BACKGROUND

4.1 Following the enactment of the Local Government Act 1972, a two-tier 
structure of county and district councils was established throughout England. 
From 1986 onwards, a number of reorganisations have removed this two-tier 
structure and replaced it with unitary authorities in large parts of the country.

4.2 There are currently 124 single-tier local authorities in England (unitary 
authorities, metropolitan boroughs / districts, and London Boroughs) plus 27 
county councils and 201 district councils. Sixty-five percent of the population 
of the UK lives in single-tier council areas including all of London, Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland, all major metropolitan areas, and a number of 
shire county areas.

4.3 In 2008/09, a round of reorganisation included the creation of county unitary 
authorities in Northumberland, Durham, Cornwall, Wiltshire and Shropshire. 
Cheshire and Bedfordshire were also reorganised with the creation of 2 
unitary authorities within each county.

4.4 Following the formation of the coalition Government in 2010, the then 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government signalled a 
reluctance to consider further reorganisation. This position shifted in 2016. 
Since then a number of reorganisation proposals have been submitted and 
are being progressed.

Legislative Context

4.5 The procedures for creation of a unitary authority are set out in the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.  Under this 
legislation the Secretary of State may invite a proposal for a county or 
district, or group of districts to become unitary. On 1 November 2018, the 
Secretary of State stated that he would set out, in due course, the specific 
circumstances in which he will invite a proposal in the future. 

4.6 Within this process the Secretary of State may ask the Boundary 
Commission for Local Government in England to undertake a structural 
review of the area.

4.7 In February 2017, the Minister for Local Government set out the criteria for 
which proposals for local government reorganisation will be assessed. A 
proposal must:

 Improve the area’s local government;
 Command a good deal of local support in the area; and,
 Propose a credible geography for the proposed new structures.

4.8 In March 2018, in the invitation to local authorities in Northamptonshire to 
make a proposal to create unitary authorities, this criteria was expanded on. 
This set out that proposals must:

 be likely to improve local government and service delivery across the 
area of the proposal, giving greater value for money, generating 

128



savings, providing stronger strategic and local leadership, and which 
are more sustainable structures; 

 command a good deal of local support as assessed in the round 
overall across the whole area of the proposal; and,

 propose a credible geography for each unitary authority consisting of 
one or more existing local government areas which have a substantial 
population that at a minimum is substantially in excess of 300,000.

Recent National Developments

4.9 Since September 2016, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) has received a total of five business cases from four 
local authority areas for the creation of unitary authorities. These are 
Oxfordshire, Dorset, Northamptonshire, and two in respect of 
Buckinghamshire. 

4.10 The Secretary of State has approved and legislated for the Dorset County 
Council proposal, enabling the creation of two unitary authorities in the 
county from 1 April 2019. 

4.11 The Secretary of State announced, on 1 November 2018, his intention to 
legislate for the creation of a single unitary authority in Buckinghamshire, 
replacing the county’s existing five councils. 

4.12 These two proposals were considered under the Cities and Local 
Government Act 2016 which provides for an expedited procedure for a 
unitary proposal where not all affected local authorities consent to the 
proposal. On 1 November 2018 the Secretary of State announced that any 
future proposals (if not legislated for by 31 March 2019) where not all 
affected local authorities consent will follow the original procedure as set out 
in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

4.13 Local authorities in Northamptonshire submitted their proposal on 31 August 
2018, proposing two unitary authorities, under this original 2007 procedure. 
Further consideration of the proposal in respect of Oxfordshire has been put 
on hold pending progress on the relevant Housing Deal.

4.14 Other local authorities are now actively exploring structural change. 
Leicestershire County Council is currently consulting the public on a single 
unitary authority for the whole county but excluding the existing unitary 
authority (Leicester City Council), with a view to submitting a proposal to the 
Secretary of State in May 2019. Nottinghamshire County Council has also 
launched a public consultation to inform a case for change which will be 
considered in December. Local authorities in Somerset have also recently 
agreed to commission work to explore options for the future of local 
government in the county.

The Cumbria Context

4.15 Between March and September 2018, the Cumbria Leadership Board (CLB) 
considered 3 reports relating to local government reorganisation. The reports 
set out the changing national and local context in relation to this matter, and 

129



a range of outcome-focussed and financial information in relation to potential 
unitary authority options in Cumbria. 

4.16 The Cumbria Leadership Board is comprised of the Leaders of Cumbria 
County Council and the 6 District Councils in the county, the Cumbria Police 
and Crime Commissioner, the Chairs of the county’s 2 Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, the Chair of the Lake District National Park 
Authority, the Chair of the Cumbria Association of Local Councils (CALC), 
and the Chair of the Cumbria Third Sector Network.

4.17 The Board were supportive of change. However, on 15 August 2018, the 
Chair of the Joint Districts Groups advised the Leader of the County Council 
that there was no shared view of a way forward between the District 
Councils, and that therefore not all of the Councils would be participating in 
the further work requested by the Board at their meeting in June.

4.18 As a result, following consideration of the third paper at the September 
meeting of Cumbria Leadership Board, the Board agreed that no further joint 
work would be undertaken on this issue at this stage. They concluded that 
each of the 7 local authorities should consider the information individually if 
they wish to do so. 

Issues for Consideration

4.19 The case for change, developed through the work with partners through 
Cumbria Leadership Board, is focused around the need to achieve the 
following improvements and benefits for the people of Cumbria:

 
o increased efficiency of public services, particularly in meeting the 

challenge of increasing demand for services, and local government 
funding reform;

o improved strategic policy and delivery
 e.g. potential benefits in achieving economic growth by 

bringing together related services such as spatial planning, 
housing, transport and infrastructure;

o simplification of the public service map in Cumbria enabling 
customers to navigate services more easily; 

o opportunities and challenges for improving engagement with the 
public;

o achieving greater value for money;
o maximising the influence of, and the ability to attract funding and 

investment into, Cumbria at a regional and national level through a 
single voice; and,

o enabling customers to receive better, joined up services – supporting 
person-centred, holistic approaches

 e.g. closer connections between social care and safeguarding 
services with housing, leisure and benefits services

4.20 In January 2015, Ernst and Young (EY) set out a strategic business case for 
local government reorganisation in Cumbria on an analysis of two potential 
structural models. The analysis showed that there is the potential for annual 
savings of up to £28.3m if a single unitary authority for Cumbria was created, 
and up to £16.8m in a two unitary scenario. 

130



4.21 Analysis of the Council Tax base and forecasts for Council Tax 
harmonisation will be critical in assessing the financial sustainability of 
options for the future, and whether the population of identified geographies 
are sufficient to support financially sustainable organisations.

4.22 Appendix 1 provides a summary of the benefits analysis work carried out on 
the status quo and a number of options for change and considered by 
Cumbria Leadership Board members over the last 6 months.

Proposal

4.22. It is proposed that the Council approaches the Secretary of State to seek the 
Government’s views on the potential for local government reorganisation in 
Cumbria, and to propose working with them to develop proposals for 
consideration. Cabinet will consider this matter at the meeting to be held on 
20 December 2018.

4.23 This approach will focus on options for structural change that will enable 
local authorities and partners in Cumbria to best improve outcomes for the 
people of Cumbria, supporting financially sustainable local government and 
the delivery of vital services to communities across the county.

4.24 Council Members are asked to discuss and comment on this proposal to 
inform Cabinet’s future decision-making.

5 RESOURCE AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There are no financial implications with regards to the recommendation of 
this report, i.e. the sharing of views and comments in order to inform the 
discussion and decision that will take place at Cabinet on 20 December 
2018.

5.2 Should Cabinet in December 2018 decide to approach the Secretary of State 
to explore local government reorganisation in Cumbria then the specific 
financial implications of moving to a unitary authority, or authorities, will be 
considered as part of that process.

5.3 However previous analysis in January 2015 by Ernst and Young (EY) 
showed that there is the potential for annual savings of up to £28.3m if a 
single unitary authority for Cumbria was created, and up to £16.8m in a two 
unitary scenario.

6 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The decision to approach the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities 
and Local Government to seek the Government’s views on the potential for 
local government reorganisation in Cumbria is a Cabinet decision.  However, 
it is part of the terms of reference of Council to consider any other business 
specified in the summons of the meeting and Council can be consulted as a 
body under this provision. The Council’s views are being sought to inform 
the decision that Cabinet will make in December 2018.   

131



7 CONCLUSION

7.1 This paper provides information for Members to consider in advance of the 
opportunity for all Members of the Council to share their views and comments 
in order to inform the discussion and decision that is scheduled to take place at 
Cabinet on 20 December 2018.

Dawn Roberts
Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services

6 November 2018

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Summary of issues – exploring local government 
reorganisation in Cumbria

Electoral Division(s): All

Executive Decision No*

Key Decision No*

If a Key Decision, is the proposal published in the current Forward Plan? N/A*

Is the decision exempt from call-in on grounds of urgency? No*

N/A*If exempt from call-in, has the agreement of the Chair of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee been sought or obtained?

No*Has this matter been considered by Overview and Scrutiny?
If so, give details below.

N/A*Has an environmental or sustainability impact assessment been 
undertaken?

N/A*Has an equality impact assessment been undertaken?

PREVIOUS RELEVANT COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
[including Local Committees]

No previous relevant decisions.

CONSIDERATION BY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

Not considered by Overview and Scrutiny.

132



BACKGROUND PAPERS

No background papers.

RESPONSIBLE CABINET MEMBER

Stewart Young, Leader of the Council

REPORT AUTHOR

Contact: Clare Killeen, Strategic and Policy Advisor 
Tel. 01228 226514
Email clare.killeen@cumbria.gov.uk

133

mailto:clare.killeen@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

APPENDIX 1

SUMMARY OF ISSUES - EXPLORING LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION IN CUMBRIA

Current Structural Arrangements in Cumbria
Theme Issues for Consideration

7 local authorities – 1 County Council and 6 District Councils

7 decision-making, management and staffing structures

Split of responsibilities between County and District tiers:
County Council responsibilities

 Social Care for adults and children
 Public Health
 Education
 Libraries
 Highways and Transport
 Strategic Planning
 Economic Development
 Waste Disposal
 Fire and Rescue Services
 Trading Standards
 Birth, Marriage and Death registration

District / Borough Council responsibilities
 Collection of council tax and non-domestic 

rates
 Waste collection
 Housing
 Local Plans and Planning Applications
 Economic Development
 Environmental health
 Recreation and Leisure Centres
 Public conveniences

There are risks that existing transformation and improvement plans across the 7 local authorities will 
not deliver the scale of reform and efficiency across the system to meet growing demand for services 
and budgetary challenges

Overview

There are opportunities to improve and enhance joint working across the 7 local authorities and 
partners, e.g. enhanced joint working on waste, public health, health and social care integration

135



2

Theme Issues for Consideration
County Council and District Council locality arrangements are in place alongside each other, plus 
Parish / Town Councils

Place-based 

Some examples of effective joined up working across 3 tiers (including Parish / Town Councils) are in 
place at locality level  with a variety of arrangements across the county

Multiple customer pathways are in place

Evidence that local government services appear fragmented and confusing from a customer 
perspective

Customer Experience

Potential for simplification and increased efficiency across local authorities in terms of customer access 
and customer service

A number of key strategic partnerships in place on countywide footprints, e.g. Cumbria LEP

A number of partnerships in place on different geographies, e.g. economic partnership between 
Barrow-in-Furness, South Lakeland and Lancaster

Clinical Commissioning Groups operate on alternative boundaries – not to county or district boundaries

Partnership working

Integrated Care Communities being established – reflecting GP patient flows

136



3

Opportunities from Reorganisation
Theme Issues for Consideration

Potential for increased simplification and efficiency

Potential annual savings of up to £24.6 million could be achieved directly as a result of reorganisation, 
and further savings could be realised through transformation of services 
Indicative figures based on an updating of EY calculation (2015) based on 2018/19 budgeted expenditure

Potential for increased focus on delivery of frontline services resulting from rationalisation and 
simplification of democratic, organisational and back-office structures

Potential to strengthen and consolidate coherent lobbying messages for Cumbria at a local, regional 
and national level

Potential for simplification and reduced complexity of partnership working arrangements

General

Potential for strengthening, increasing and aggregating expertise and buying power in respect of key 
services

Potential for simplification of locality arrangements focused on outcomes for the community

Opportunities to join up strategic and spatial planning – including housing and infrastructure - across an 
area

Opportunities to increase effectiveness of use and management of public sector assets across an area

Opportunities to join-up key services with significant impact on health and wellbeing across an area, 
e.g. public health, public protection, safeguarding, housing, leisure, environmental health

Place - based

Potential to join up waste collection and disposal services for an area

137



4

Theme Issues for Consideration
Opportunities to improve customer experience through a coherent customer approach for an area – 
supported by streamlining of internal infrastructure, back office functions and process redesign

Customer Experience

Opportunities to improve integration of the ‘digital offer’ for customers in an area

Partnership working Opportunities to streamline partnership working arrangements across an area

138



AUDIT AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE

Minutes of a meeting of the Audit and Assurance Committee held on Monday, 17 
September 2018 at 10.30 am at Conference Room A, Cumbria House, Botchergate, 
Carlisle

PRESENT:

Mrs HF Carrick (Chair)

Mrs PA Bell
Mr SB Collins
Mr LN Fisher

Mr NH Marriner
Ms C McCarron-Holmes

Also in Attendance:-

Mr J Burgess- - Resilience Manager
Mr C Cox - Director of Public Health
Mrs J Crellin - Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer)
Mrs J Currie - Senior Democratic Services Officer
Mr G Kelly - Associate Director - Grant Thornton
Mrs H Kirk - Corporate Risk Manager
Ms I Puzio - Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer)
Dr D Roberts - Executive Director - Corporate, Customer and Community Services
Mr S Tweedie - Customer Services Manager
Mr P Usher - Audit Manager
Mr JB Wright - Assistant Audit Manager

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

28 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

An apology for absence was received from Mr A McGuckin. 

29 MEMBERSHIP

There were no changes in membership to note for this meeting.

30 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest made on this occasion.
 

31 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, the press and public be not excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any items of business on the agenda.

139

Agenda Item 13a



2

32 MINUTES

RESOLVED that, the minutes of the previous meeting held on Monday 17 
September 2018 be agreed with the following amendment:-

Immediately before Item 27 – Independence and Ethics insert an additional heading 
‘PART II – ITEMS NOT CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND 
PRESS’.
  

33 PRESENTATION - EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS ARRANGEMENTS

Members received a presentation from the Director of Public Health and the 
Resilience Manager. The Director of Public Health introduced the presentation, 
which covered the following:-

 Continuous Improvement
 Lessons learned
 Validation
 Milestones
 Governance
 Achievements
 De-briefing

Members requested that a copy of the updated presentation be circulated by email 
to the committee.  This was AGREED. 

One of the members asked how small an event had to be before it qualified as 
needing emergency preparedness.  She wondered if events such as Kendal Calling 
and Appleby would fall into this category.

The Resilience Manager said there was a fine line between the top end of ‘business 
as usual’ and ‘emergency preparedness’.  In relation to events such as Kendal 
Calling the resilience team assist in the initial discussions and plans.  The team look 
at very high risk issues and plan for them and also consider common 
consequences.  Plans were in place to assist with dealing with the consequences of 
such events as needed.

The Resilience Manager outlined instances when the teams were involved with 
major incidents, and often in advance of major incidents being declared, such as in 
the recent summer drought situation.  Phone conferences had taken place recently 
to discuss the possible drought situation even though it did not materialise.

In relation to a question from one of the members the Resilience Manager outlined 
the facilities in place throughout the county to deal with emergency situations  

Members asked a question about the involvement of other directorates during 
emergency situations and emergency planning.  The Resilience Manager gave 
examples of situations where other directorates were involved and emphasised the 
‘make friends before you need them’ approach used within the County Council.

140



3

Members asked whether any lessons had been learned from the Wannacry Attack.  
The Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services said there 
were a number of lessons learned from this and she reassured members that 
constant checks and reviews took place on the IT system.  However, cyber attack 
was on the corporate risk register and would remain there.

The Chair thanked the Director of Public Health and the Resilience Manager for 
their informative presentation. 
 

34 2018/19 QUARTER 1 CORPORATE RISK REPORT

Members received a report from the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) which 
provided them with a progress update on the refreshed 2018/19 corporate risks for 
the first quarter to 30 June 2018.  

The Director of Finance said the ongoing review of Corporate risks was an iterative 
process to develop a more integrated and holistic view of performance and 
assurance across the Council by; improving links between risk, performance and 
finance reporting and integration with the business assurance framework.  

Members noted that the refreshed corporate risks had been reviewed by Corporate 
Management Team, and had been commented upon by Cabinet at their briefing 
meeting in September. The corporate risk register was presented in this paper to 
provide assurance to the Audit & Assurance Committee that the Council’s current 
Risk Management arrangements were both robust and effective.

Members also noted the risk management activity in quarter 1 and that planned for 
quarter 2, including

 a new Performance and Risk Management Framework (PRMF) agreed at 
Cabinet in June 2018 and an action plan in place to address the 
implementation of this framework to ensure a consistent approach is 
embedded across the Council regarding Performance & Risk 
Management arrangements;

 a risk workshop held with Extended Leadership Team to refresh the 
Corporate Risk Register for 2018/19, in line with the new Council Plan 
Delivery Plan and Extended Leadership Team reshaping.  The outcome 
of this workshop had since been translated into the refreshed Strategic 
Risk Register for 2018/19;

 meetings taken place throughout June and July with the relevant 
Assistant Directors and or Senior Managers responsible to refresh all 
corporate risk descriptions and identify the key controls and measures in 
place to manage these risks;

 reshaping of the Extended Leadership Team provided a further 
opportunity to combine some of the corporate risks that were previously 
split between two separate Directorates and also to integrate other risks 
that had a high degree of dependency. 

141



4

The Director of Finance specifically highlighted the work that had been undertaken 
to implement the new General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR).

The new General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) came into force on 25 May 
2018. Since then, the Council had developed a GDPR Phase 2 Implementation 
project that would continue to develop and improve the areas of Information 
Security, Information Asset Management, Data & Records Management and 
ongoing communication and staff training.

To support the Council in embedding the General Data Protection Regulations, 
Zurich Municipal alongside the Council’s Data Protection Officer had delivered a 
number of training workshops for elected members.  The workshops took place on 
21 & 22 May and the 20 July, with one further training workshop planned for 5 
September 2018. 

The Director of Finance advised members that there were currently 12 risks on the 
Quarter 1 Corporate Risk Register, including 8 high risks and 4 medium risks.

The Council’s High Risks at Quarter 1 included:-

 Prevention of & Placement Sufficiency for Children Looked After 
 Workforce Capacity
 Care needs & continuity of care
 Management of Significant Contracts
 Deliver a Financially Sustainable Authority  
 Information Security arrangements
 Waste Management Contract
 Learning Disability Partnership arrangements

Appendix 2 of the report provided the detailed narrative and position statement of 
each of the 12 risks. 

Members noted that Management of Significant Contracts was a new risk added to 
the register during Quarter 1 and two risks had been removed from the register - 
Standards in Secondary Schools, and the Radicalisation of Young People.  

Members of the Audit and Assurance Committee welcomed the new reporting 
approach for the corporate risks, and the revision of the approach to managing 
risks.

Members were pleased to hear that officers were still promoting GDPR training for 
elected members and noted the update.  They asked that officers contact the 
Leadership Support Officers to try to encourage members to take up the offer of 
training.  The Executive Director said this was already in progress.

Members were particularly interested in the risk about Brexit and asked for an 
assurance that the County Council was being proactive about this.

The Executive Director explained that an officer working group had been 
established to consider the possible risks and the opportunities Brexit may present.  

142



5

Members noted that the Executive Director chaired this group, and looked forward 
to receiving information on this in future meetings.   

The Chair suggested that, in consultation with the Vice Chair, she would select a 
risk from the corporate risk register for a deep dive analysis exercise at the next 
meeting to illustrate and investigate the new approach to corporate risk reporting.  
Members supported this suggestion.

The Chair asked all members to feed in any suggestions to herself and the Vice 
Chair.      

RESOLVED that, 

(1) Members note the content of the report, and agree that it provides 
sufficient assurance that the current Risk Management arrangements are 
both robust and effective;

(2) Members agree that the Chair and Vice Chair determine a schedule of 
risk updates to be delivered to the Committee by the relevant Assistant 
Director(s) in advance of the meetings.    

35 LOCAL GOVERNMENT & SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN - ANNUAL 
REVIEW LETTER 2018

The Audit and Assurance Committee considered a report from the Executive 
Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services which provided members 
with information relating to complaints made to the Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman (LG&SCO) regarding Cumbria County Council for the year ended 
March 2018.

The County Council received its annual letter on 18 July 2018, and members noted 
that for 2017/18 there were 64 complaints or enquiries received to the LG&SCO. 

The overall summary position for the 12 month period to 31 March 2018 showed 
decisions were made by the LG&SCO for 59 of the 64 complaints and enquiries in 
2017/18.  This compared with 49 in 2016/17, 56 in 2015/16 and 43 in 2014/15.

Decisions taken by the LG&SCO on complaints/enquiries were categorised as:- 

 Upheld – these were complaints that had been investigated and where it 
had been decided that an authority had been at fault in how it acted, 
which may or may not have caused an injustice to the complainant. 
Alternatively, the authority may have accepted that it needed to remedy 
the complaint before the LG&SCO made a finding of fault.  If the 
LG$SCO decided that there was a fault that caused an injustice, they 
would usually recommend that the Council took some action to redress 
matters.

 Not Upheld – the LG&SCO had investigated a complaint and decided that 
the Council had not acted with fault.

143



6

 Advice Given – these were cases where advice was provided explaining 
why the LG&SCO would not deal with the complaint, for example 
because the body that was the subject of the complaint was not within the 
LG&SCOs scope or the LG&SCO had previously looked at the same 
complaint from the complainant or alternatively another agency was 
better placed to help the complainant.

 Closed after initial enquiries – this arose when the LG&SCO had made 
an early decision not to investigate a complaint.  This was usually 
because the complaint was outside the LG&SCOs jurisdiction or it was 
considered inappropriate to pursue.  

 Incomplete/Invalid – these were complaints that had insufficient 
information provided by the complainant to enable the LG&SCO to decide 
what should happen with their complaint or alternatively the complainant 
had indicated that they no longer wished to pursue a complaint.

 Referred back for local resolution – the LG&SCO worked on the principle 
that it was always best that complaints were resolved by the service 
provider wherever possible.  

Of the 59 LG&SCO decisions received in 2017/18, detailed investigations were 
carried out for 20 cases. Of the 20 cases investigated, 11 cases (55%) were upheld 
finding some fault with the Council’s handling of the complaint; with 9 cases (45%) 
not upheld.  This was a slight increase in cases considered being upheld compared 
to 2016/17 when 8 out of the 15 cases investigated were upheld (53%).  N.B. Of the 
11 complaints upheld 1 was found to have been satisfactorily resolved by the 
Council before the LG&SCO involvement.

In 2017-18 where the LG&SCO made recommendations to remedy complaints 
these were implemented by the Council in all 10 cases. This represented a 
compliance rate by the Council of 100%. 

In relation to the 11 upheld cases considered during 2017/18 members noted the 
remedial action recommended by the LG&SCO and action taken by the Council to 
ensure learning from the complaints.

Members were reassured to see that in each of the cases a learning action was 
included in the narrative. They felt this was a positive step to ensure the learning 
was embedded into future processes.

One member asked for assurance that a process was in place for linking the 
findings to the Scrutiny process.

The Executive Director reassured the members that DMT’s considered these 
findings and if they felt there were patterns or concerns about any of them these 
would be discussed with members of Scrutiny.   

RESOLVED that, members note the report and annual letter for 2018.

144



7

36 INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT TO 31 JULY 2018

Members considered a report from the Acting Group Audit Manager which provided 
a summary of the work of Internal Audit for the six months up to 31 July 2018.

Key points to note were:-

 Reviews in Adults (Health & Care) were progressing with three draft 
reports issued and fieldwork underway on two audits. Finalisation of 
these five pieces of work alongside further reviews during the year would 
build towards sufficient coverage in this area for the Head of Internal 
Audit to provide the 2018/19 annual opinion.  

 Work was progressing on the completion of outstanding 2017/18 audit 
work (planned to be completed in 18/19) and on new work from the 
2018/19 audit plan. At this stage in the year it was anticipated that 
sufficient overall coverage would be achieved to enable the Head of 
Internal Audit to deliver the annual opinion.

 There had been an amendment to the audit plan with the audit of S106 
agreements being expanded to include S38 and S278 agreements.  This 
would result in a broader review of developer contributions.

This report provides an update on the work of internal audit for the four months up to 
31 July 2018 and included a summary of the outcomes of audit reviews completed 
in the period where these were not included in the 2017/18 annual audit report.  This 
included audits brought forward from 2016/17 and 2017/18 which also formed part 
of Internal Audit’s work plan for 2018/19.

78 internal audit reviews were included in Internal Audit’s work plan for 2018/19, and 
members noted that further details of these were provided at Appendix 2 of the 
report.

The 2018/19 audit plan now included 24 follow up reviews, some of which had been 
carried forward from 2017/18.  Other work such as grant claims; National Fraud 
Initiative; support for projects; summary findings reports (ie on schools) and ad hoc 
investigations were not included in these figures as work in these areas was not 
quantifiable in advance and may not always result in a written report.

The Acting Group Audit Manager said 5 reviews had been completed at 31 July and 
these comprised two school audits; one risk based review; one follow up review and 
one grant claim.

12 audits had been completed to draft report stage and the outcomes of these were 
reviewed as set out in Appendix 1 of the report.
 
Members had concerns about the findings from the audit undertaken at Hawkshead 
School and asked for reassurances that plans were in place to resolve these issues.  
The Audit Manager updated members and said the school and its Governing Body 
had all signed up to an Action Plan to ensure improvements were achieved.  
Members suggested the school should be mentored by one of the governing bodies 
at a better performing school.  Officers agreed that this was a good idea.

145



8

One member asked whether it would be possible to share the learning from the 
audits with other schools/governing bodies.  The Director of Finance responded that 
the responsibility for governance sat with each school governing body, however, a 
composite internal audit report (which collated common findings across a number of 
school audits) would be shared with the Schools Forum for the group to consider for 
shared learning and possible mentoring opportunities. The Schools Forum would be 
informed of the concerns the Audit Committee has raised about the financial 
management of schools.

Members were pleased to note the commitment of Adults (Health and Care) to 
engage with the audit plan, given the issues reported in 2017/18.  

In relation to follow up audits the Chair highlighted the requirement that the Head of 
Audit maintained an effective follow up of internal audit recommendations.  However 
she referred members back to paragraphs 4.6 and 4.7 where there were 24 follow 
up audits, which was about 30% of the total number of audits in the 2018/19 
workplan.  She wanted to investigate the balance between carrying out follow up 
audits and implementing a risk based approach.

The Audit Manager felt this was a good point and acknowledged that follow up 
reviews were now a significant proportion of the audit plan.  This reflected the high 
number of audit reports in previous years that had less than reasonable assurance.   
As controls had been assessed as providing only partial or limited assurances these 
areas were still considered high risk and entirely appropriate for an audit plan based 
on risk.

RESOLVED that, the report be received and noted. 

37 (GRANT THORNTON ITEMS)

(A) Annual Audit Letter 2018/19

Grant Thornton presented their annual audit letter for Cumbria County Council, 
which summarised the key findings from the work carried out at Cumbria County 
Council and its subsidiaries and Cumbria Local Government Pensions Scheme for 
the year ended 31 March 2018.  This reflected the Audit Findings Report presented 
to the committee in July. 

The key messages of the Audit Findings Reports had been that Grant Thornton had 
issued an unqualified audit opinion on both the County Council and the Cumbria 
LGPS sets of 2017/18 Accounts. There were no recommendations in the Audit 
Findings Reports in relation to the financial statements.

Grant Thornton had issued an “except for” Value for Money conclusion for Cumbria 
County Council in respect of securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
use of resources. The “except for” conclusion was in relation to the embedding of 
contract management procedures.  The Associate Director repeated that with the 
exception of the matters reported above the Auditors had been satisfied that in all 

146



9

significant respect the Council put in proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be received and noted.

(B) External Audit Progress and Update Report 2018/19

The Associate Director (Grant Thornton) presented the External Audit Progress and 
Update Report 2018/19 which detailed progress in delivering their responsibilities as 
the County Council’s external auditors.

The Associate Director gave members an update on the introduction of a new 
methodology and software, which should improve their efficiency.  Members noted 
this.

The Audit Manager tabled two reports from the National Audit Office, for information 
only:-

The Vibrant Economy Index
Care Homes for the elderly: Where are we now. .  
 
RESOLVED that the report be received and noted.

38 FORWARD PLAN - AUDIT AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE

The updated Forward Plan was noted.

39 DATE & TIME OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting will be held on 11 December 2018 at Cumbria House, Carlisle at 
10.30am
 

The meeting ended at 1.15 pm

147



This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA PENSIONS COMMITTEE

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cumbria Pensions Committee held on Tuesday, 11 
September 2018 at 1.00 pm at Mercer Ltd, 15 Lauriston Place, Edinburgh EH3 9EG

PRESENT:

Mr MH Worth (Chair)

County Councillors

Mr SB Collins
Mr J Airey
Mr NH Marriner (Vice-Chair)
Mrs H Wall

Mr P Thornton
Dr S Haraldsen
Mr LN Fisher

District Council Representative
 
Ms G Troughton

 

Other Representatives:-

Mr T Gardener
Mr A Sutherland

- Investment Advisor
- Investment Advisor

Also in Attendance:-

Mrs J Crellin
Ms A Clark

- Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer)
- Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services 

(Deputy S151 Officer – Pensions)
Ms D Purvis - Finance Manager - Pensions & Treasury
Mr P George - Group Finance Manager - Pensions Investments & 

Insurance
Ms L Taylor - Finance Manager

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

90 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Ms T Barber and Mr K McDonald.

149

Agenda Item 13b



2

91 TERMS OF REFERENCE AND MEMBERSHIP

The Terms of Reference and Membership of the Board were noted by the 
Committee.

92 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Ms G Troughton disclosed that she was a Deferred Member of the Fund and a 
member of Copeland Borough Council.

93 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that that the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following reports:

Item 15 –  Update on Developments with Border to Coast 

Item 16 –  Monitoring Report for the Quarter Ended 30 June 2018 

Item 17 –  Emerging issues

Item 18 – Cumbria LGPS Investment Sub Group Activity Report to July 2018 

as these contained exempt information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information) by virtue of 
Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

94 MINUTES

Dr Haraldsen corrected his title from Mr to Dr.

RESOLVED that  subject to the correction above, the Minutes of the meeting held 
on 12 June 2018 were approved as a correct record.

95 REPRESENTATION FROM NON COUNTY COUNCIL EMPLOYERS AND 
DISTRICT COUNCILS

There were no representations made to this meeting of the Cumbria Pensions 
Committee.

96 SCHEDULE OF FUTURE MEETINGS

The Committee noted the Schedule of future meetings that had been published with 
the Agenda.

97 MINUTES OF CUMBRIA LGPS LOCAL PENSIONS BOARD MEETING ON 
17 JULY 2018

150



3

The Committee received the Minutes of the Cumbria LGPS Local Pension Board 
meeting held on 17 July 2018 .

The Finance Manager – Pensions, Investments and Governance apprised the 
Committee of the business conducted at the meeting. It was highlighted that the 
Board’s proposed Terms of Reference would be considered by the Council’s 
Constitution Review Group and the Board would be moving to quarterly meetings.

RESOLVED that the minutes be received.

98 MINUTES OF THE BCPP JOINT COMMITTEE

The Committee received the Minutes of the BCPP Joint Committee meeting held on 
10 July 2018.

The Chairman presented the Minutes and gave a further update. There had been a 
proposal for a scheme member representative and employer representative to sit on 
the Joint Committee, however, the latter was considered unnecessary. In relation to 
scheme member representatives, a Partner Fund representative had been tasked 
with reviewing the appropriate number to sit on the Joint Committee.

The Chairman was concerned as to how the appointed scheme member 
representative would be able to report back to the whole membership. Members 
were advised that the twelve Pension Boards may be involved in the nominations 
and election of the scheme member representative. The Chairman stated that he 
would give an update at the December Cumbria Pensions Committee meeting.

Discussion took place on the merits of having a non-voting representative on the 
Committee, the status of the member representative in terms of being an observer, 
whether a Trade Union Representative should be appointed if they were not a 
member of the Scheme and which Union would they belong to. 

When advising on BCPP’s Governance Charter, the Chairman reported on the 
election after the Joint Committee meeting of two shareholder representatives to the 
BCPP Board.

RESOLVED that the minutes be received.

99 UPDATE ON DEVELOPMENTS WITH BORDER TO COAST

The Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services presented the update report 
on Developments with Border to Coast Pensions Partnership (BCPP). This updated 
members on governance matters and key developments since June 2018.

151



4

Members were advised in detail of staffing changes, that Robeco had been selected 
to perform voting and engagement services, the Conflict of Interest Policy and that 
BCPP intended to sign up to the SAB Cost Transparency Code.

The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) suggested to members that BCPP 
Directors’ conflict of interest be monitored. A member referred to the diversity of the 
BCPP Board and further information was requested on the Club Investment Group, 
in terms of who would lead it, how it would be conducted and the items of business. 
The Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services would obtain an update and 
report back to members.

RESOLVED that

1 The progress on the developments of the Border to Coast be noted
2 The Chair of the Pensions Committee be authorised to exercise the Council’s 

vote as a shareholder of Border to Coast Pension Partnership to approve the 
Conflict of Interest Policy.

3 Members be updated on the Club Investment Group.

100 DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2017-18

Members were presented with the Draft Annual Report and Accounts from the 
Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer). The Finance Manager – Pensions, 
Investments and Governance drew members’ attention to the recommendation from 
Grant Thornton, advising that this had not impacted upon the Report and Accounts. 

A member advised on a small number of typographical errors and sought 
clarification as to information presented in the Investment Policy and Performance 
part of the document relating to PIRC voting (pages 124 and 403 of the report).

Discussion took place on whether the accounting process would conflict with the 
valuation process in 2019 and if the valuation would be produced later in the year 
due to the work to be undertaken. Officers reassured members that this would not 
be the case due to having sufficient resources – with different officers working on 
these specific tasks and valuation work would start early to ensure deadlines would 
be met. 

More detail was requested on the value of claims still outstanding against HM 
Revenue and Customs and some European countries for tax withheld on foreign 
income dividends. A table showing the tax reclaims being pursued over the period 
would be provided to members at the December Committee meeting.

The Finance Team was thanked for their excellent work on the accounts.

RESOLVED that 

1 The Cumbria LGPS Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 be approved for 
publication (subject to any final presentational amendments).

152



5

2 Officers clarify the query in respect of PIRC voting, stated pages 124 and 403 
of the report.

3 A breakdown of figures be provided for members on Tax Reclaims being 
pursued over the period.

101 MONITORING REPORT FOR THE QUARTER ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 - 
PART 1

Members considered a report from the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) 
regarding the Monitoring Report for the Quarter ended 30 June 2018. The detailed 
report advised Members of any material risk, administration, investment 
performance, governance and policy issues of the Fund for the quarter ending 30th 
June 2018. The report also identified any governance issues or national regulatory 
changes and outlines the performance of the whole portfolio and movement on 
liabilities over that period.

Members were informed of the main issues; incomplete/inaccurate data (which was 
regularly monitored, with dedicated Manager oversight) and administration of the 
Fund. Detail was provided on the impact of the recent restructure of Your Pension 
Service (YPS) resulting in an increase in the risk rating from 2 to 3. Mitigating 
measures had been put in place to address the matter and no issues had 
constituted a breach to the Regulator. Reasons for the YPS restructure were 
provided and the recourse the Fund had if there was no performance improvement 
in standards was outlined by the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) and 
Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services. The Director of Finance 
(Section 151 Officer) welcomed that YPS would be in attendance at the 
Committee’s next meeting so members could obtain assurance in person from a 
senior officer that improvement was on schedule.

Members expressed their disappointment at the situation but were reassured that 
officer oversight of the matter was in place. They hoped that there would be an 
improvement by the end of September 2018. They were keen for monitoring of YPS 
to continue and were informed that it would be the end of 2018 before YPS returned 
to pre - restructure standards. It was questioned if other Funds were encountering 
the same issues. The Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services advised 
that she had been in contact with Lancashire on the matter. 

In terms of potential options from the SAB for the separation of Host Authority and 
Pension Fund, members would be able to discuss the matter in detail with officers 
present at the training session provided for members on 12 September 2018. 

Discussion took place on legal breaches recorded/reported during the quarter. 
Affected scheme members had been advised of a scheme employer being reported 
to the Pensions Regulator by the Fund although it was explicit that there was no 
impact to the individual member’s benefits resulting from the breach.

A breach of information within the Pensions Team had been reported and recorded. 
The Committee was reassured that systems had been put in place to mitigate the 
risk of a similar breach occurring.

153



6

RESOLVED that 

1 The performance and monitoring of the Fund for the period from 1 April 2018 
to 30 June 2018 be noted

2 It be noted that a senior representative from YPS has been invited to the 
meeting in December to discuss the performance issues experienced since 
the restructure and the actions being taken to resolve them.

102 REVIEW OF DISCRETIONS POLICY

A report from the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) regarding a Review of 
the Discretions Policy was considered. The report proposed amendments to the 
existing Discretions Policy to reflect various changes to the LGPS regulations and 
specifically the Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment) Regulations 
2018.

The Group Finance Manager - Pensions Investments and Insurance guided 
members through the report. It was explained that the proposal was to remove 
abatement to bring it into line with other schemes. Employers would be consulted 
once the Committee had considered whether to approve the amendments to the 
Policy.

RESOLVED that

1 The proposed amendments to the Discretions Policy, including the removal of 
pensions’ abatement for Cumbria LGPS be supported

2 Approval of the amended Discretions Policy be delegated to the Section 151 
Officer in consultation with the Chair of the Pensions Committee subject to no 
material issues arising from a consultation with employers of the Fund.

103 CUMBRIA LGPS DATA REVIEW & DATA IMPROVEMENT PLAN

A report was considered on the Cumbria LGPS Data Review and Data Improvement 
Plan, from the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer).

The Group Finance Manager - Pensions Investments and Insurance informed the 
Committee of the actions being taken to review data quality within the Fund. Whilst 
the quality of data was considered to be high, there were areas that could be 
improved and consequently a data improvement plan had been developed. 
Progress against the targets detailed within the data improvement plan would be 
reported to future Committee meetings.

The Committee was advised that General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 
training had been provided for officers. It was questioned that if there was a data 
breach, would the fine be calculated on the turnover of the County Council or the 
Fund and who would bear the cost. The Group Finance Manager - Pensions 
Investments and Insurance would take advice and inform members of the outcome.

154



7

RESOLVED that 

1 The findings of the data quality review be noted and the implementation of 
the data quality Improvement Plan be supported

2 Members be advised of the response to the question about the fine for a data 
breach

104 UPDATE ON DEVELOPMENTS WITH BORDER TO COAST - PART 2

Members considered a report on the update on developments with Border to Coast, 
this included the pace of the project and the work streams that the Partnership was 
pursuing.

Following careful consideration of the report and taking into consideration the 
information presented by officers, it was 

RESOLVED that 

1 The Committee note the report
2 The Section 151 Officer be authorised, in consultation with the Chair of the 

Pensions Committee (or in his absence the Vice Chair), to exercise the 
Council’s vote as a shareholder of Border to Coast Pension Partnership to 
approve the appointment and remuneration (including any related budgetary 
adjustments if required) of the Non-Executive Directors where the 
shareholder decision(s) cannot reasonably be deferred, until the next meeting 
of the Pensions Committee.

105 MONITORING REPORT FOR THE QUARTER ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 - 
PART 2

Members considered the monitoring report for the quarter ended 30 June 2018 from 
the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer). Members were apprised of a number 
of issues and the steps officers had taken to resolve them.

Following careful consideration of the report and taking into consideration the 
detailed information presented by officers, it was 

RESOLVED that 

1 The quarterly monitoring Part 2 items of the Fund for the period to 30 June 
2018 be received and noted

2 The approval by the Section 151 Officer of the application from Life Leisure 
Limited to join the Cumbria Fund, on the basis that a guarantee is provided 
by Barrow Borough Council be supported

106 EMERGING ISSUES

155



8

The Committee received a verbal update from the Senior Manager - Pensions and 
Financial Services on a number of emerging issues pertinent to the work of the 
Committee which included Treasury announcements and a short discussion on 
equity protection took place.

RESOLVED that the position be noted.

107 CUMBRIA LGPS INVESTMENT SUB GROUP ACTIVITY REPORT TO 
JULY 2018

Members considered a report from the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) 
regarding the Cumbria LGPS Investment Sub Group Activity Report to July 2018.

Following careful consideration of the report and taking into consideration the 
information presented by officers, it was 

RESOLVED that

1 The decision about how to invest of the overweight element of UK equities 
(approx. £50m) be delegated to the s151 Officer in consultation with the 
Chair (or in his absence the Vice Chair), and the independent advisers (with 
the likely options being either passive equity or cash).

2 The Fund’s Investment Strategy cash limit is permanently increased from 
5% to 10% 

3 The proposed work programme of the Investment Sub Group for the next 
reporting period, including completion of the interim investment strategy 
‘sense check’ and the short-listing of further investment opportunities be 
agreed

4 The progress of the Investment Sub Group from May 2018 to August 2018, 
including the decision made regarding a new investment commitment to 
Healthcare Royalty Partners Fund IV for £60m be noted.

5 The overall performance of the Fund at June 2018 and that, at a specific 
manager level, there are no matters of sufficient concern to warrant 
escalation from the individual manager performance reviews be noted

The meeting ended at 4.05 pm

156



WORKINGTON HARBOUR BOARD

Minutes of a Meeting of the Workington Harbour Board held on Wednesday, 24 
October 2018 at 10.00 am at Port of Workington

PRESENT

 

County Councillors

Mr HGG Graham
Mr JS Holliday
Mr KA Little (Vice-Chair, in the Chair)
Mr AJ Markley

Allerdale Borough Councillors

Mrs B Cannon
Mr M Heaslip

Officers in Attendance:-

Mr S Consterdine - Democratic Services Officer
Ms A Jones - Assistant Director -  Economy and Infrastructure
Mr J W Lihou - Port Manager

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

26 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Mr M Fryer and Mr JA Bowness, Mr HGG 
Graham came as his substitute.

27 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED - that the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of agenda item 7 – Port Manager’s   report on the 
grounds that it contains exempt information as defined under 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person Including the authority holding that information).

157

Agenda Item 13c



28 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest.

29 MINUTES

RESOLVED that, the minutes of the previous meeting held on 22 January 2018 be 
agreed as a true and accurate record, and signed by the Vice Chair.

30 MEMBERSHIP

The Assistant Director - Economy and Infrastructure advised the Board that the 
terms of reference for the Board were currently being reviewed and a briefing 
meeting for Board members would be scheduled to consider the new arrangements.

31 PORT OF WORKINGTON ACTION PLAN

The Port Manager introduced to the Board the Port of Workington Action plan.

The Port Manager advised that an Action plan had been established a previously 
but that this had elapsed. He felt that the re introduction of the plan would be 
beneficial for the Board going forward.

Details of actions for consideration were included in the paper.

Members asked about the contingency plan for the Duty Manager post as they were 
aware that the current post holder was due to leave the County Council in the near 
future.

The Port Manager detailed the plans and members noted that in the absence of the 
Executive Director the Duty Holder would be the Chief Executive. However, this 
would be reviewed and the Chief Executive could delegate the role to another 
Director or Assistant Director. 

A member of the Board suggestion that it would be appropriate for the Duty Holder 
and the Portfolio holder to be present at future meetings of the Board.

The Assistant Director, Economy and Infrastructure informed the Board that this 
would be a consideration during the review of the Terms of Reference of the Board.

The Board noted the Port Managers report.

158



32 ACCOUNTS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

A report by the Port Manager, presented to the Board of the latest Revenue and 
Expenditure figures for the period ending 31 March 2018 and also the period 
covering 1 April 2018 to 30 September 2018.

He reported that for the period ending 31 March 2018 there was a trading surplus 
which although not on target, was an increase from the previous year. 

The period from 1 April 2018 to 30 September 2018 showed an improvement from 
the same period last year where the trading surplus was much improved.

He advised that if performance was similar in the next 6 months a larger trading 
surplus than the previous year was predicted.

In his forecast the Port Manager had made allowance for any dredging requirements 
and also an allowance for any reduction in revenue.

Members asked about the staffing requirements, and the Port Manager informed the 
Board that staffing levels were being managed based levels of port activity, this 
means staffing can fluctuate accordingly. Current staffing levels are adequate to 
cover the needs of our customers. He also updated Members on plans to cover the 
duties of the Operations and Safety Manager who had recently moved on.

The Board AGREED that a letter of be sent to the Operations and Safety Manager 
thanking him for the work he had done over the years for the Port of Workington.

The Assistant Director, Economy and Infrastructure reassured the Board that 
adequate resources would be provided to support to the Port Authority going 
forward. In particular resources around Health & Safety

The Board thanked the Port Manager for his report.

PART 2: ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
ABSENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

33 PORT MANAGER'S REPORT

A report by the Port Manager informed the Board of the general commercial 
activities that were on going and anticipated.

Port Commercial/Business Activities

The Port Manager advised that there had been a number of enquiries and quotation 
requests from various parties. Some of these business opportunities are dependant 
upon third parties but it was hoped that new business would be obtained.

159



Some existing contracts are due to expire however the port had been successful in 
retaining valued customers. 

Port Health and Safety

The Port Manager advised that quarterly meetings of the Port Health & Safety 
Committee were held to ensure the staff and port users were given the opportunity 
to discuss matters around safety at work and understand changes in the workplace 
affecting their health, safety and welfare.

The committee was made up from several health and safety representatives elected 
by port employees; together with other representatives from port users.

The next meeting of the Port’s Health & Safety Committee was scheduled for 
December 2018.

Port Marine Safety Code (PMSC)

The Port Manager advised the Board of various activities that had taken place since 
the last meeting of the Board.

Storm Desmond Insurance Claim

The Port Manager informed the Board that further to previous updates, the Port’s 
insurers had made an offer to settle the infrastructure part of the claim following the 
Storm Desmond event in 2015.

Port of Workington Investment Programme

As reported by the Port Manager at the last meeting of the Board the Port’s capital 
investment requirements are currently being reviewed by the Council.

A verbal update was given to Board members in relation to this.

Maintenance Dredging Campaign – March 2018

The Port Manager gave details of past and current dredging campaigns within the 
Port of Workington.

EU Exit – Location Assessment Border Force

The Port Manager gave details of a Border Force visit to the Port earlier this year. 

The purpose of the visit was to talk through EU Exit matters in relation to both 
passengers and freight and to confirm their understanding of the operations at the 
Port of Workington.

The information from this visit was covered under a confidentiality agreement and 
the assessment was very top line covering a list of potential requirements, captures, 

160



checks and assumptions that could lead to changes depending on the EU Exit 
outcome.

The Board thanked the Port Manager for his report.

34 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Board was scheduled for 23 January 2019
at 10.00am at the Port of Workington.

The meeting ended at 11.25 am

161



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNTY COUNCIL 

Meeting date: 15 November 2018

From: Cabinet Member for Children’s Services

CORPORATE PARENTING REPORT

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides Council with an annual update on the work of the 
Corporate Parenting Board.

2.0 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

2.1 The Council has a statutory Corporate Parenting Role, to ensure all 
children looked after and care leavers are given the same level of 
support as a parent would give to their own child. 

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Members are recommended to note the report.

4.0 BACKGROUND

4.1 Over the past year there has been progress along a number of fronts.

 Care leavers now benefit from Council Tax relief across the whole of 
Cumbria. This is a major step forward and required co-operation 
between all six District Councils.

 Cumbria Children’s Services received a positive Ofsted report, and 
was rated Good for Leadership and Management and Adoption.

 Children looked after are continuing to do well educationally, and 
numbers progressing to university holds up well nationally compared 
to other authorities.

4.2 A major priority for the Corporate Parenting Board has been to boost foster 
caring. To this effect we have:

163

Agenda Item 14



 Increased the amount of money a foster carer receives so that foster 
caring for the Council creates better financial support for the foster 
carer.

 Launched a major media campaign to recruit more foster carers and 
attract existing foster carers in the private market to back in house.

 To have foster carer involvement in Corporate Parenting Board and to 
strengthen their voice in new plans and strategies relating to children 
looked after.

4.3 In April the Council’s duty to publish a Care Leaver Offer came into force 
and Councils will be required to publish their offers by the end of the year. 
The Council will be publishing its Care Leaver Offer in December. 

4.4 The offer is a set of information that is available to care leavers letting them 
know what support and services they are entitled to from the age of 18-25. 
The offer will cover:

 Health and wellbeing;

 Relationships;

 Education and training;

 Employment;

 Accommodation

 Participation.

4.5 The Council has been working with care leaver to get their views on what we 
should be including in the offer. Members of Corporate Parenting Board are 
in discussions with District Councils what they can do around leisure, 
housing and benefits, as well as working with the NHS around what they 
should be including in the offer.

4.6 The Council is also refreshing the Children Looked After Strategy. A lot of 
work has taken place with children looked after over the summer holidays 
around shaping the strategy. They have given it a title ‘Our Lives, Our 
Hopes, Our Future’, they have written the vision and purpose of the strategy 
and the strategy will showcase artwork, poetry and stories they have 
produced to illustrate the themes in the strategy. New areas of increased 
focus in the strategy will be on:

 Education, skills and access to work via work experience, 
traineeships and apprenticeships;

 Support for disabled children who are looked after and care leavers in 
transition to adulthood;

 Stronger engagement with foster carers and building up the numbers 
of in-house foster carers who can meet the needs of the children;

164



 Stronger focus on prevention, community and locality working and 
engaging Members in Local Committees;

 Stronger regional arrangements for adoption in line with changes in 
legislation.

4.7 At the most recent meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board there was a 
presentation on the development of a Regional Adoption Agency. At the 
meeting the Board were informed that currently there are no Members of the 
Council on the Adoption Panels that operate in the North and South of the 
county. The Board recommended this be brought to the Council’s attention. 
The Adoption Panel reviews all applications for adoption, and this is a very 
important step in Corporate Parenting and an important way in which a 
Member can make a direct contribution. 

4.8 There are vacancies for at least 2 Members currently. These are not Council 
appointments, and any Member can volunteer. Anyone who is interested can 
speak to Anne Burns, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services.

5.0 OPTIONS

5.1 Members to agree note the report.

6.0 RESOURCE AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None

7.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 This is a report for Council to note. There are no direct legal implications.

8.0 CONCLUSION

8.1 Corporate Parenting remains a vital part of the Council. Through 
improvements in the past two years we are now in a solid place to make 
longer term plans to meet the dreams and aspirations of the children and 
young people in our care.

John Macilwraith, Executive Director, People

02/11/18

Please ensure that every part of this section where there is an asterisk*  is completed in 
accordance with the instructions before sending the report to Member Services, following 
which please delete this sentence.

165



APPENDICES

No appendices.

Electoral Division(s): *
*  Please remove whichever option is not applicable

Executive Decision No*

Key Decision No*

If a Key Decision, is the proposal published in the current Forward Plan? N/A*

Is the decision exempt from call-in on grounds of urgency? No*

N/A*If exempt from call-in, has the agreement of the Chair of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee been sought or obtained?

Yes*Has this matter been considered by Overview and Scrutiny?
If so, give details below.

N/A*Has an environmental or sustainability impact assessment been 
undertaken?

N/A*Has an equality impact assessment been undertaken?

PREVIOUS RELEVANT COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
[including Local Committees]

 No previous relevant decisions.

CONSIDERATION BY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

Members of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Advisory Board 
received a Corporate Parenting and Children’s Services Improvement Update 
in February 2018. 

The Board also scrutinised progress in the development of a regional 
adoption agency at the May and September Board meetings. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

No background papers

166



RESPONSIBLE CABINET MEMBER

Anne Burns Cabinet Member Children Services

REPORT AUTHOR

Contact: Joel Rasbash joel.rasbash@cumbria.gov.uk

167

mailto:joel.rasbash@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Minutes of the Cabinet
	Cab Mins 18.10

	8 Scrutiny Management Board
	Appendix 1 council 15.11.18 SMB update report

	9 Treasury Management Half Year Strategy Review 2018/19
	10 Constitution Review Group - Update of the Constitution
	Appendix 1 Council 15.11.18 Consitution Review Group
	Appendix 2 Council 15.11.18 Consitution Review Group
	Appendix 3 Council 15.11.18 Consitution Review Group
	Appendix 4 Council 15.11.18 Consitution Review Group
	Appendix 5 Council 15.11.18 Consitution Review Group
	Appendix 6 Council 15.11.18 Consitution Review Group
	Appendix 7 Council 15.11.18 Consitution Review Group

	11 LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION
	Appendix 1 Council 15.11.18 Expression of Interest: Unitary Authority

	13a Audit and Assurance Committee
	13b Cumbria Pensions Committee
	13c Workington Harbour Board
	14 Corporate Parenting Board

